RELATIONSHIPS, STATUS, AND TRADITIONS: SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY IN A FIJIAN VILLAGE

by

Marilyn Leone Hoar

B.Ed., University of Alberta, 1978 M.Ed., University of British Columbia, 1996

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

In

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL STUDIES

We accept this thesis as conforming to the required standard

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

April, 2004

©Marilyn Leone Hoar, 2004

Abstract

This two year ethnographic study was conducted in Fiji in a traditional hierarchical community with a largely subsistence economy. I set out to study the complex relations that exist between a school and its community, and specifically to determine (a) the factors that motivate or inhibit community members in their support of the local school and (b) how the various interests of parents, educators, community members, and international agencies are communicated and negotiated. Many existing studies of the connections between schools and communities in developing countries pay too little attention to the community's interests. In this study I drew on existing theories of community participation in education to develop a broad-based, multi-faceted framework that guided data collection.

My data demonstrate that in traditional, hierarchical societies, families' decisions about supporting formal education for one individual are made within a communal framework that also values activities that strengthen relationships, enhance status, and preserve traditions. Families preferred academic education in English over vocational training because of the increased status these programs provided to the student. While there was little support for programs to maintain local culture and language, the community did not support schooling that eroded the traditions of the community. These factors help to account for the presence of both support and resistance towards programs of economic and social development.

This study found that Western models of parental participation or community involvement for the purposes of improving student achievement, increasing community funding, or enhancing the accountability of education systems do not necessarily apply to other cultures. Educators must understand the patterns of relationships, status, and traditions that exist within a community in order to successfully communicate educational goals and negotiate the interests of all groups.

Relationships, status, and traditions within which school-community relations exist in developing countries are complex, dynamic, and powerful. For educators at the local, national, and international levels to succeed, they must develop strategies for identifying, comprehending, and working within these often powerful forces.

Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iii
List of Tables	vi
Glossary of Fijian Words	vii
Acknowledgements	viii
1. INTRODUCTION	
Connections Between School and Community	3
A Broad View of Community-School Interactions	6
Overview of Research Methods - An Ethnographic Case Study	8
The Foreigner as Researcher	10
Community-School Relations in Theory	12
Overview of the Study	14
2. LITERATURE	17
Views of School and Community	18
Interests of Educators and Community Developers	
Economic Development	
Social Development	
Maintaining Language and Culture	
Changing Attitudes and Behaviours	
Effectiveness and Efficiency	
Increasing Student Achievement	
Community Contributions	
Accountability	
Factors that Motivate and Inhibit the Community	
3. THE RESEARCH METHOD	
Site Selection	
Entering the Research Site	
Data Collection	
A Framework for Community-School Relations	
Initial Interviews and Document Review	
Length of Study	
Observations	
Informal Interviews	
Formal Interviews	
Data Analysis	
Participant Feedback	
The Influence of the Coup of 2000	
Analytical Framework	
Ethical Conduct	
The Research Process	
The Research Relationship	
Gift-giving	
Postfieldwork Phase	93

Table of Contents

.

.

4. THE COUNTRY OF FIJI AND THE COMMUNITY OF TOTOKA	97
Political History	97
Economic and Social Indicators	100
Culture	102
Education	108
History	108
Organization	
School Committees	117
Financing of Education	119
Curriculum	
Teachers	
Totoka	
The Island	
A Traditional Community	130
Traditional Political Organization	
Economic Activities	
Totoka Village School	
5. EDUCATION'S ROLE IN ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	
Positive Attitudes Towards Education	
Economic Development and Education	
People's Expectations of Education	
Education for the Family Not the Individual	
Social Development and Education	
How the People of Totoka View Culture and Language	
People's Reactions to Change	
Relationships, Status, and Tradition	
Parental Involvement	
Fijian Values, Western Behaviours Reflected in the School	
Parental Involvement in Totoka	
The Status of the Teacher	
An Increased Role for Teachers	
Differentiated Roles Due to Tradition and Status	
Community Involvement	
The Rugby Tournament	
The Importance of Relationships	
Following Tradition	
Maintaining Status	
Using Relationships, Status, and Traditions	
Accountability	
Money Management	
Traditions	
Hierarchichal Status	
A Different Accountability	
Relationships, Status, and Traditions	
1 <i>i i i i i i i i i i</i>	

·· ..

7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	
The Importance of Relationships, Status, and Traditions	
The Limited Role of Education in Economic and Social D	Development222
Influences on Effectiveness and Efficiency	
Community Involvement and Effectiveness	226
Community Involvement and Efficiency	
Communicating and Negotiating Interests	230
Implications and Recommendations	233
Questions for Further Research	237
Conclusion	
Appendix I. Questions Presented at Feedback Sessions	
References	

v

List of Tables

1.	Participants in Formal Interviews7	13
2.	Progression of School Classes11	5
3.	School Committee Financial Report 200020)8

Glossary of Fijian Words¹

Bauan	the national Fijian dialect.
bure	a home, either traditional or modern construction.
kava	a Polynesian word for a social drink made by squeezing a mixture of the grated root of the pepper shrub (piper methysticum) and cold water through a cloth.
kerekere	request.
lovo	earthen oven
mataqali	patrilineal social unit made up of several extended families (<i>tokatoka</i>). It is the recognized land-owning and fishing rights group.
meke	a dance
soli	a collection of money and goods for a cause.
tabu	a prohibition
Tai	title of respect given to men and women. (Totoka dialect)
tokatoka	extended family social unit. Several tokatoka make up a mataqali.
Turaga ni Koro	literally "chief of the village," but this is a government administrative position rather than a chiefly position. In Totoka, the T <i>uraga ni Koro</i> was chosen by the male elders of the community and also had the role of the chief's spokesman.
vakatunaloa	a temporary shelter to shade a group of people from the sun.
vanua	land, people, and the custom. Also a larger social unit made up of several <i>mataqali</i> , under a chief who sits on the Great Council of Chiefs.
yagona	the Fijian word for kava.

¹ Compiled from the glossaries in Ravuvu (1988) and Nayacakalou (1978) as well as *A New Fijian Dictionary* by Capell (1991).

Acknowledgements

This research was generously funded by a Doctoral Research Award from the International Development Research Centre in Ottawa.

Thank you to all of my wonderful friends and family, near and far, who have supported me in a variety of ways. Many of you provided office space and couch space. You encouraged me by listening to my stories, reading drafts, and taking me for coffee. You never suggested that I would not finish and I am very grateful for the confidence you had in me.

Over great distances and through many years, my committee members, Allison Tom and Hans Schuetze, managed to continue to push me through the analysis and re-writes. I am indebted to their faith in my abilities and their persistence in making sure that I finished. I am especially appreciative of the support of my supervisor, Carolyn Shields, who went so far as to visit me in my research site.

This dissertation would not have happened without the kindness and hospitality of the people of Fiji, and particularly the people in the community of "Totoka." They opened their homes and their lives to me and in so doing opened my eyes to new ways of living in this world. Vinaka vaka levu.

And thanks to Gord who is always willing to go on an adventure.

1. INTRODUCTION

Journal entry, April 26, 2000, Totoka Island², Fiji

The entire island is full of activity and excitement about the rugby and netball tournaments this weekend. This will be the big fund-raiser for the school this year. Teams started coming in today from as far away as the town of Sigatoka. The chairman of the school committee is very busy getting everything organized. The boys have all gone to the school to get things ready. The girls' netball teams are busy getting their uniforms together. The rugby teams are training and practising. Late afternoon the boats came back from the city of Lautoka with supplies. We got a ride over to the school on one of the boats. There are temporary shelters up around the school compound. Big pots of rice and dahl are being cooked.

Journal entry, April 27, 2000

The day started very early as everyone went over to one of the teacher's houses to cut and butter the bread. Then we set up another tent, decorated the pavilion by the school and then teams started showing up. I felt pretty useless even though I kept asking what I could do. (Perhaps I am pretty useless in this culture.) Finally, I started doing the dishes as people finished the tea and bread for breakfast. Teams were all over, in different corners of the school compound, warming up and trying on their uniforms. The netball teams especially have been very excited about getting their uniforms together. The school generator was started early this morning so the local Y2K team could iron their logos on their shirts. It was all worth it: they won the best-dressed-team prize. There are 24 rugby teams and 11 netball teams. The games started after 9 AM - after an opening ceremony - and continued all day. Sitiveni³, a young man on the school compound, people from the tent and collected the team fees. All over the school compound, people from the island are raising money for the school by selling tea, BBQ, juice, cigarettes, and snacks.

Journal entry, April 28, 2000

Second day of the tournament. Etika and his friend are drawing up the schedule after the elimination round yesterday. Anare took time to explain it to us. He says he has organized several tournaments but has shown the boys how to do it since he is getting old. I asked how he learned. He said by playing in tournaments, but I questioned how he could learn organization on the field. He said he looked in the paper to see how the Fiji 7's are organized. Anare said that originally the elders didn't support the tournament but now they do. Some villagers weren't helping

 $^{^{2}}$ "Totoka Island" is a pseudonym used to protect the confidentiality of the people in the study.

³ All the names of the people of Totoka are pseudonyms.

but yesterday, when they saw it happening they came over. Anare would like to see the tournament expand to 30 - 48 teams. Anare kept saying how it is good for the school.

Late in the afternoon, there was great excitement as everyone ran down to the beach to greet the "special guests" who we discovered were the national recording star, Sekope and his band. After the tournament, everyone went back to the villages or relaxed under the coconut trees while the school committee set up the stage for the performance. The fenced in area was soon full of people of all ages enjoying the concert. The old women especially seemed to be enjoy it, some of them getting up on stage to dance with Sekope. The Head Teacher asked if I noticed the children. She said that this is the first concert like this that they've heard, the first opportunity to see what a musician does. Some kids aren't good at school, she said, but are good singers. I finally found a job writing receipts which led to counting and hiding the money. The concert is over now because the generator ran out of diesel, but Sekope and some local men are still singing just outside my bedroom window.

Educators might be pleased to see the community involvement in this school fundraising event. Community developers might extol the benefits of sporting events in developing community pride and educating community members in organizational skills. But how did this joint school-community event come to be? Why were the villagers willing to feed and house rugby teams for three days? Who decided how to spend the money raised?

Both the fields of education and international development recognize the importance of relations between school and community. There is very little information, however, on what these relations look like in developing countries and what factors influence them. The purpose of this research is to contribute to a more thorough understanding of the complex connections between a community and its school. This study answers the following questions:

1. What are the factors that motivate or inhibit community members in their support of the local school?

2. How are the various interests of parents, educators, community members and international agencies communicated and negotiated?

What is learned from this case study provides valuable information regarding community-school relations in other communities around the world. While each community is different, and therefore interactions between each community and school will be different, what is learned from one community can help to raise questions and lead to answers in other communities that may share similar characteristics.

Connections Between School and Community

Education is often portrayed in education and international development literature as something that is 'delivered' to the people in local communities for the economic and social development of a country; what is often not considered is how the community members themselves view education and how they relate to the school in their community. The literature tends to portray parents and community members as not having the skills, experience, or the "correct" attitudes to be involved in education. Many of the resulting programs focus on convincing parents of the importance of education and the importance of their role in their child's education. For example, as part of UNESCO's Basic Education and Literacy Support, the Community and Parent Support Program encourages teachers to hold parent meetings where teachers attempt to improve parents' attitudes towards helping their children in school activities and to teach them skills such as making books to read at home. This is a simplistic view of relations between school and community that does not recognize the complex factors that influence the educational decisions made by parents and communities.

Recently education policies adopted by developing countries and international agencies have moved from ignoring the connection between school and community to recommending community involvement as a way to solve problems in the education system (UNESCO, 1997; World Bank, 1995). In the development literature that does discuss the school-community connection, the discussion is often limited to the community's financial contribution to education. The complexity of the interactions between the school and the community is rarely considered.

Some development agencies such as the World Bank (1995) recognize the possible benefits of positive community-school connections, specifically recommending increased community participation in education. However, before community involvement can be increased, there is a need for more information about the factors that strengthen or weaken community-school relations. A greater understanding of these relations is necessary as educators, departments of education, and international organizations begin to set policies regarding community involvement in education and the school's role in community development.

It is even difficult to choose a word that signifies the complex interactions between school and community. The words "association" and "affiliation" imply a formalized connection between institutions, such as a parent-teacher association (PTA). Many words, such as "involvement" (Epstein, 1992) and "participation" (Arnstein, 1969; Shaeffer, 1994; Uemara, 1999), focus on how the community can be involved in education and participate in school activities, neglecting educators' responsibilities. "Participation" is sometimes limited to access issues, referring to enrollment and attendance of children in school (Kochhar & Gopal, 1997). Tavola (1999) uses the word

"co-operation" to refer specifically to the shared responsibilities of community and state in financing and managing schools in Fiji. Originally, I had chosen the word "relationship" to signify the reciprocal nature of the various interactions between community members and educators, but this became problematic as I learned the importance of social and economic relationships in Fijian society. To avoid confusion, I will use the words "relations" (Williams, 1997), "connections" and "interactions" to describe the links between community and educators.

My research into community-school interactions in a Fijian community contributes to filling a problematic gap in the existing literature. Case studies in the development literature provide examples of reforms attempting to provide relevant curriculum and first language instruction (see for example, Haddad & Demsky, 1994; Maheshwari, 1998). Many educational reforms in developing countries fail because they do not "meaningfully integrate community needs" (Schofield, 2003, p. 206). A discussion of the community's interests in the area of the educational reform and the community's role in the implementation of reforms is often missing in the literature describing these reforms.

It is possible that the interactions between a community and a school may not be positive, for example when the politics within the community disrupt the operation of the school. Nevertheless, every school has to relate in some way to the community from which the students come to school. It is important to understand what factors affect the interactions in order to attempt to ensure relations between the school and the community that are supportive of multiple interests.

A Broad View of Community-School Interactions

Most discussions of the role of the community in education consider only one aspect of the interactions. The focus may be on parent involvement, the inclusion of local culture in the curriculum, or the community's contribution to the financing of education. These one-dimensional views miss the complexity of community-school relations.

This study uses a comprehensive view of community-school interactions derived from Arnstein's (1969) ladder of participation of local people in development projects and Epstein's (1992) types of parent involvement in education in North America. The resulting model comprises five non-hierarchical, reciprocal categories, each important to the relations between school and community: attitude, communication, involvement, governance, and collaboration.

Below is a short description of each of these categories. A complete description of each category is discussed more thoroughly in Chapter 3 describing my research methods.

- Attitude. This refers to community members' attitudes towards school and formal learning as well as school personnel's attitude toward the community's values and traditions.
- **Communication.** Information from the school to the community of school activities, goals, and reform initiatives is considered as well as communication to the school personnel of community activities and goals.

- **Involvement.** This includes parent and community participation in school activities, including attending performances, helping in classrooms, and contributing resources, material, and labour. Also included is school involvement in community affairs including service projects, cultural events, and adult education.
- Governance. Community members' participation in educational decision-making, including financial decisions, is considered as well as school personnel's participation in decision-making regarding community activities, particularly community development.
- Collaboration. This category looks at ways that the school and the community work together on goals of community development and increased student achievement.

My definition of who is involved in these interactions is broad. While many studies look only at parent involvement in schooling, I have included other family members who may be involved in a student's life and also other community members, especially leaders, who may be influential in educational decisions in the community. On the school side of the connection are the educators, the teachers and administrators who interact directly with community members and also researchers and personnel in national ministries and international agencies who have a variety of interests in education and whose decisions affect the local interactions.

Overview of Research Methods - An Ethnographic Case Study

A two-year ethnographic case study of a Fijian community allowed for an in-depth investigation into the complex interactions between school and community. The ethnographic methods of observation and interviewing provided the opportunity to investigate the attitudes and interests of the local people as well as their interactions with the school and educators. Chapter 3 contains a full description of my research methods.

The Republic of the Fiji Islands provided a suitable context for the study as it was designated as a developing country by international organizations and therefore subject to the development theories relevant to this study. As well, Fiji's education system was largely composed of schools managed by local committees, thereby providing a context for the study that included a formalized connection between community and school. A general overview of the country with a more in-depth look at its education system is contained in Chapter 4.

With the assistance of the University of the South Pacific (USP), I met the teachers and community members on Totoka Island, an outer island with approximately 400 community members living a subsistence lifestyle. Beside one of the island's three villages, there was a primary school with four teachers, managed by a community school committee. There was also a locally owned and managed back-packers resort where a few community members had wage jobs with a regular salary. I received permission from the Head Teacher, the School Committee, and the village elders to move to Totoka and conduct my research. The community of Totoka is described in Chapter 4.

From October 1999 until May 2001, my husband and I lived with several families on the island. Initially, I collected data through observations of daily events at the school and

in the community as well as through informal interviews with teachers and community members. Formal interviews were conducted near the end of the study and, finally, preliminary findings were presented at village meetings, where community members could make comments, confirming, amending and adding to these findings.

I chose as the topic of my research, not to understand another culture, but to study where cultures meet, in community-school interaction. This is not a socio-economic study of Fijian society or even of this one community. While the economics of the community and the Fijian culture are important aspects of the context within which this study took place, the focus is on the school-community connection and therefore on education in one community in Fiji.

This study focusses on schooling as opposed to informal education such as adult education programs or the non-formal education that takes place as part of everyday life. This study is also limited to primary and secondary schooling since that is the focus of the research on community-school relations, particularly in developing countries and all that is relevant in this context. It does not examine curriculum or pedagogy, especially interactions between teachers and students within the school. Additionally, early childhood education and post-secondary education are only referred to in so far as they may be part of a person's educational life or mentioned by community members as a part of the total education system.

Because of my position as a foreigner, I chose not to include students in my interviews as the difficulties of interviewing children are increased across languages and cultures. While children continually cross the boundary between school and community,

constantly negotiating the differences, decisions about the interactions are usually made by adults and therefore adults are the focus of this study.

The Foreigner as Researcher

Because of the importance of the ethical conduct of research in a cross-cultural context, I have included here a summary of how my position as a foreigner in the community influenced the design and implementation of the study. Included in Chapter 3 is a full discussion of my position as a foreign researcher and how I chose my research methods in light of the ethics of the situation.

I was aware of the ethics of entering a research site in a developing country as a particularly privileged foreigner. Therefore, I first received the approval and support of the University of the South Pacific (USP) in Suva, Fiji as well as the Fiji Island Ministry for Education and Technology for my research. Since there are no formal guidelines for research in Fiji I relied on published research guidelines from other indigenous communities (Grenier, 1998; Mamak & McCall, 1978) and recommendations from indigenous researchers (Battiste, 1998, Smith, 1999) in more developed contexts. Influenced by recommendations for ethical research as well as ethnographic methods, I chose to live in a community for an extended period of time. This gave me the opportunity to gain a better understanding of the local context and gave the members of the community the opportunity to get to know me - a crucial aspect of relationships in a traditional community.

I entered the community as an outsider and as a learner from another culture. While living in the community for an extended period helped me understand my research topic,

there are concepts that I truly cannot understand because of my predominantly North American and caucasian worldview or ontology. Anthropological ethnography is caught in this tension between the belief in the characteristics of a universal humanity that allow individuals to experience - even be assimilated into - another culture and a belief in fundamental differences between cultures' ontologies (Bowman, 1997, p. 43).

A long-term ethnography helped with the problems of ontology, allowing me to enter into relationships with research participants and local researchers so that in many instances they were able to try to explain Fijian behaviours to me. Being in the field for two years did not let me achieve complete understanding, but helped me recognize the limits of my understanding and the limits of my study. I found myself often confused as to individuals' seemingly irrational behaviour. For example, I would often have to purchase fuel and hire a boat in order to get to the mainland for a meeting. No matter how long I planned in advance and regardless of my willingness to pay in advance, I was sometimes unable to get a ride on a boat even though there were boats available and even travelling where I needed to go. In some instances, I learned that the boat had been needed to go fishing or the fuel was already promised to a family member, but often I was confused and frustrated at not being able to ensure a boat ride. I could intellectually understand that the Fijians' actions were often influenced by the importance of relationships over money or convenience, but emotionally it was difficult to accept. A longer time in the culture gave me a better understanding of how things worked, but not a full comprehension or internalization of the processes.

Community-School Relations in Theory

My analysis of the research data revealed that current education theories regarding community-school relations do not accurately predict decisions and actions at the local level. Two theories in particular that conflicted with real life in the village were (a) education is an important part of economic and social development and (b) increased community involvement improves school effectiveness and efficiency. National ministries and international agencies use these educational theories to develop policies on educational curriculum, funding, and governance, policies that affect the interactions between the local school and the community that it serves. These theories are introduced below and are more fully explained in Chapter 2.

International development agencies, such as the World Bank and UNICEF, as well as various government ministries link education with the economic development of a community. For example, a World Bank review presents "educational reform as an important component of economic reform programs" (World Bank, 1995, p.154). These economic reforms change over time and the purpose of education is seen to change as a result. The case studies presented by Haddad and Demsky (1994) illustrate the changes over several decades as the thrust moved from providing an academic education aimed at providing a suitable labour force to a focus on vocational/agricultural education that would encourage rural populations to remain in villages.

Reformers also use education as a means for social development. Educators and community leaders, such as Thaman (1993) in Fiji and First Nations leaders in North America (Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples, 1996), often refer to the role that education can play in maintaining local culture and language. Health agencies,

environmental organizations, and human rights advocates all call on the education system to include curricula to address their particular issues and also enhance the quality of life in a community.

A second educational theory is that the involvement of the community in education can increase the effectiveness and efficiency of the education system. The effectiveness of a school is often measured by the achievement of students in the school. Educational research, particularly in multicultural education and First Nations education in North America, shows that a variety of community involvement initiatives in education can contribute to improved student academic achievement. Educators such as Epstein (1992) have found that parent involvement in school activities has a beneficial effect. First Nations leaders (Assembly of First Nations, 1988) and educators (Kirkness & Bowman, 1992) stress the importance of involving the community in governance. Of particular concern to many Canadian First Nations is local control over curriculum to reflect the local culture and language, creating a close link between the community and the school.

Development agencies, government ministries of education, and educators also look to community involvement in the school system to improve efficiency through increased support for education, including local funding, as well as improved accountability. A World Bank review, *Priorities and Strategies for Education*, states that community participation in management will increase local willingness to fund education as well as make the school system more accountable for both the spending of educational funds and providing quality education (1995, p.120).

Overview of the Study

This research studies the local level where the policies of national and international agencies encounter the interests of the local people. By studying the local situation, asking how educators and community members work together, my research examines how closely these theories do or do not correspond to the actual local interactions.

The theory that education is necessary for economic and social development is the core of education policies in developing countries. This theory is so well-established that when there are educational problems such as low enrollment or low achievement the problem is assumed to be that parents do not understand the importance of education for the economic and social development of their children, their community and their country. In Chapter 5, I argue that it is not the poor attitudes of parents towards education that causes them to allow their children to drop out of secondary school. Instead my analysis leads to an understanding of the education of the individual as only a part of the economic security of the family unit. Relationships, status, and traditions are as important to economic security as the benefits provided by education. Similarly, the social structure of the community depends on relationships, status, and traditions; therefore, education which preserves language and culture, while giving children the status gained from learning English and succeeding in Western culture, was supported. Community members do not unquestioningly accept the social development that education offers, especially those changes that threaten the structure of their society.

In Chapter 6, I argue that relationships, status, and traditions also affected the extent and manner of involvement as much as any expectation that involvement would positively affect the educational achievement of the children. Due to the hierarchical

nature of the traditional Fijian society and the importance of status, parent involvement is very different in Totoka than in Western countries. Rather than having an equal partnership between teachers and parents, teachers are given a greater role in the education of the children because of the higher status of teachers and their recognized expertise in the Western language and culture. Community members generally contributed money or labour to the school because of their relationship to the head teacher or the chair of the school committee. Large donations were given to the school in order to maintain the status of the family in the eyes of the community. Involvement often required that traditional hierarchical roles were recognized for communication and decision-making purposes.

National and international education statements (Ministry of Education, 2000; World Bank, 1995) reflect the theory that community involvement will increase the support and funding of schooling as well as the accountability for the management of these funds. In the village of Totoka, local leadership and internal politics played a greater role in school funding than individuals' involvement in the school. My analysis shows that rather than developing an increased Western sense of accountability for funds, the community sense of appropriate spending of money was based more on traditions, status, and relationships.

Members of the community in this study, while believing in the benefits of education, made educational decisions within the broader context of their lives. There were other demands on their time, attention and resources. Sometimes the local people saw the benefits of a competing demand as greater than the benefit to be accrued from education. The decisions that they made regarding the survival and prosperity of their family and community sometimes favoured education, but also took into account

economics, status, relationships, and traditions. This study found that community-school relations exist within, and cannot be separated from, a larger community dynamic and extant social and cultural traditions.

Educators would like to believe that education should always be given the highest priority. Many education theories reflect that bias. But the daily reality of peoples' lives requires that they make decisions on how they will allocate their sometimes meagre resources. Will the money go towards paying school fees or buying new tin for the roof of the house? Will they attend the school meeting or go to the Bible Study? Will they listen to the head of the family or the Head Teacher?

Educators must realize that community members make decisions while considering factors other than just educational needs and that sometimes other interests are given priority over education. While this affects community-school relations, it does not mean that the community does not support education or that the school does not play an important role in community development. In Chapter 7, I conclude by looking at the implications for educators in deciding whether they will compete for the community's resources or whether they can work with community members, recognizing that status, relationships, and traditions can, at times, be as important as education.

I turn now to examine the literature about relations between school and community in developing countries.

2. LITERATURE

A case study of educational reform in Burkina Faso (Haddad & Demsky, 1994) was instrumental in my search for understanding the interactions between the local community and educators in developing countries. In the 1960's, Burkina Faso, a largely agricultural-based African country, decided to provide an affordable, more relevant education and totally restructured its formal educational system to focus on a three-year program of courses in literacy, numeracy, and agricultural training and production. The goal was to provide an education that prepared students for the employment that was available to them in the community, thus providing for the individual as well as the total community. These reforms were influenced by international economists and educators and seemed to be a practical application of the theories from multicultural and First Nations education that urged that education be relevant to the local community. Yet, after a decade of implementing the changes, the national ministry of education in Burkina Faso evaluated the program and found that the programs were expensive, achievement levels were low, and local communities were not sending their children to the schools. They concluded that the reforms did not meet the needs of the students, their communities, or the country. However, instead of being dropped, the focus on rural education was intensified due to the priorities for funding set by the World Bank. The case study described many external influences on the education system in the community: educators, economists, and developers in national and international development agencies. But there was a glaring lack of any involvement by community members themselves in the reforms. Their dissatisfaction with the school system was in evidence only through their refusal to send their children to the school. What were the relations between the

community members and the school personnel that parents were not able to voice their concerns or were not heeded?

In this chapter, I first look at how relations between community and school are presented in the international development literature. Then I review the literature for mention of the specific interests of the educators and community developers and how those interests are communicated to community members. Finally, I look for indications in the literature of what factors affect community members' interactions with schools.

Views of School and Community

In 1995, McGinn and Borden, looking at research in developing countries, wrote that

Educators often emphasize the importance of good relationships between school and community. We found no studies on this topic other than that reported below. (74)

They went on to describe a study that interviewed principals in Sri Lanka and reported cash, labour, and material contributions from the community.

In1997, Reimers also found a lack of theory in the area of decentralization/school autonomy/community participation.

A theory explaining how decentralization of these functions would lead to improved pedagogical practice and eventually to greater learning is missing in much of the current debate on school autonomy/participation....A theory about the role of community participation in educational quality should address the factors that influence the demand and supply of education and how greater community linkages would affect these factors. (148)

Reimers goes on to propose a model of conditions facilitating educational opportunity and the role of the community in supporting them. His model uses Shaeffer's seven degrees of participation which I have also used in my model for data collection that I describe in Chapter 3.

Reimers proposes using his model as "a strategy to increase the competencies of local communities" and to look for sources of resistance to participation (1997, pp. 151-152), treating the community as a lesser partner in education. This view of the community's role in education in developing countries was common in early development literature. In their 1978 chapter on participation, Havelock and Huberman focus on collaboration between institutions, with a small section devoted to community. In their one example of good participation in a road-building project in the Philippines they declare:

We decided to match the privileges that they asked for with the corresponding responsibilities which we believed it was in their own interest to accept and do something about. (213)

Knowing what was best for the participants was common in development projects in the 1970's.

By the 1990's, participation had become a popular theme in development, often in an attempt to legitimize the tight control that an organization continues to hold over policy as well as money (Lynch, 1997, p.67). Some education projects did consider community participation as more than a convenient trend. Reporting on the failure of relevant education programs in Tanzania, LeBlanc found that projects that were too centralized often failed whereas decentralization to local communities required changes at the delivery end. Decentralization provided the advantages of opportunities for local input, increased dissemination of information, and recognition of ideological differences between clients and policy-makers (1990, p.141).

A case study in the United Republic of Cameroon uses a broad understanding, similar to mine, to describe the cooperation between a school and a community (Bude in Hawes & Stephens, 1990, pp.131-34). Bude included information on the parent-teacher association, use of community members for instruction, use of school facilities, school assistance in community projects, community participation in fund-raising, curriculum, and including local culture. Bude concludes that "community orientation of schooling is no substitute for macro-social and-economic reform" (p.133). Other than this sweeping statement, Hawes and Stephens do not report any discussion of the factors influencing the relationship. This leads to the question of what were the factors that influenced how the community and the school interacted and related to each other.

In Montero-Sieburth's (1992) article, "Models and Practice of Curriculum Change in Developing Countries," there is a focus on teacher training and practice rather than on the community, but this review of literature stresses the importance of the local context and the important role of the "active and reflective participation" of the community.

Curricular changes are unlikely to succeed unless there are social and academic activities in which parents are encouraged to participate. The development of agricultural units or the training of parents to read with their children and pay attention to their homework are examples of such activities....Such changes, however, have a reciprocal dimension. The onus for change lies not only on communities, which need to see their role in more active terms, but also on governments and local and educational authorities, who need to modify their negative images about communities. The community has to be viewed as a source for education needs to be replaced by the assumption that parents do care. More positive expectations about the role of the community, parents, teachers, and students are a critical step toward a contextual conception of curricular change and reform. (p.180)

As Montero-Sieburth states, there is a reciprocal dimension that requires educators and developers to enter into a relationship with the community rather than authoritatively defining the community role.

Nielsen and Cummings (1997) promote what they call a community-oriented approach. By the 1990's, they are able to describe many innovative projects where communities are directly involved in some aspect of their children's education. Community members are presented as capable partners in education and it is suggested that educators work with the community, adapting to local values and needs. There is little discussion, however, about educators and community members negotiating sometimes divergent goals for the education system and what facilitates or constrains this negotiation. In his chapter in the Nielsen and Cummings book, Williams lists lessons for improved school-community relations (1997, pp. 68-71), but the focus is on educators and provides little information on what factors encourage or hinder community participation in this joint venture.

Interests of Educators and Community Developers

There are two themes in the international development literature regarding the goals of strengthening links between community and education that are most relevant to this study. First is the importance of education for economic and social development. How educators and community developers perceive the connections between education and the economic and social development of the community is important to how they perceive the connections between the school and the community. It is in this area that the community is most often considered a passive receptor of education.

Second is the increased effectiveness and efficiency to be achieved through parent and community involvement. Parents and community members are more likely to be seen as active partners in educational activities as they are encouraged to become involved in school activities, governance, and financing.

Economic Development

An understanding of the importance of a well-educated workforce for economic development, human capital theory, became well established after World War II (Schultz, 1971). By the 1970's, educational researchers called for North American educational policy support of the "assumption that developing better human resources for economic development ought to be the primary criterion by which educational excellence is defined" (De Young, 1989, p.106).

In a more recent review of educational priorities, the World Bank recommends "educational reform as an important component of economic reform programs" (1995, p.154). The World Declaration on Education for All states that an educated populace allows a society to address problems such as "mounting debt burdens (and) the threat of economic stagnation and decline" (Little, Hoppers, & Gardner, 1994, p.230). Tilak even recommends that education be given a higher priority in national economic development planning (1994, p.181). Economic reforms aimed at providing sustainable employment often drive education reforms, stressing the need for coursework that is more relevant to work, thus preparing students for employment (Haddad & Demsky, 1994).

A discussion of vocational education trends is an important part of the discussion of how educators and developers see the links between education and economic

development. The case study of educational reform in Burkina Faso described the pendulum swing from academic to vocational education. The trend moved from academic programs set up by colonial powers through the green revolution's focus on agriculture in the 1960's and 1970's. The World Bank followed these trends between 1963 and 1982, funding 117 educational projects that included a vocational component. These projects constituted 20% of all World Bank educational lending (Psacharopoulos & Woodhall, cited in Gannicott, 1990, p.xv).

While agricultural and other vocational training can be accomplished through both nonformal education and continuing education programs and provided by post-secondary institutions, this discussion focusses on the curriculum offered through the elementary and secondary school programs. Vocational programs cover a variety of skills, but in general, directly train a student for a particular trade upon leaving school. One vocational stream, agricultural training, is prevalent in rural areas such as the group of Fijian islands in which Totoka is situated.

While the link between education and development appears to be strong, a country with a comprehensive education program and a highly educated population may continue to have social and economic difficulties (For example, the case of Sri Lanka, Colclough, 1993). As LeBlanc concludes in his paper on implementing 'relevance education', "educational reform cannot be isolated from the macro socio-political context in which it is embedded" (1990, p.145). Educational reforms cannot be isolated from the community that is receiving the education.

The 'vocational school fallacy' formulated by Foster in 1966 described how attempts to ruralize the curriculum by providing agricultural courses failed in Africa and Asia

· 23

because local populations were not only looking for higher paying white collar jobs but were also affected by the "broader structures of prestige and reward in society" (Gould, 1993, p.117). Academic programs in developing countries historically offered the status of the colonizing power along with the colonial language and culture. Over the years, with the decline in the colonial power, an academic education still maintained the ability to bestow status, now held by the country's own upper class. Academic programs have been criticized for not providing a relevant education for the majority of the population, in essence operating as a selection process offering only a few people the opportunity of reaching the top (Gould, 1993).

At the same time, education systems in developing countries were criticized for spending a large portion of their education budgets on university education, graduating too many people with irrelevant academic degrees. The priority became to educate people for the work that was assumed would be available to them. In agriculture-based economies, this led to agricultural education programs, under the assumption that agricultural education would be most 'relevant' to people living in agricultural areas. A side benefit would be to stem the flow of people from rural to urban areas, as they either recognized the economic potential of their rural areas or recognized that they did not have the skills to succeed in the city.

The case study of Burkina Faso presented above gives an indication that the economic development, and therefore the education, envisioned by the planners was not the same as that hoped for by the community. In a case study of a community in Papua New Guinea, Demerath concludes that economic perspectives on education may not take into consideration

how local people's assessment of the utility of education involve their perceptions of structural conditions and their own culturally mediated attempts to maintain worth.... [L]ocal assessments of the value of educational investment involve issues of resource availability, knowledge, identity, and power. (1999, p.191)

National planners and educators may only be taking into consideration employment opportunities in planning vocational education programs, but individuals may be processing a wide range of factors in making decisions regarding education and their family's situation (Long, 2001, p.224). Demerath suggests some of these factors: resource availability, knowledge, identity, and power.

Some writers recognize the importance of including the community in educational planning. Gould concludes that the school could be an "active force for local economic and social development" under certain conditions:

Where there is some element of decentralization with some local inputs into education decision making, then people in these communities - parents, children and even those with no direct link with the school - will be more likely to be involved in defining and implementing local needs, and to see the school as contributing to achieving them. (1993, p.122)

Gould recommends a new model of education that would be "more related to local cultural realities and aspirations" (p. 210). Unfortunately, he does not expand on how to involve community members in this decision-making.

After two decades of attempts to diversify secondary curriculum to include a larger number of vocational and agricultural programs in developing countries, educational funding agencies recognized the limits of these reforms. A World Bank Report in 1988 concluded, in what Gannicott calls "a remarkable piece of honesty" (1990, p.xv), that the reforms in Africa were "...not worth their higher costs" (in Gannicott, 1990, p.xv).

Nevertheless, reforms aimed at increasing vocational and agricultural programs are still common in many developing countries and Fiji is one of them.

Because of this strong belief that education is directly linked to economic development, when parents do not respond to educational programs by sending their children to school, educators and developers assume that parents do not correctly understand the benefits of education. A home environment that is supportive of learning (Epstein, 1992; Montero-Sieburth, 1992) as well as positive attitudes towards education by other community members (Ogbu, 1992) are important for school success by students. However, too often poor parental attitudes towards education are assumed to be the cause of problems such as poor attendance and low achievement.

In North America, the "deficit-difference paradigm" attempts to explain why minority children fail at school by looking at how their home environment differs from and is deficient compared to a middle-class white home (Valdes, 1996, p.36). As a result of this theory, programs are developed to fix the home environment and one component of most parent involvement programs in schools focuses on improving the attitude of parents towards school (p. 38).

This theory is also prevalent in discussions of education in developing countries. Uemara's review of the importance of community participation in education finds that one of the rationales for participation is that it can improve the home environment "by encouraging parents to understand about the benefits of their children's schooling" (1999, p.9). The World Bank review of the Primary School Development Project in Ghana recommended a two-prong approach, the first of which was to "raise awareness of the value of education" (Condy, 1998, p.6). A survey of Head Teachers in Fiji showed that

33% thought that children did not attend school because of "Parent's lack of concern about education" (Save the Children Fund, 1998, p.20). While the lack of concern may be because of larger concerns about other family issues, focus groups of community leaders agreed that a major reason for children dropping out of school was "lack of parental commitment to a child's education" because they "do not value education" (p.20).

There may be limits to the validity of this view of parental attitudes. The successful Bangladesh Rural Advancement Committee (BRAC) primary education initiative "questioned the accepted 'wisdom' that illiterate parents do not value education, and their experiment proved that this is not true" (Anderson, 1992, p.58). The Fijian Save the Children Fund survey of parents found that even those "whose children had left school expressed a high value for education" (1998, p.25).

Nevertheless, as a result of this theory of parental attitudes, many programs in developing countries where school attendance and achievement are low include a component to counteract a perceived poor attitude towards education. The Basic Education and Life Skills programme (BELS) throughout the South Pacific has Community and Parental Support (CAPS) as one of its key modules. The CAPS manual states that "In a rapidly changing world like this, it is very important that Pacific Island communities should be helped to change their attitude towards education and employment in order to prepare their children better for the future" (Townsend & Elder, 1998, p.13).

Post-colonial Fiji has experienced constant pressure to move away from an academic curriculum to more vocational education, particularly agricultural education in rural areas. For decades, parents have resisted this reform, continuing to prefer to register their

children in academic programs. Poor parental attitudes and misunderstandings of the value of vocational education are often blamed.

In Fiji, the move away from the British colonial academic education model began when the Education Commission in 1969 found that the curriculum lacked "relevance in many of its subject areas to the local environment and to local needs" (in Sharma, 2000, pp.134-35). As a result, vocational studies, which often included agricultural components, were introduced at the secondary school level.

Fiji followed the international trends of educational reform based on increasing vocational programs from 1975 - 1985, as indicated by Development Plans VII, VIII, and IX issued by the Government of Fiji. The reasons for this reform varied. While the development plans tried to deal with the large numbers of unemployed graduates (Tavola, 1991, p.40), they also attempted to increase the numbers of graduates, particularly ethnic Fijians, by emphasizing a vocational curriculum (Gannicott, 1990, p.13). These two goals are not actually as contradictory as they appear; agro-technical courses were expected to increase the number of graduates while also increasing their employability.

The Pacific Human Development Report published by the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) in 1999 states:

There is a clear need to make education programmes more relevant both to national priorities and to people's needs for knowledge, skills and livelihoods. (p.46)

This need is based on high unemployment of "graduates with few useful skills" (p.46), a shortage of technical graduates and a situation where many primary school graduates in the South Pacific remain in rural areas. The report comments that "insufficient resources

are given to vocational education, despite its obvious relevance for both men and women" (p.46). The report does not include recommendations but it is clearly advocating vocational education as being more relevant, especially for rural populations.

In recommending reform from an academic curriculum to a technical/vocational program, Development Plan VII (1976-1980) expected more than increased graduation and employment. The changes in the education system were expected to make positive changes in "rural development, distribution of income, [and] slowing the migration to urban areas" (in Gannicott, 1990, p.15). A great deal was expected of a non-academic curriculum.

Regardless of these grand expectations, the plans of the educators were thwarted by demands from parents for an academic curriculum. Because of the strength of local school committees in the Fijian education system, the government's control of curriculum was limited. Despite government initiatives, schools responded to parent pressure by adding academic programs (Tavola, 1991). By Development Plan IX, 1986 - 1990 a further initiative was added: to change the attitudes of parents towards vocational training (Tavola, 1991, p.41). Despite efforts to change attitudes, schools in Fiji continued to offer and even expand their academic programs, while vocational programs were often neglected.

In a more recent study, the Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel Report in 2000, Sharma discusses the continuing public attitude in Fiji that technical and vocational programs were second-rate and gives several reasons for this perception (pp.132-148). First, the salaries of white-collar jobs that required an academic education were considerably higher than for tradespeople graduating from a vocational education

program. The starting annual salary for a teacher with a two-year teaching certificate was \$10,436⁴ compared to \$4,347 for a Class 1 Tradesman. Secondly, vocational programs were rarely able to predict labour requirements for a particular region and graduates were often disappointed in actual job opportunities available to them. Finally, the second-rate view perpetuated itself as fewer resources and poorly trained teachers were provided to these programs, because they were not seen as an educational priority.

Despite parental preference for academic programs, vocational programs were still offered at the secondary level in Fiji in 2000. These programs focussed on those skills that were relevant to finding wage employment⁵. Common areas of study offered at the secondary school level were tailoring, food and catering, carpentry and joinery, automotive engineering, and secretarial studies. These provided training for jobs in the garment industry, tourism, construction, mechanics, and offices. Sharma also mentions that agricultural science was being offered at some schools (2000, p.138).

The Blueprint for Affirmative Action on Fijian Education specifically mentions agriculture studies as one of its strategies aimed at Objective 7: Meeting the needs of Fijian school leavers⁶. It recommends "relevant" curricula in secondary schools "that is appropriate to the economic activities and the resources of their districts" (Ministry of Education, 2000, p.10). The achievement of this objective will be indicated partially by

⁴ All monies are given in Fijian dollars. In June 2000, 1 Fijian dollar was equal to \$0.80 Canadian.

⁵ There was a lot of work in a subsistence economy - but not paid work. Wage employment refers to work that provides a cash income.

⁶ School leavers in Fiji are those that receive the "School Leaving Certificate" after Form Six.

"programmes in schools [that] reflect the needs of the rural communities" (2000, p.27). The implication is that relevant curricula for rural areas have an agricultural focus.

Sharma does not comment specifically on agricultural education, but in discussing vocational education in general, he mentions that vocational programs are imposed by decision-makers outside of the communities. As a result, community members do not understand vocational programs and therefore do not support them. He recommends more community participation in the decisions regarding vocational education programs (p.139). Once again, parents are accused of not having the correct attitude towards education, this time towards a particular program. And again, the assumption is made that if the parents' attitude could be changed, in this case by being involved in the decision-making, then they would support the school system as it is provided to them.

Gannicott does not agree that attitudes need to be changed. He found that the situation in Fiji was consistent with other countries that attempted to stress occupational training within the formal school system. He concluded that

Parents and their children accurately perceive that the best chance of getting the best jobs is to get as much education as possible, and no amount of vocational education in the schools will change this. (1990, p.15)

Gannicott appreciates that parents' educational decisions were not misguided owing to poor attitudes and lack of information, but were the best decisions based on their situation. Gannicott believes that parents make these decisions based on what is needed to get a job.

This review shows the changes in theories regarding how education is linked to economic development. Educational programs have changed as a result, with Fiji following these trends, particularly in the areas of agricultural and vocational programs.

Social Development

Social development is also seen by educators and community developers to be connected to education. The use of education in social development has two divergent objectives; one is to maintain culture and language and the other is to change attitudes and behaviours.

Maintaining Language and Culture

Formal education is often charged with being a major reason for past loss of culture and language, particularly in colonized countries where the curriculum consisted primarily of the colonizer's language, history, and culture. Especially in communities where children were taken away to boarding schools and punished for speaking their language or observing cultural traditions, the school system has been held responsible for the loss of traditional language and culture.

As a result of this history many communities and educators now look to the school system to counteract this loss (Assembly of First Nations, 1988; Native Indian Brotherhood, 1972; The Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples, 1996). In the South Pacific, Thaman calls for more cultural inclusion in Fijian education as a means for maintaining the culture (1993). In Canada, a group of Spahomin First Nation members, gathered to draft educational goals for their school, stressed the importance of education for the health of the entire community:

We the Spahomin First Nation are committed through education to maintain and enhance our cultural and traditional values, specifically, the family, [their local language], spirituality and our natural resources. At the same time we recognize the importance in excelling in academic and technical areas. We seek to attain a balance in the intellectual, physical, emotional, and spiritual well being of each individual [member]. We are bound together in a common goal to achieve selfesteem for each individual and self-determination for the community. (community members in Charters-Voght, 1991, p.63)

Not all attempts at using native language for instruction are as successful. While doing a study for the National Council of Educational Research and Training in India, Maheshwari describes visiting a well-equipped government school in a village. A teacher reported that many villagers preferred to send their children to an expensive private school, some distance from the village, where instruction was in English, a language that was not spoken at home. While educators promoted instruction in the students' first language and developers promoted relevant curriculum focussing on life skills, the parents in this village seemed to value a different kind of education for their children, an education offered through a colonial education system. Parents' views of education were being affected by a history of colonialism and current pressures of globalization; however, the school system did not seem to be paying any attention to this community's educational goals or attempting to enter into a dialogue with community members regarding the goals of the educational system. Maheshwari concludes that students were handicapped by poor support by illiterate family members, that "learning should be related to life skills," and that it would be "necessary to involve the community for ensuring that school functions for the full working time and all the teachers are present in the school" (1997). While surprise is expressed that "illiterate farmers and workers prefer English medium education for their children," Maheshwari does not provide any information about the factors affecting the community's attitude towards the local school

and how the relationship could be improved so as to increase community involvement, as he recommends.

Beykont relates a similar instance of resistance to native language instruction in Peru. In this case the community was not involved in planning or implementing the new language policy. The results of an ethnographic study by Hornberger (cited in Beykont, 1997, p.105) revealed that the community members believed in the importance of learning Spanish for economic reasons but wanted to maintain a separation between home and school. Beykont's review of a number of case studies finds that "the success or failure of a bilingual policy is a function of parental support and parental involvement" (p. 105). However, one of his conclusions at the end of the chapter is that "political and economic motivation seem to override pedagogical and linguistic considerations in the choice of school-language policies for nondominant language groups" (p. 109). I would suggest that political and economic considerations may be a more important factor, determining whether or not parents give their support and get involved in the language program.

A belief in the ability of the school system to maintain culture and language was evident in Fiji in 2001. Hundreds of individuals and organizations, as well as many academics made submissions to the Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel. Sadler wrote in the chapter on the National Curriculum:

The third prominent theme in submissions to the Commission was that schools should play a major role in promoting and reinforcing the distinctive cultures of different groups. Many deplored the loss of skill and interest in ancient traditions and activities. Some went so far as to argue that, because of a substantial decline in traditional cultural skills, values and customs, the schools should take on responsibility for strengthening the respective cultural traditions of the different populations that make up Fiji. (2000, p.272)

In response to these numerous submissions that requested more involvement by the schools in maintaining culture, Sadler cautions that "It is probably unwise and unworkable to transfer the primary responsibility for transmission and renewal of local values and culture from the community to the school" (p.273). He recommends that culture must be valued and included in the curriculum (p.287) but stresses that it is the family's and community's obligation to value, practice and impart culture.

Sadler is referring specifically to culture; however, in the next chapter of the report, Subramani goes on to recommend the school's involvement in maintaining language:

First of all, Fijians themselves must reclaim and own the language.... [T]eaching and learning should continue vigorously in the mother tongue, that is, in the dialect of the particular locality. (2000a, p. 293)

Similarly, the Blueprint for Affirmative Action on Fijian Education⁷ recommended a Fijian Studies program, including language and culture that would be "designed and implemented to promote its unique identity and to ensure its survival in a rapidly changing world" (Ministry of Education, 2000, p.10). Subramani, the many people who made submissions to the Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, as well as the Minister of Education, believed that schools should be teaching language and culture in order to strengthen and maintain them.

Fijian policy was that students be taught in their mother tongue, assumed to be Hindi or *Bauan*, the national Fijian dialect, and then study English as a subject until Class 4. Instruction for all subjects was then to switch to English, with the other language being

⁷ This blueprint was published in December, 2000 under the Minister of Education who had been appointed by the Military Government that took over control of Fiji after the attempted coup in May 2000. Fijian Education in this document refers specifically to education for Indigenous Fijians.

taught as a subject that was on the national exams. Practice, however, depended on the school's location and community, rather than policy. Schools serving a multicultural community, especially in urban areas where the student population had a number of mother tongues, relied on teaching all students in English from Class 1. The teachers at Totoka School, Classes 1 to 8, relied on teaching in Fijian, sometimes the national dialect, *Bauan*, but often in the local dialect, which is what all of the students spoke in their homes.

Changing Attitudes and Behaviours

International organizations with many varying goals see education of children as a way of improving a community and a country. The World Bank, while usually focussing on the economic benefits, also credits education with the ability to improve the health of the population and allow people to participate fully in society (World Bank, 1995, p.1). The World Health Organization's program *Helping Schools to Become Health Promoting Schools* is based on research "...that school health programmes can simultaneously reduce common health problems, increase the efficiency of the education system and advance public health, education and social and economic development in each nation" (1998). The program includes many opportunities for the schools to promote health in the community. Egypt's successful community schools initiative grew out of UNICEF's community health education program. The community agrees to provide classroom space or donate land and build a new school. The schools provide a basic education, but there is an emphasis on health education in the curriculum (Cummings, 1997, p.233).

Schofield's review of school-community development projects in South Africa looks at how school reform can be linked to community development. While most of the

reforms included small-scale economic initiatives such as a vegetable garden co-op, he found that programs focussed on community development needs also contributed to community social and cultural development (2003).

Sometimes education is seen as a means for teaching third world communities values that are important in Western societies. Kochhar and Gopal found that

Educators...are beginning to recognize the relationship between (a) individual economic self-sufficiency and ability to participate in the work of a community, and (b) the role of children, youth and adults in personal decision-making and self-determination. In many countries, such as South Africa, India and the new Baltic states, concepts of liberty, democracy and individual rights are being integrated into educational planning at local levels. (1997, pp.115-116)

Kochhar and Gopal mistakenly equate providing educational opportunities for all children, including those with disabilities who are often excluded, with Western ideals of individual rights. What is missing from Kochhar and Gopal's advocacy of tying educational aid to full participation is a recognition of the needs and desires of the local community, the local patterns of rights and responsibilities often based on the community rather than the individual. Hawes and Stephens caution that in regards to educational decision-making "much will depend upon traditional political hierarchies and accepted social practices" (1990, p.27).

The success of educational reforms, especially those regarding the education of vulnerable members of the community, often depends on community support, especially the support of the decision-makers in the community. For example, the education of girls, in some places, is not limited by access as much as by social factors such as parental attitudes, gender specific roles and expectations, household responsibilities, and religious codes (UNESCO, 1997). As a result, programs aimed at increasing female participation

and reducing their attrition in schooling have to take into account local contexts.

A successful program in India held girls' classes in the evening to accommodate their family duties, but their real success was in convincing parents that schooling improved the girls' marriage prospects (Hallak, 1990, p.246). This success was due to a relationship between the school and the community whereby the educators understood the local context and were able to communicate their educational goal in a meaningful way to the parents. Instead of attempting to change parents' perceived attitudes towards education, the program dealt with actual attitudes and concerns.

The World Wildlife Fund in the United Kingdom has a separate website for their education program that "recognises the growing international importance of education for sustainable development" (wwflearning.co.uk.). The goals are to "enable [young people] to make informed decisions and take informed actions - as consumers, as employees and employers, in the democratic process, in their communities and homes." While this education may be for the future when those children become adults making decisions for their families and communities, there is also an expectation that the education of children will make a difference in the community in a more immediate sense. A school also provides a place in a community where information can be disseminated. Pamphlets and stickers are designed to be taken home, to be shared with parents. Because schools are short of books, organizations take the opportunity to develop reading materials around their theme and donate the books to schools.

Working with a nation's ministry of education can ensure that the goals of an organization are inserted into the curriculum for the entire country. The understanding is that through education the attitudes and practices of the future generation will be changed

to support those goals. The hope is that this education will also have an indirect effect on the attitudes and practices of the current generation of decision-makers, as children take the information into their community.

The people of Fiji seem to have accepted the role that schools play in socialization and many looked to the school system to take a part in creating a better country. In his opening chapter to the Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel Report, Re-inscribing Vision, Subramani spends less time discussing the economic role of education than on its role "as a major agency of social change" (2000b, p.2). Many of the goals are long-term regarding social cohesion and social justice, but he concludes by saying that while the students will benefit from this curriculum "students and teachers will contribute to building better communities" (p. 16), implying that the social change will be more immediate.

Fiji's education system has many organizations hoping to effect social change through the schools. Many international organizations have their head offices in Fiji, which has become the administrative centre of the South Pacific, The country also has many national organizations devoted to the social development of the nation's citizens and communities. The list of groups and organizations that presented submissions to the Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel indicates the various areas where education is seen as being an important avenue for change. A selection includes Bayly Welfare Clinic, Citizens Constitutional Forum, Conservation Agencies Network Group, Department of Environment, Fiji Council of Social Services, Fiji Human Rights Commission, Fiji Women's Crisis Centre, People for Intercultural Awareness, and the World Health Organization (2000, pp.480-485). These groups represent the belief that education can

change attitudes and practices in regards to the environment, social welfare, human rights, health, and democracy.

Effectiveness and Efficiency

Parent and community involvement in education is seen as a means to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of education. A World Bank Review of priorities in educational reform lists household involvement as one of six key reforms that focus on improving mainstream formal education and overcoming illiteracy in poorer countries.

Educational institutions may be more accountable for their performance when households are more closely involved in the institutions that family members attend. Parents involved with a school are more likely to be satisfied and, even more important, to help make it more effective. Most households already contribute, directly or indirectly, to the costs of education, but they could participate in school management and oversight, along with their wider communities, and they could be given the possibility of choosing among schools. (1995, p.120)

A meeting of representatives from ministries of education of Asia-Pacific countries included "community participation and ownership" as one of their three areas of focus (UNESCO, 1997, p.5). The meeting participants called for closer partnerships in education in order to "help ensure the relevance and effectiveness of education" (1997, p.9).

In most literature, effectiveness refers to student achievement in the school system. Parent involvement in particular can have a positive influence on student achievement, although the literature shows that involvement of other community members can also be beneficial. As third world countries struggle to meet the costs of providing education, the involvement of local communities is used as a means to ensure the efficient use of educational funds. Community members are asked to contribute more to the financing of education, but policy makers hope that community involvement will also increase accountability for government funds.

Increasing Student Achievement

Research in North America shows that a partnership between schools and their local communities can improve students' experiences and achievement in schools. Epstein's review of research on family involvement in school activities found that families are important for children's learning, development, and school success. "The research suggests that students at all grade levels do better academic work and have more positive school attitudes, higher aspirations, and positive behaviors if they have parents who are aware, knowledgeable, encouraging, and involved" (1992, p.1141). Cummins (1989, p. 62) posits that, through collaboration, parents gain a sense of efficacy which is communicated to their children, with positive academic results.

Some First Nations communities that have instituted local involvement in their education systems have experienced considerable improvement in student achievement. In 1975, Nisga'a students in grades 7 - 12 were three to four years behind BC averages and 90 % of them were dropping out of school. The Nisga'a School Board determined that the main causes of failure were a distant administration and lack of input from parents and students. After four years of changes that encouraged community involvement and recognized the students' culture and language in the curriculum, the drop-out rate had fallen to 20% and students were only one year behind the provincial averages on standardized test scores (McKay & McKay, 1987, pp.64-85).

In a study of parental availability and academic achievement in Swaziland, Zoller Booth listed 25 possible indicators of poor achievement, eleven of which referred to parental involvement such as "encouragement to succeed in school," "frequency of child being read to," and "amount of time at home to do schoolwork" (1996, pp. 262-63); all similar indicators to studies in North America.

Community involvement can be just as beneficial to student outcomes. Ogbu suggests that not only can the community support and encourage parents' involvement, but that the students' community can influence "students' educational orientations and behaviours" (1992, p.12). It is also important to recognize that, in some cultures, family and community members other than parents share responsibility for educating the youth of the community (Hidalgo, Siu, Bright, Swap, & Epstein, 1995). Presented with numerous reports of how the school system has failed First Nations students in Canada, The Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples recommended that

All schools serving Aboriginal children adopt policies that welcome the involvement of Aboriginal parents, elders and families in the life of the school, for example, by establishing advisory or parents committees, introducing teaching by elders in the classroom, and involving parents in school activities. (1996, Recommendation 3.5.8)

This recommendation gives several alternative strategies to increase parent involvement in education and also highlights the importance of recognizing that other community members, such as elders, have a role. In this study, I have chosen to adopt this broader focus on community involvement rather than only parental involvement in schooling.

Most literature considering community involvement in education in developing countries concentrates on the question of financial efficiency, which will be covered in the next section. Literature on increasing student achievement and therefore the

effectiveness of the education system in developing countries often stresses the importance of teachers and curriculum. The very successful *Escuela Nueva* programme in Columbia gave teachers more control over curriculum, encouraged teachers to be involved in the community, accommodated individual student needs, and provided student self-directed study. Results were generally positive, showing students scoring high in academic achievement tests (Anderson, 1992, pp.67-78; Colclough, 1993, pp.135-138, Rowley & Nielsen, 1997, pp.55,198). Rowley and Nielsen give a few examples of the community's involvement that appear to be classroom activities where the students use the community as a resource. But the community seemed to be a passive recipient to this initiative in decentralization. Anderson's comment that "As [the community] saw each stage evolve - and work - they welcomed rather than resisted the next steps" (p. 76) gives an indication of the passive role that the community had in the programme.

Another, less-researched, program provides an example of more extensive community involvement in classroom activities which provided positive results. The difficulties in providing instruction in students' native language in Papua New Guinea, where there are over eight hundred language groups, seem insurmountable. But working with community members to plan and implement native language instruction proved very successful. Compared to students who were taught in the official language, students taught in their native language were found to be less likely to drop out of school (Beykont, 1997, p.84).

Community Contributions

When community involvement is considered with regard to education in developing countries, the discussion does not reflect the broad spectrum of the community-school

relationship that I believe is important to consider. Instead there is a focus on community participation in governance or financing. For example, Shaeffer supports local school management as the key to successful educational reform in South Africa and describes various degrees of participation by the community from "simplest" to the highest: "actual community control of the school: participation in decision-making at every stage, from needs assessment to target-setting, programme implementation, budget allocations, and evaluation" (1997, Section 3.0). Lynch has a similar hierarchical typology of beneficial participation: provision of information, exchange of information, participatory consultation, rightful consultation, meaningful discourse (1997, pp.68-71). Again, the emphasis is on attaining full participation, which in his typology, refers to governance:

Full participation is critical in promoting economic, social, educational, and environmental development which is sustainable. (Lynch, 1997, p.61)

Parental attitudes towards education, attendance at school events, and communications with teachers are relegated to a lower level of participation.

Community contributions to the financing of education is a common theme in development literature regarding relations between school and community. Although citing the benefits of increased flexibility and improved instructional quality (World Bank, 1995, p.14), a major factor for the World Bank is that "communities which participate in school management are more willing to assist in the financing of schooling" (p.120). A review of externally funded educational studies in Africa found a great deal of similarity in the recommendations for decentralized responsibilities, stressing more local funding, increased student fees, and increased parent responsibilities for student boarding and transport (UNESCO, 1997, section 3.1). In his book, *Educating All the Children:*

Strategies for Primary Schooling in the South, Colclough's few references to community participation deal primarily with financing educational costs. He does acknowledge that reforms involving community members may provide benefits such as work-experience opportunities and adult education, but that their strength lies in cost-saving possibilities (1993, p.185). The Harambee schools in Kenya are often cited as an example of community involvement; however, the involvement is mainly community responsibility for providing the materials and labour to build the school facilities (Mwiria, 1991).

While Uemara's review of community participation in World Bank education projects recognizes a wide range of benefits including developing curriculum materials, identifying problems, and realizing democracy, many of the projects focussed on maximizing resources, through community contributions of money, labour and materials. Of the eight projects described in some detail, three highlighted community participation in constructing schools, three on increased parental financing and/or maintenance of the school (1999).

Many recommendations calling for greater community involvement have as their goal the reduction of educational costs for national governments and aid agencies. Lynch writes that recommendations for community participation are made "in the hope that this will improve the cost-effectiveness, efficiency of implementation, and sustainability of projects" (1997, p.67). He goes on to comment that "moves towards greater involvement of local communities in the provision of primary education have often been little more than a cynical and thinly disguised means to move the burden of financing onto the backs of the poor" (p.78).

Accountability

Accountability refers both to expectations of behaviour regarding management of school funds as well as expectations of teachers' attendance and delivery of quality education. Funding agencies are beginning to call for more accountability on the part of teachers and management committees. Oxfam's education report finds that "Decentralisation of education has the potential to generate benefits in terms of accountability and service provision, but it also been associated with widening inequalities based on wealth" (2000). The World Bank also looks at accountability and found that school choice is often an incentive for cost-effectiveness and accountability; however, this is dependent on some availability of choice as well as the variety of choice (World Bank, 1995).

In describing a Community Support Program in Pakistan, Uemera gives an indication of how accountability could work.

The greater the participation of the community, both financially and in-kind, means they are more likely to demand accountability from staff. Parents are also more involved in the day-to-day management of the school where they see what is happening and what needs to be corrected.... [M]embers are empowered to report teacher attendance or behavior problems to the government and to recommend teachers for training. (1999, p.9)

Uemera finds that teachers and other school staff only felt accountable to the community when the community held some power over them. Governance, then, is closely linked with accountability.

There are various factors that have been identified as inhibiting full participation in governance: unclear roles, community members' self-interest, lack of resources, lack of skills, organizational and administrative barriers, conflict with traditional norms

(Shaeffer, 1997, Section 3.0), corrupt or inefficient government, and prohibitive or restrictive organizational cultures in the government or development agency (Lynch, 1997, p.64). As well there may be adverse affects resulting from community control: take-over by powerful or articulate community members, disillusionment due to failure of changes, and increased costs (Lynch, 1997, p.71). These will all affect the ability of the community to ensure accountability.

Suzuki (2000) identified three factors affecting accountability: lack of transparency in school finance, power imbalances between parents and teachers (including the headteacher), and distance between ordinary parents and school leaders. Transparency requires information being disseminated to those people such as community leaders or management committee who could then require accountability of those in control of the finances. The power imbalance and distance between parents and teachers could partially be rectified by an increased number of parents on governing bodies, as well as accountability mechanisms and repercussions for mismanagement.

Suzuki concludes that

The findings from the in-depth study at 4 primary schools do not support the contention that decentralisation leads to greater participation, which increases accountability of decentralised units. Contrarily and rather paradoxically, we have seen that participation has little effect upon accountability, which then reduces the level of participation, regardless of the extent of decentralisation in place. (2000, p.23)

Power differences between parents and teachers as well as between different groups within the community, for example between men and women, were very difficult to overcome. These power differences meant that the direct asking of questions that may be necessary to ensure accountability is contrary to social norms.

Factors that Motivate and Inhibit the Community

Much of the literature on relations between the school and community focusses on the interests of the educators and the developers and how to convincingly communicate those interests to the community, with little direct discussion about the interests of the community. But drawn out of the literature are some indications about the factors that may impede interactions between a school and a community.

This discussion of the importance of education for economic and social development drew attention to the need to consider how community members perceive that education fits into the larger socio-economic context of their lives. Schofield's review of case studies in South Africa was primarily focussed on the economic development of the community, stressing that the programs grew out of the economic interests and needs expressed by the community. The case studies gave examples of communities and schools working together "identifying and implementing small scale, manageable programs that addressed concrete needs" (2003, p.202). Schofield concludes with questions about participation. Why did significant participation occur in some instances despite problems? Why did men, in particular, not participate? I would ask, what were the factors that encouraged or inhibited participation in the broader categories of interactions (attitudes, communication, involvement, governance, collaboration) between school and community?

Demerath (1999) finds that people's assessment of the "utility of education" takes into consideration resource availability, knowledge, identity, and power. Power comes up again in the discussion of accountability, when Suzuki (2000) refers to the constraints caused by power differences. Condy also finds that power and influence limited "full

community empowerment," and that "local power relations and hierarchies need to be recognised as a fairly potent and entrenched aspect of community structures" (1998, p.16). Earlier, Condy alludes to how power operated to "encourage" people to participate:

But although most of them had engaged in communal labour, in many instance people reported that they had only engaged in this work because they were obliged to or would be fined if they did not, which does not of itself demonstrate much of a sense of real commitment and ownership of their school. (1998, p.12)

Despite the use of local power relations to get people involved in the school, Condy labels power as a limitation.

Condy's discussion includes the greater power wielded by international organizations and national supervisors along with local teachers. In discussing community governance, Shaeffer (1994) suggests the importance of social relationships within the country and community (p. 117), colonial history (p. 119), and teachers' attitudes (p. 168), all of which could explain the power relations between the various local, national, and external stakeholders.

The other limitation that Condy lists is "administrative and management skills" (p.16), the lack of which took ownership of the projects in Ghana out of the hands of most of the community members. Williams refers to the need to train people for collaboration (1997, p.68). Uemara lists as a "challenge" the need to assess the capabilities of communities and provide assistance (1999, p.13). Of concern is that the interests, motivations, and capabilities of community members in regards to education are often referred to as "challenges" or "limitations."

As this literature review shows, while there are examples of community involvement in education that explain how to convince communities to support education and get

involved, there are few discussions of how exactly the interests of educators and developers are negotiated with the interests of the community members. While there is some indication of factors which inhibit involvement by community members, there is little indication of factors within the community that motivate community members' support for, and involvement with, the school.

3. THE RESEARCH METHOD

The complexities of community-school relations are best described and understood through a long-term ethnographic study. As with any single-case study, site selection was very important and, for reasons explained below, I chose a community in Fiji and its local primary school. Multiple methods of data collection, including observation, interviews, and document review were used. On-going analysis directed the focus of the data collection while the process was conducted within an ethical framework.

Site Selection

My study could have been conducted in any developing country, however, I chose to concentrate on finding a site in the Asia-Pacific region because I am more familiar with that part of the world. For personal reasons I looked for a politically stable country. Because I have no other language proficiency, I looked for a country where English was widely spoken. Initially I sought out contacts with people at universities and development agencies in Asia until Cliff Benson, director of the Institute of Education at the University of the South Pacific in Fiji, responded favourably to my research topic and my request for assistance.

As a former British colony and a developing country, Fiji provided the appropriate context for my study. English is widely spoken, as it is one of the national languages, along with Hindi and Fijian. While the Fijian school system is based on locally managed schools, there is a strong national ministry as well as numerous international agencies that have input into the direction of education. This engagement of local, national, and

international interests is common to most developing countries and creates the context for the research question of how multiple interests are communicated and negotiated.

Finding a definable community of one ethnic group became the deciding factor for choosing a research site. Most schools were predominantly Indian or Fijian but had students from both cultures. Because parents were free to send their children to the school of their choice, many schools drew students from a large geographic area, making it more difficult to describe the community. I looked for a school that served students from a compact geographic area as well as from one ethnic group because my purpose was to study the interactions between a school and a community, not to study the educational achievement differences between Indian and Fijian students, a much discussed topic in Fiji. A community of indigenous Melanesian Fijians was most suitable, given my background in First Nations education in Canada and the somewhat similar experiences of indigenous populations around the world with colonial education systems (in Canada, Barman & McCaskill, 1987; in the third world, Carnoy & Samoff, 1990; in the South Pacific, Thaman, 1993). While I found that the situation was different due to Fiji's history as well as current political and economic situation (described in Chapter 4), many of the education issues regarding preservation of language and culture were similar to those of First Nations in Canada.

In order to observe daily interactions between the school personnel and the community, it was important that the school be situated within a community. Additionally, since my entry to the community would be through contact with school personnel, a school that was situated geographically close to a community, would

facilitate access to community members. For these reasons, a boarding school was not suitable for this study.

Through my contact with the University of the South Pacific, I was invited to attend workshops conducted through the Basic Education and Literacy Support (BELS) program. At these training workshops, I was introduced as a researcher from Canada to hundreds of elementary teachers throughout the Western region of Fiji; some of them invited me to visit their schools. After visiting sixteen schools, I selected Totoka school and the community on the island of Totoka.

The three villages on Totoka Island made up a definable community made up of one ethnic group. The school served only children from the island, although some Totoka children attended other schools on the mainland. Besides being a compact community for my research, the location was also convenient. The island was close enough to the mainland to make it easy to do banking, shopping, and email. But the people still lived a mainly subsistence lifestyle, a situation which caused considerable dissonance between the theories of community development and education and the village reality.

As in any case study, the uniqueness of the specific research site must be recognized. For a developing country, Fiji had a relatively high standard of living and a high literacy rate. Therefore, Fiji was not necessarily typical of developing countries, but provided a good research context as the education system responded to the economic and social changes in the country. Within Fiji, the community on Totoka Island was unusual in many ways. The community had many political connections due to traditional ties to a powerful village on the mainland. Many of the traditional ceremonies as well as traditional hierarchies were maintained in the community. In comparison to many rural

communities, Totoka was fairly well-off financially because of the money coming in from tourism. As a result, the school had access to more resources than many other rural schools. While these elements set this community apart, they also highlighted changes that created tensions between educational theories and the educational goals of the local people. The uniqueness of the research site, as the community struggled with maintaining its traditions along with a transition to a cash economy, and the implications these changes had for education for the community, made this case study particularly valuable.

Entering the Research Site

After one of the training workshops on the mainland, a teacher from Totoka asked me to attend a parents' meeting at the school at which, I found on my arrival, I was the invited speaker. My husband and I stayed on the island for three days, meeting the Head Teacher and her staff and many community members.

Once I had decided on the suitability of the community for my research, I returned to the island and approached the Head Teacher about taking part in my study, discussing my study with her, answering her questions and giving her a one page abstract of my proposal. Because my first contact with the community was through the school and the study did require the co-operation of the school staff in interviews and observations, I wanted the approval of the Head Teacher. After taking some time to think about it and asking some more questions, the Head Teacher agreed to participate and also agreed to take my request to the community. I gave her copies of my abstract as well as three bundles of *kava*: one for each village. I was not present when my request was presented to the community, but many people knew me from my visit to the parents' meeting at the

school. I was relieved to find out that the community, or at least the men who make such decisions, agreed to let me conduct my study on Totoka Island.

Soon I was able to move to Totoka Island to start my data collection. My husband, Gord, and I lived with Esiteri, the Head Teacher; an arrangement that had some advantages as well as disadvantages. Her house, along with the other teachers' housing, was not located right in the village and I was worried that this physical distance would make it more difficult for me to interact informally with people in the village. Living with the Head Teacher also gave me a closer association with the school than I had wanted. I did not want people to think that I was working for the school and would therefore not be open in their discussions with me.

Instead, I found that the distance from the village was an advantage. While at the beginning I had to look for reasons to go into the village such as going to bake a cake, I became quite comfortable going in to the village just to visit. I could then return to the Head Teacher's house to write in relative privacy. There was little privacy in the village and living outside of it provided me the time that I needed to write, reflect and simply to relax. Later in the research period, I arranged to live for some time with a family in each village. Spending several months in each village facilitated arranging formal interviews in that village and allowed the observation of community activities in each village.

The Head Teacher was also very helpful for me personally and for my research. She was well-educated, having attended teachers' college and having travelled to New Zealand to visit friends. She therefore had some understanding of the differences between her culture and mine, helping me to understand the differences, but also understanding some of my needs and peculiarities as a Westerner. She invited me to go with her to

community events, letting me know ahead of time what would be expected of me and, later, answering my questions about what I observed. She also helped us learn some Fijian. Nevertheless, while I acquired some words and phrases, I never did learn enough Fijian to converse in it.

Data Collection

Throughout the two-year period of the study, I used a variety of ethnographic methods including observations, informal interviews, and document review as well as formal semi-structured interviews with individuals and groups. These ethnographic research methods allowed for a variety of data collection strategies, which provided a confirmation of the accuracy of my understanding of the information (Devereaux & Hoddinott, 1992). While in the research site, I asked questions to clarify what I was observing and I made observations that verified or brought into question things told to me in interviews.

My framework of the types of interactions between school and community was an important guide for my data collection. Instead of focussing on only governance or only on parental involvement in classroom activities, this comprehensive model ensured that the data reflected the many facets of the school - community interactions. Because a framework is missing from much of the debate about community participation (Reimers, 1997), I include here more information about how I developed this framework.

A Framework for Community-School Relations

As stated previously, I use the term "community-school relations" to refer to the interactions between a school and its local community. The community to which I refer is

the geographical community that is served by a school open to all students in a particular region. I do not imply any coherence by the use of the term; a number of ethnic or social communities may be included in the larger, geographical community. In fact, there may be a number of factions within the community, groups of people with differing goals and visions for the school and the development of their community.

My conceptual framework of the interactions between the community and the school is based upon Arnstein's ladder of participation (1969) and Epstein's types of involvement (1992, 1144-1146). Arnstein developed a 'ladder of participation' that described different levels of participation by the local people in a development project, each level providing the beneficiaries of a project with more opportunities for greater decision-making roles in the project. Using Arnstein's ladder of participation, Shaeffer (1994) gives examples of these levels of participation in an educational project as:

- 1. the mere use of a service (such as a primary health care facility);
- 2. involvement through the contribution of resources, materials, and labour;
- 3. involvement through 'attendance' and the receipt of information (e.g. parent's meetings), implying passive acceptance of decisions made by others;
- 4. involvement through consultation (or feedback) on a particular issue;
- 5. participation in the delivery of a service, often as a partner with other actors;
- 6. participation as implementors of delegated powers; and
- most completely, participation 'in real decision-making at every stage identification of problems, the study of feasibility, planning, implementation, and evaluation' (UNICEF, 1986, p.1). This implies the authority to initiate action, a capacity for 'proactivity', and the confidence to get going on one's own. (Shaeffer, 1994, pp. 16-17)

Reimers has suggested using Shaeffer's seven degrees of participation as the foundation for a model facilitating community participation in supporting educational opportunity (1997). There are several problems with using Arnstein's ladder of participation to describe the various aspects of community-school relations. The focus of the various levels is on the role of the community members rather than that of the school personnel, although the level of community participation is often dependent on the largesse of the professional experts (Lynch, 1997, p.68-71). These experts, either development planners or educators, may decide that full participation by the beneficiaries of the project is important and the ultimate goal is the highest rung on the ladder. Arnstein was critical of development projects that were described as including the participation of local people but which were really manipulative or providing only token involvement; thus, this model focusses on leaving the bottom rungs of the ladder and climbing to the top. With the current emphasis on participatory development, only the last three rungs are even considered to be participatory, and while genuine participation as described by the final rung in the ladder may be the ideal, it is "a very ambitious goal - an ideal - likely unreachable (at least in the short-term) by many, if not most, societies in the world" (Shaeffer, 1994, p.18).

Besides being potentially unreachable, there are also problems associated with attempting full participation by community members in educational decision-making . The process may be taken over by powerful and articulate factions in the community. Community members may become alienated through disappointment or disillusion as their goals are not attained. There may be increased costs to the funding agencies incurred by increased consultation time, training costs, and incentives to the staff and community for participation (Lynch, 1997, p.71). Focussing on genuine participation by the beneficiaries of a project, development literature often recommends that experts, such as planners, developers, and teachers move into roles of facilitators and animators

(Lynch, 1997, p.71). This role does not take advantage of the skills and expertise that educators and other experts bring to the educational system.

The metaphor of the ladder depicts hierarchical levels, with the focus at the top, losing sight of the importance of the first few rungs on the ladder and the necessity of each and all levels. Community involvement through using the school, attending activities, and volunteering in classes is still important whether or not an active parent committee participates in genuine decision-making. Rather than presenting a dialectical relationship, with a balance between the knowledge and skills of community members and that of professional experts, emphasis is given to decision-making by community members. So while Arnstein's ladder of participation is useful in describing various levels of participation, it gives undue importance to a few levels.

Epstein's model of types of involvement provides an alternative to the ladder of participation and has been developed specifically from educational research. In describing how to build school and family partnerships in North America, Epstein suggests that "five important types of involvement help families and schools fulfill their shared responsibilities for children's learning and development" (Epstein, 1992, p.1145). Her recommendation is that schools develop programs that encompass all five types.

The first type of involvement is the basic obligations of families. These are the responsibilities of the family to provide positive home conditions that support learning and behaviour. The school can help families through parent education, training, and providing information.

The second type is the basic obligations of schools. The school is responsible, through a variety of means, to communicate to the family information about school programs and children's progress as well as encourage two-way communication.

Third, is the involvement of parents at school. Parents can be involved by volunteering in classrooms and attending student performances, sports, and other events. Schools can encourage involvement through appropriate scheduling of events and training volunteers.

Involvement in learning activities at home is the fourth type of involvement. Parents can monitor and assist their children with learning activities at home. Schools pass information on and provide directions to parents as to how they can help.

The fifth type of involvement is in decision-making, governance, and advocacy. Parents take participatory roles in parent advisory councils and school committees. The school assists by providing training and opportunities for contributing to school decisions.

Epstein also added a sixth type of involvement, including the important contribution that the community can make towards children's learning and development: collaboration with community organizations. Schools' collaboration with agencies, businesses, and cultural organizations on school programs can provide improved family access to community and support services. The school can also draw on community resources to enhance and enrich students' experiences.

While similar to Arnstein's ladder of participation in categorizing different types of participation, Epstein's model recognizes the importance of a variety of types of

involvement. Not all parents have the skills, time, or desire to participate in a governance role, but the vast majority of parents are concerned about their children's education and are interested in contributing in ways they are able (Montero-Sieburth, 1992, p.180; Hallak, 1990, p.140). The strength of this model is a broad description of involvement beyond participation in governance and the recognition that all levels of participation are important to student achievement.

This model also does not fully represent my understanding of the interactions between school and community. While adding on a community component, Epstein admits that there is little research in the area of community involvement in education. Her model focusses on family involvement in the first five categories rather than including community members other than parents. The entire community can be very important in establishing family attitudes toward school and providing resources and volunteers for school activities (Ogbu, 1992). As well, Epstein's model is primarily concerned with how the family and school partnership can improve student achievement (a topic widely critiqued and debated for its often narrow interpretation and connotations) and does not consider the school as having an important role in community development. My understanding of community-school relations places a greater role on the school regarding its obligation towards the community and involvement in community affairs.

Neither Arnstein's ladder of participation with its focus on governance, nor Epstein's types of involvement with its concentration on family obligations, represents the complex, multi-dimensional interactions between a school and its community, perhaps especially in a developing country.

Combining the various levels of community participation from Arnstein's ladder of participation and Epstein's notions of types of involvement in education, I have constructed a framework that more closely represents my understanding of the interactions between the community and the school. The five categories are not hierarchical levels, but are each important components of the connection. I have tried to more fully incorporate the community aspect, both the community role in education and the school's role in the community.

- Attitude. This concerns the attitude of the community towards schooling in general as well as the local school specifically, but also the community's attitude towards experts and the expertise that they bring to the community. The attitude of the professionals, such as school personnel and development workers, towards the community is important, and so is the abstract 'attitude' that is implied through curriculum materials and policies.
- **Communication.** Mutual communication must be considered: the communication by the school personnel to the community as well as the communication of community opinions and concerns to the school. This communication can be formal through such means as meetings and newsletters as well as informal through discussions inside and outside of the school, in which opinions are exchanged, formed, and modified. This communication can include simple information such as the time and place of activities, but also include information on policy decisions, mission statements, and roles and expectations.
- **Involvement.** Community members can be involved by attending school activities such as performances, sports, and meetings. Involvement includes

providing resources, materials and labour for large projects such as building a school or fundraising to smaller projects such as volunteering in a classroom or at a special event. The school may be involved in community activities, for example, participating in a cultural event or community clean-up. The school building may be used for community activities such as adult education classes, recreation activities, or health services delivery. Outside of school time, school personnel may be involved in the community as active members of the community: shopping in the community, serving on community committees, teaching literacy classes.

- **Governance.** While the previous category includes attendance at meetings, there is no implied decision-making role. The governance category includes consultation and participation in decision-making: both on the part of educators in community decisions and community members in educational decisions. The participation may be direct or through delegation.
- Collaboration. There may be participation in decision-making, but the community and the school could both operate very separately, with separate goals and visions. Or the school and the community may work together towards a common goal, with the school seen as a vital part of community development and the community playing a vital role in the school's objectives. This collaboration could occur at different levels at different times for different reasons. This collaboration could encompass a range of projects from a teacher working with a group of community members as they apply for small-business

funding to the school committee formally working with the community leaders to build a new structure that would serve as school and community centre.

It is difficult to write about these categories without implying a preferred type of interaction. However, I used this model, not to imply or construct a normative relationship, but to ensure that I included in my study all aspects of the connection between the school and the community. Many studies focus on one category of interaction between school and community, for example, community involvement in management (Smith, Thurlow, & Foster, 1997), schools that are involved in community economic activities (Schofield, 2003), or parental involvement in school activities (Zoller Booth, 1996).

I used this framework of five categories to direct my data collection so that I did not concentrate in only one area. I also used the framework to organize my data, but found that while it led to a very rich description of the interactions between school and community, it did not contribute to an analysis of the factors influencing the interactions. Nevertheless, I believe that using this framework enabled this study to encompass and represent the complexity of community-school relations.

Initial Interviews and Document Review

My initial data collection, before choosing a research site, consisted of document review along with interviews with local researchers, and agency and government personnel. My readings covered a wide range: books, articles, reports, local newspapers. The Institute of Pacific Studies was the local publisher of books on education and development and the Pacific Collection at the University of the South Pacific (USP)

included masters and doctoral theses on education in Fiji. Local academics and researchers gave me copies of published and unpublished papers. International, regional, and national reports from international agencies such as UNDP (1999), UNICEF (1997), and Save the Children Fund (1998) included information on national demographics as well as about previous evaluations of education and community development projects. Education was a common topic in the local newspapers and magazines, giving me a sense of the local issues and community involvement in education.

Unfortunately, few materials were available from the Ministry of Education. Moreover, because of changes in personnel, I was never able to establish rapport with one person in the ministry so as to gain access to their limited resources. Copies of manuals and reports were often not available, since few seem to be printed. While research permits specified that a copy of the completed research be sent to the Ministry, less than half a dozen reports had been collected on a shelf, one of them in Japanese.

On the other hand, people were very willing to be interviewed. I conducted twentyeight interviews with personnel at USP, international agencies and the Ministry of Education, including teachers. Through these interviews I gathered background information about the education system in Fiji, international aid programs in Fiji, and local issues regarding education, community involvement, and community development.

Collection of documents continued throughout my time in Fiji, and it expanded to include written material that was available in the community of Totoka. Most of these documents were school newsletters and reports for parents and the Ministry of Education.

Many of the connections made in the first five months, before entering the research site, were maintained. These connections were particularly useful as I negotiated the

cultural differences while in the community as well as for discussion and feedback as I started to analyze the data.

Length of Study

The longitudinal nature of the study contributed to the strength of the research as it allowed time to establish relationships with community members (Mamak & McCall 1978), collect a variety of data and confirm observations and data collected from interviews. These observations and interviews were conducted over the period from July 1999 until May 2001, during which time my husband, Gord, and I lived in the community.

Because of the importance of personal relationships in Fijian culture, I decided to live in the community, letting community members get to know me before I started conducting formal interviews. As Linda Tuhiwai Smith, a Maori researcher, explains about doing research in indigenous communities:

The relatively simple task of gaining informed consent can take anything from a moment to months and years.... Asking directly for consent to interview can also be interpreted as quite rude behaviour in some cultures. Consent is not so much given for a project or specific set of questions, but for a person, for their credibility. Consent indicates trust and the assumption is that the trust will not only be reciprocated but constantly negotiated - a dynamic relationship rather than a static interview. (1999, p.136)

While I found that asking for consent was not interpreted, as Smith warns, as rude behaviour, it was the personal relationship, so important in Fijian society, that provided me with the consent. Asking for and receiving consent is discussed further in the section on formal interviews. As a result of living in the community for an extended period, taking time to sit and have tea as well as participate in special events and getting to know people before asking questions, Gord and I were accepted as part of the community, albeit as special members. We tried to contribute as much as possible to the everyday duties of the household in which we lived: cooking, cleaning, and laundry. We also attempted to participate in community events, which was difficult because we had very few skills that were useful in Fijian life. For example, I don't know how to cook breadfruit, weave mats, or serve tea properly. The only useful skill I had at feasts was doing dishes, which I insisted on doing, even though it made the Fijians somewhat uncomfortable because of my status. The result, however, was a greater acceptance as community members. One woman told me that they weren't used to seeing tourists doing dishes and therefore it was harder to think of me as a tourist. At a *kava* session, a visiting Fijian was offered the first bowl of *kava* and he indicated that Gord, whom he perceived as a visiting white man with more status, should receive the first bowl. The local men replied that Gord did not get the first bowl because he was also local.

Observations

As explained above, I determined that it was best to spend some time in the community before conducting formal interviews. During the first three months living on the island, I made observations of school events, community events, interactions between school personnel and community members, and daily life in a Fijian village. Besides providing information, observations provided opportunities to confirm later information from interviews as well as stimulate questions for interviews.

Initially, when we lived with the Head Teacher, whose house was in the school compound only a few steps from the school, I spent time learning about the Fijian school. Although my study does not focus on classroom activities, spending some time in the classroom, becoming familiar with the school routines and curriculum was helpful. I observed formal interactions between the school and the community such as meetings and performances, as well as informal day-to-day interactions as mothers came at noon with lunch for the students and the young men and women came after school to play volleyball and rugby on the school grounds.

I also observed life in the three villages, accompanying the Head Teacher as she attended community events such as a funeral or performances for the tourists. One of the villages was right beside the school compound and as I became known to community members, I started to go into the village on my own, having tea or drinking *kava*. I watched as the women prepared lunch for the students, the men returned from their gardens, and the children returned from school, changing out of their school uniforms to gather firewood, fish, or play on the beach.

The first months were dedicated to data collection through observation rather than interviews. Once I had established relationships with people in the community, I began to conduct interviews, but my observations continued throughout the two years of the study. Eventually, these observations encompassed the full school year, from the first day ceremonies, through daily school routines, preparation and writing of exams, to the final school performance and closing the school for the holidays.

I did not take notes during my visits; that is, I never sat with pen and paper writing while life went on around me. As much as possible, I tried to be a participant in the

activities and the conversation. Several times during the day, especially immediately after returning from the village, I would spend time writing in my journal. The Head Teacher's verandah was often the coolest place and the students and parents often saw me sitting there writing.

Informal Interviews

While I was observing school activities and life in the village, I was also having informal discussions with people. Fijian society is very social and these discussions often took place while having tea or around the *kava* bowl. After school, the Head Teacher would lay a mat outside in the shade and we would sit on it discussing the day's activities, her plans for the school, or my questions about things I had seen. Many times, while I sat on the verandah writing, parents or teachers walking by would stop to talk to me, frequently with a specific comment in mind that they wanted to share with me. These discussions would be entered later, from memory, into my journals.

During this period of conducting informal interviews, I realized that language and gender were limiting my data collection. Not surprisingly, those people who were most comfortable speaking English were the people with whom I was having the majority of my conversations. Others may have sat with us and listened to our conversations but were not as forthright with their comments. Also, it was mostly women who joined in these conversations. As a result I attempted to expand the scope of my interactions to intentionally include those who were not as comfortable speaking in English and to include more young men.

Because English was the national language and everyone, even the older people, had learned English in school most people were able to speak some English to me and many spoke English very well. I was therefore able to talk to people in English, for while I was able to learn some Fijian, I am not good at languages, and did not become fluent enough to conduct interviews in the language. While people appreciated my attempts at Fijian and they continued to speak Fijian together while I was with them, they were willing to give me a synopsis of their discussion and answer questions in English.

As someone from outside of the community, I also needed help to "understand the fine-grained meanings of behavior, feeling and values...and decipher the unwritten grammar of conduct and nuances of cultural idiom" (Merton in Collins, 1991, p.49). Upon reflection and reviewing my journals, I sometimes felt that I might be missing some nuance, especially regarding the more sensitive topics. Being able to return for follow-up interviews or to re-word a question in another interview gave me the opportunity to try to uncover these nuances.

Some members of the community were also invaluable in explaining Fijian society to me and answering my questions about what I had seen and heard, although I was careful not to betray any confidentiality with my questions. For example, when I asked the Head Teacher about someone's comment, she pressed me to tell her who said it, so that she could talk to them. I had to tell her that my interviews were anonymous. These cultural guides, such as the Head Teacher, tended to be those who were most comfortable in the English language and I realized that my journals were full of discussions with them. I recognized the hazard of limiting my interviews to those who were well-educated

and spoke English. While my informal discussions continued to be dominated by English speakers, I tried to arrange the formal interviews to include a wider range of people.

I also became aware that most of my interactions were with women. Because Fijian society is quite segregated along gender lines, I had more opportunities to talk with the women, while cooking, weaving, or drinking tea. As well, the women tended to be the better English speakers making them more comfortable talking to me than were the men. Gord was helpful, sharing with me the discussions the men had around the *kava* bowl at night and relating some of the activities that he was involved in with the men such as playing rugby, fishing, and planting yams. I also took advantage of my relatively high status as a foreign woman to interact more with the men, joining them on fishing trips and *kava* sessions. Nevertheless, I found the young men on the island the most difficult segment of the community to include in my research.

Another aspect of data collection that became evident during these informal discussions was the fluidity of fact as described by Hau'ofa:

The recording and communication of ideas, of customary laws, genealogies, historical events, and rights and obligations of all kinds were very flexible, creative and highly politicised. Truth was, and still is to a large extent, negotiable. (1985, p.157)

As I talked to people in the villages, I learned the difficulty of determining a "fact," such as who has been the chairman of the school committee. Since questioning someone's memory of an event was rude, as much as possible I tried to confirm facts through interviews with a number of people. Sometimes the result was as many "truths" as there were interviews. Instead of concentrating on uncovering a particular fact, I focussed on

trying to determine the essence of what the person was trying to tell me by describing the event in a particular way.

As with the observations, informal discussions were recorded from memory after I returned to my room. Especially during my introduction to people in the village, I did not want to be taking out my notebook as soon as I met them. In addition, many of the conversations happened during the course of everyday life, when we were busy cooking or fishing. I concentrated on remembering the substance of the conversation or memorizing phrases which I would then record when I got back to my notebook.

Formal Interviews

After collecting initial data through observations and informal interviews, after getting to know the people of Totoka, and them getting to know me, I started to conduct formal interviews with individuals in the community.

I conducted formal, semi-structured interviews, attempting to keep a balance between male and female and to have representation from the ranges of age and education. In order to have representation from all three villages and each of the *mataqali*, the extended family units, I lived in each of the three villages for several months as I conducted the interviews in that village. Teachers and the two schoolcommittee chairmen are not included in this tally, as data were collected from them continually in formal and informal interviews throughout the data collection period (see Table 1).

Fifty-one people ranging in age from 14 to 78 participated in formal, individual interviews. Of the 33 parents interviewed, four were from the village but were living on

the mainland with their children at school on the mainland. The interviews also include eight unmarried youth without children and seven village elders.

Age	Number Interviewed	Male	Female	Number of years of Education
14 - 19	5	4	1	9 - 14
20 - 29	14	4	10	8 - 14
30 - 39	11	3	8	8 - 12
40 - 59	14	7	7	4 - 11
60 - 78	7	5	2	3 - 8
Total	51	23	28	

Table 1 Participants in Formal Interviews

My research does not include interviews with children because of the ethical and methodological difficulties in interviewing children which are increased in a crosscultural interview. However, three secondary students acted as interpreters for their parents and offered their own views during the interviews.

While I planned to interview one person from each household the actual interviews were determined somewhat by protocol, by availability, and by chance. As a result some households were missed and some families were over-represented with several interviews. Pilot interviews were conducted with a few of the people that I knew best in the closest village. Then, following protocol, the high-ranking men and women were interviewed. As I tried to keep the interviews representative of the entire population, specific segments of the community such as the young men were identified for interviews. Often when someone was not available to be interviewed, someone else in the household offered to answer my questions. A few people specifically asked to be interviewed.

As earlier mentioned, gaining informed consent from the interviewees was not so much a matter of them signing a paper as a requirement that I conduct myself in a responsible way gaining their respect and therefore their acceptance of my research activities. Initially, I was hesitant to present the interviewees with the consent form, worried that they would be intimidated by the page and a half of information including addresses in Canada and requiring a signature. The consent form was intimidating even for people from Canada and Australia whom I interviewed. However, by the time formal interviews were conducted, I felt that I knew the interviewees well enough to present the form for their signature. While not every interviewee even knew how to sign a form, they did not seem daunted by the formality of the procedure.

The interview started with a verbal explanation of the research and how the findings would be used. The interviewee received a paper which I had signed promising confidentiality; however, I explained that although I would not use their name or name the village, the Ministry of Education and the Senior Education Officer knew where I was conducting research and would therefore be able to identify some interviewees by their position, such as the *Turaga ni Koro* or the school committee chair. After reviewing the consent form with them, the interviewee was asked to sign the form.

Noone refused to sign the consent form, and nobody declined to be interviewed when asked. However, in a few cases, especially with young men, I was never able to arrange a time for the interview and this difficulty may have actually reflected a reluctance to participate. While Fijians will not often say no directly, they may not

actually be saying yes. In most cases, people were pleased to be asked as evidenced by the formality they gave to the interview and the requests by some to be interviewed.

The interview was conducted in a time and place requested by the interviewee. In most cases, they treated the interview very formally, arranging for me to come to their home, where we could be undisturbed inside the house. Sometimes they arranged for one of their secondary school aged children or a young adult to be present to translate, but generally, their level of English was such that we could communicate quite well.

As much as possible in a village setting, I tried to conduct the interviews privately so as to preserve the confidentiality of the interview and allow the interviewee to speak openly. In a few instances, on the interviewee's suggestion, the interview was conducted outside under a tree, which was a more public place. These interviews were more likely to be interrupted by people walking by, or by children coming to join us.

In several instances, the interviewee arranged to have someone else join us to act as translator, because they were not confident in their level of English. The translator was usually a family member, sometimes a son or daughter in secondary school, and these young people often offered their own opinions as well as translating their parents' opinions. In none of these interviews did I feel that the interviewee was constrained by the presence of a translator, which may have been true if I had to depend on someone from outside of the community or a teacher for the translation.

People on the island were fascinated by the computer and often wanted to watch me type, but I would tell them that I was typing up an interview and that I could not let them watch because of my promise of confidentiality. This was accepted by everyone and these exchanges confirmed my promise to the interviewees.

The formal interviews were semi-structured with a short list of questions appropriate to the interviewees' role in the community and whether they were parents of school-age children. I did not use a pre-set guide throughout the interviews, but planned questions to clarify or expand on data collected through observations or previous interviews. During the interview I then had the flexibility of asking further questions on a particular topic that arose.

The formal interviews started with collecting the names, ages, and education levels of the immediate family. The interview could then flow easily in a variety of directions: involvement in school activities, why family members had left school, how education had helped family members living in the village. Depending on the age and role of the interviewee as well as previous interview topics, the interview would focus on parent participation, the school committee, attitudes towards education, or changes in the village. The interviewee was asked if there was anything else they wanted to tell me and then I formally concluded the interview by thanking them for their time.

I did not tape-record interviews, initially because I thought the tape-recorder would intimidate the villagers. But as I recorded the interviews by hand in my notebook, I found that the time for writing gave the interviewee time to think and express themselves in English. They could also see what I was writing down, giving them clues as to what I found important to my research. This may have limited some responses, but had the advantage of keeping the interview focussed on educational issues. In a few instances, they read what I had written and confirmed or corrected my notes.

Data Analysis

Analysis of the data was conducted throughout the study period using reflection, coding, and feedback to participants (as recommended by Marshall and Rossman, 1995). The process of transcribing my scribbled notes into a journal and then entering these journal entries into the computer forced a regular review of my data and continual reflection with accompanying analytical notes being added. Regular written reports to the International Development Research Centre, which funded my research, and to my doctoral research committee assisted in this on-going analysis. Regular discussions with other researchers at the University of the South Pacific and other organizations in Fiji also helped with this analysis, especially as many of them were very familiar with Fijian society and life in Fijian villages.

Surprisingly, the tourists who came to the island were very helpful sources of reflection. I was often asked to assist the tour leader who brought visitors to the village from the resort, answering their questions about Fijian life but also fielding questions about my research. This forced me to continually reflect on what I was researching and what I was learning. Some tourists were regular visitors to the island, having returned annually for many years and they were able to challenge or confirm aspects of my analysis.

Periodically, I would spend time on the mainland where I had electricity and privacy and could use the computer for analysis. Using both FolioViews and Atlas, my preliminary analysis consisted of coding my journals to find themes. These themes were then used to focus further interviews. By January 2001, I had a set of 23 statements that

were an initial summary of my research that was then presented to the community for their feedback.

Participant Feedback

The long-term nature of the study allowed for on-going feedback to participants and verification of initial findings through group interviews with community members as well as formal reports. Three written interim reports were given to the Head Teacher and the School Committee Chair, the first being a general report on my research to date and the final two being specific reports of interest to the teachers and community on parents' meetings and the restructuring of the school committee. The first report was also given to the Senior Education Officer for the region but unfortunately, time and distance did not allow for further discussion with him about the research.

At the end of the two years of data collection, meetings were held with groups of community members in the villages. To ensure that everyone could attend and would be encouraged to voice their comments at a meeting (Nayacakalou, 1978), I planned to hold seven meetings in each village: male elders, female elders, married women, married men, women married into the village, unmarried men, unmarried women. I also planned separate meetings with the teachers and the school committee, for a total of twenty-three meetings. In the end, mostly due to scheduling difficulties around other community events, fourteen meetings were held: five with men, seven with women, one with teachers, and one with the school committee. In one village, the young women - married, unmarried, and married into the village - all came together in one meeting. So there were opportunities for most people to attend a meeting, but there were not as many meetings as originally anticipated.

The most under-represented groups in the feedback sessions were the married and unmarried men. Even though I made a presentation to the school committee, which was a large group including married and unmarried young men, in the traditions of meetings in Fiji, discussion was limited to the chairman and a few of the older men. The underrepresentation of this segment of the population was also evident in the tally of formal interviews. I hope that the range of young men that I did have a chance to interview fairly represent their age and gender group.

The feedback meetings were tape-recorded and I also took notes. In most cases, the discussion was in English, with those present at the meeting translating when necessary. I chose six statements that were most relevant to each age group. I was concerned about how to encourage an open discussion without immediate agreement with whatever I said, which would be the proper Fijian way. So I presented each statement, along with a question which asked for more information about the topic. (See Appendix 1) There was a lively discussion about many of the topics, giving me a better understanding of the issue.

As part of these meetings, I also asked for permission to write about their community and the things I had learned. In one meeting with the older women we had been talking about problems between the three villages, especially the organization of the school committee. I asked for permission to write about this in my reports and the woman beside me, who had not said anything up to this point, immediately said "*KUA*," no! As mentioned before, the polite Fijian way would be to agree with a visitor, so this exclamation of "no!" was significant. The status of the village was very important in Fijian society and a report that could negatively affect that status was avoided. As well,

direct criticism of individuals was avoided because of the importance of relationships in Fijian society. As will be shown in the following chapters, the importance of status and relationships as well as traditions must not be ignored.

But in this group meeting the women talked about how others could learn from their struggles and how it was important for the government to know some of the problems that came from the government organization of villages. The people of Totoka struggled as their social organization, economic system and language underwent changes. They were looking for new ways to merge Western ways with their traditional ways. After an intense discussion, these women gave their permission for the material to be used, hoping others could learn from their experiences.

I also talked to the village elders, men and women, about the confidentiality of the study. I explained how it was difficult, in such a small country, to ensure the anonymity of their community: the Ministry of Education and Immigration officials already knew my research site. As well, I explained, many people on the mainland were very interested in their resort as one of the few owned and managed by Fijians. I wanted to promote the resort but would need their permission to name it and the island. They decided that the benefits of promoting their business outweighed the loss of confidentiality. I promised, however, not to use individuals' names nor name the village in my written reports.

The Influence of the Coup of 2000

Half-way through my research time, in May 2000, there was an attempted coup of the national government. This potentially violent situation did not affect me in as much as

I did not have to stop my research and leave the country; the political intrigue and instability did, however, have the potential to affect my analysis.

Parliament was overtaken by rebels, some of whom were Fijian soldiers, and members of parliament were held hostage for fifty-six days. While the coup was not successful, shortly after the hostage-taking, the military declared a state of emergency and took over the running of the country, appointing an interim president and prime minister. This interim military government was in place for the remainder of my time in Fiji and a general election was held in August 2001. My research site was far enough removed from Suva, the capital city and site of most of the conflict, that I was able to continue conducting my observations and interviews. However, as the political turmoil continued throughout the year I realized that there were more subtle repercussions on my research.

Avoiding Suva meant that I was out of regular contact with other researchers, the University, and the Ministry of Education. The methodology study-group of which I had been a member quit meeting because of an 8 pm curfew and the relocation of a number of members. As a result, I lost a number of contacts to whom I would have presented my results and from whom I could have received feedback.

Fiji's political situation was not quickly resolved and I found myself becoming frustrated with what seemed to me to be bizarre events and cynical about the motives of those involved. In their coverage of the coup, journalists expressed their bewilderment at Fijian behaviour. In his commentary titled *Fiji's ironies and muddled myths*, David Robie, who had lived in the Pacific for years and was then teaching journalism at the University of the South Pacific wrote:

I've tried hard to comprehend how ordinary Fijians could show undying support for terrorism, murder, violent robberies and total disregard for law and order - and still sing hymns and talk of God. (2000, July 24)

One of the Fijian English language newspapers described some of the seemingly

inexplicable behaviour:

Only in Fiji can a hostage hug his hostage taker. Only in Fiji can a hostage taker humble himself and present the highest symbol of honour - a whale's tooth - to his hostage. Only in Fiji can people who were once strong enemies become so close again. (Only in Fiji, The Daily Post, July 14, 2000)

Gavin de Becker with APB News wrote how the complexity of Fijian society was not

easy to comprehend from a Western perspective.

In many ways, it was a most peculiar sort of political coup. Played as a faraway sideshow by most U.S. media outlets, the takeover of the Fijian Parliament was a spectacle that suggested a complete breakdown of law and order. But, as all things Fijian, it was more complex than that.... Last week, I learned even more about how incredibly different Fijian culture is from America's when I was pulled into the turmoil of the final phase of this eight-week political crisis. (2000, July 18)

An Australian journalist wrote:

Brothers winking at each other across demarcation lines, rival factions getting into the *kava*, rebel soldiers shifting allegiances with impunity - to Western eyes the events of the Fiji coup can seem bewildering. (Brown, 2000, June 10)

My frustration at not understanding what was happening was evident in an excerpt

from an email I sent home on June 20, 2000:

It's almost impossible to figure out what is going on and which news-reports to actually believe. Yesterday, FM96 carried an interesting bulletin: "There is a rumour going around Suva. We want to assure you that nothing is happening and nothing is planned!!" That seems to sum up negotiations for the last few weeks. It's confusing for the Fijians but almost incomprehensible to the rest of us. While the hostage-takers ostensibly were against Indian Fijians being in government, there are also many Fijian

factions that are fighting for power. There is so much history, relationships, connections, traditions that it is difficult to keep up.

Realizing how incomprehensible the coup was, I began to wonder if it was possible that I could understand even the small segment of Fijian society and behaviour that I had come to study.

During the state of emergency, I also spent extended periods of time on Totoka, becoming more aware of the local politics and discovering the family and political links to the different factions on the mainland. While not directly about the political machinations, a journal entry made six months after the initial hostage-taking gives an indication of my feelings during this time.

As I type the journal I find a number of emotions running through me: mostly negative. I'm frustrated with the lack of communication, lack of responsibility, their seeming lack of care for each other (Journal, November 2, 2000).

How can I be sure that my research was not unduly affected by the coup? Awareness is one of the greatest protections (Wolf, 1996); realizing the effect my frustrations could have on my research, I was able to check my analysis for undue cynicism. In addition, I read the news less and with more humour, trying to treat the coup with the insouciance given it by the villagers. Although the country continued to deal with the effects of the coup, I was able to move beyond the negative emotions noted above. I feel that my analysis of the community-school relationship in Totoka became more realistic as a result.

Analytical Framework

Analysis pushed me to distinguish between the original framework of five categories of interactions between school and community, which supported my data collection and initial description, and a framework that supported further analysis of the data. The original five-part framework (attitude, communication, involvement, governance, and collaboration) was useful as a guide to the data collection, allowing me to uncover the complex nature of the association between school and community, but limited as an analytical guide.

As I moved through analysis and sought an analytic frame for the data, I refined and revised my original research questions. The original questions were:

- 1. How do community members and educators work together?
- 2. How are the various interests of parents, teachers, community leaders, and international development agencies communicated and negotiated at the local level?
- 3. How does the involvement of external agencies, such as CIDA, the World Bank, and churches offering aid, advice and personnel affect the relationship?
- 4. What is the influence of globalization on the school system and how is the community-school relationship affected by this influence?
- 5. How does colonialism continue to affect how the community relates to the school and how the school contributes to community development?

I realized as data analysis progressed that many of these questions focussed my attention off Totoka and beyond the immediate interactions between the school and the community, but that the data I had collected centred in the immediacies of how school life intertwined with daily life on Totoka.

I turned to the data to help focus my research (Marshall and Rossman, 1995), looking to see what themes were arising from the data and which questions were being answered. I realized that central to this analysis were the conflicts between the local realities of the community and the theories regarding the role of education in economic/social development, and the community's role in increasing educational effectiveness and efficiency. The interests of community members were not the same as the interests of educators and international developers.

The questions that became most relevant to the data were:

- 1. What are the factors that motivate or inhibit community members in their support of the local school?
- 2. How are the various interests of parents, educators, community members and international agencies communicated and negotiated?

These were the issues that community members and educators focussed on in their discussions and interviews with me. They were wondering why some people supported school events and others did not. Existing structures of communication and governance were being criticized because they did not seem to meet the needs of the community. Community members and educators spoke about what they saw as the main purpose of

education. By focussing on these two questions, I was able to concentrate on those issues most relevant to the community.

Ethical Conduct

In this study, not only was I an outsider, but a white, middle-class academic from the first world, studying a group of people most of whom had less economic, political, and social power than myself (Patai, 1991, p.137). I had to conduct myself and my research with particular attention to the possible misuse of this privilege. The three inter-related dimensions of this privilege were (1) the research process, (2) my position in relation to the people involved in my research, and (3) the post-fieldwork phase (Wolf, 1996, p.2).

The Research Process

Working with Indigenous Knowledge: A Guide for Researchers (Grenier, 1998) recommends that researchers be approved by the appropriate national agencies as well as local community leaders and conduct their research within the guidelines of the community. Neither the University of the South Pacific nor the Ministry of Education had guidelines for research in Fiji and so I used the community guidelines given by Grenier as a framework for the ethics of my research process: requesting permission from appropriate authorities, following local protocol, responding to local research needs.

I applied for and received approval for my research from the Fijian National Ministry of Education and Technology and the Immigration Department. I kept in contact with officials from the Ministry of Education, meeting with them about the progress of my research. Although the only stipulation was that a copy of my dissertation be filed with them, I provided them with interim written reports. While the Ministry of Education

officers in Suva did not require that I inform the region of my intentions to conduct research in his region, on the recommendation of the Head Teacher I met with the regional Senior Education Officer who was very supportive of my research.

There are no specific guidelines for researchers entering and conducting research in a Fijian community, but there are formal rituals for all visitors to a Fijian village. As more fully explained in the section regarding entering the research site these protocols were observed. After approving my research, the Head Teacher took my request, along with the requisite bundles of *kava* to the school committee and the community leaders, who also approved my research in their community.

Conducting a long term ethnography allows the researcher to focus on the place of study, being responsive and flexible enough to allow the research to emerge from the local context (Haig-Brown & Archibald, 1996, p.259). Certainly, during the time I spent on the mainland, meeting educators and reading the literature about education in Fiji, I was able to learn about the issues of concern to educators in Fiji. There were two issues specifically that it was suggested that I study: the examination system and the gap between educational achievements of Fijians and Indo-Fijians. While I appreciate the importance of these issues, the topic of examinations was beyond the scope of my research topic and a discussion of the difference in achievements is best handled by local contexts. Both of these issues are addressed in the Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel Report (Bacchus, 2000b; Sadler, 2000) as well as by White (2001).

The Research Relationship

Sometimes the research relationship is one of manipulation, exploitation, and misrepresentation of the research subjects who have no voice and receive no benefits from the study (Said, 1989). Because the ethnographic process emphasizes interaction with the research participants, I tried to ensure that this was a respectful relationship. Time spent in the community, as well as discussions with local researchers and community leaders, helped me understand how to act respectfully in this particular context.

For example, I attempted to follow the rules of dress and behaviour in the village that Fijians refer to as being respectful of the village. Especially for women, there are strict expectations about dress: cover the shoulders and knees, no shorts or slacks, no T-shirts, no jewelry, no hats. Usually Samuela, who escorted the tour from the resort, explained to the tourists how they should dress for the village, but the villagers were lenient with the tourists. One day, I expressed my surprise that the tourists were in shorts and very short skirts. Samuela said that he knew it was hard for the tourists to dress properly when it was so hot. Similarly, the Head Teacher often told me that I could wear shorts or my bathing suit to go swimming, but I tried to dress the way the Fijian women dressed, wearing a skirt and blouse while swimming close to the village. It appeared that I was successful when, after the first few months on the island, the Head Teacher told me that the women were asking what Pacific Island I was from, since I did not look or behave like a tourist.

Although I tried to fit in to life in a Fijian village, some distance was necessary between myself and the people involved in my research. There had to be a balance

between identification with and separateness from the research participants. By identifying myself as a researcher, I attempted to reduce the ambiguity about my intentions and therefore the possibility of manipulation of others. Maintaining my identity as a researcher and not primarily as a friend emphasized my intellectual responsibilities and guarded against my exploitation of others for my own support and approval (Patai, 1991; Martin, 1996). My continued identity as an outsider helped to keep the research relationship explicit.

As an outsider I carried certain powers and privileges with me, even though I did not have any traditional Fijian markers of power in the society, such as age or heritage. My identification as a white westerner had important implications for my research in Fiji, not only because it is a former British colony, but because of the position of the Eurocentric viewpoint as the "dominant consciousness and order of contemporary life" (Battiste, 1998, p.7). I had to understand how the vestiges of the colonial relationship as well as the current global political economy affected how my research participants responded to me as well as how I related to them (Said, 1989). Because of the powers that Europeans had in colonial relationships, and the power Westerners continue to have by virtue of their relative wealth, many Fijians continue to treat white westerners such as myself with undue respect. For example, I was often seated beside the highest-ranking woman during *kava* ceremonies. If there were seats on the tourist boat to the mainland, I would be given priority over Fijians waiting for a seat. Recognizing my place in the local hierarchy gave me a personal understanding of the role of status and relationships in Fijian society.

• . . .

This understanding of my position and the resulting power relations was important for the ethical conduct of my research. This power carried the risk that I could intrude

into people's lives without their consent, manipulate the research subjects and exploit them and their knowledge for my own research purposes without concern about the effects of my research on them. As mentioned before, I attempted to give villagers free choice as to whether to be interviewed, respecting their wishes regarding time and place of the interview. I told them how I hoped my research would be used but explained that what they told me might be read by others in the community or people in positions of power. My responsibility lay in acknowledging the inequitable power relations between others and myself with an attempt to deal with them without pretending the difference did not exist (Haig-Brown & Archibald, 1996, p.250).

I was not totally successful in communicating my purpose for being in the village; even towards the end of my research time, a woman asked me why I was asking all of these questions. While it was difficult to explain my identity as a researcher, I tried not to mistakenly be identified as a tourist, which was the most common role for visitors to the island. I talked frequently about "working," turning down an invitation for tea with an explanation that I had an interview to do or that my trip to Suva was for a meeting with the Ministry of Education. I often sat outside my *bure* where people could see me writing in my journal or taking notes while I read. Many people could understand that I was a student and I explained that I was there to learn from them.

I found the expectations of the Head Teacher and her staff more difficult to manage. They saw me as an education expert from Canada and hoped that I would be able to help them with their most pressing problems, mainly improving exam results and the students' English. Unfortunately, I am not a reading specialist nor do I have much experience teaching English as a second language. Unable to provide the teachers with direct advice

about reading, I helped them access more information, gathering resources from the University of the South Pacific and educators living in Suva.

Gift-giving

Gift-giving became an issue because it is so central to Fijian society, and I felt the need to give something back to the people that had helped me so much. But I did not want to take on the role of foreign benefactor as did many tourists, purchasing stoves and generators and even sponsoring emigrants. In my proposal, I heeded the advice from a researcher with experience in developing countries (Wilson, 1992, p.189), and planned to give the entire village a substantial gift at the end of my research. This plan, however, did not take into account the gift-giving expected from members of the community as part of community celebrations or the sharing that is a regular part of community life.

Whether it is a birthday, a funeral, or the building of a new *bure*, the *kava* ceremony is an important part of the Fijian celebration, and a gift of *kava* is expected, especially from a member of the community such as myself, who is not able to provide food but who has the cash to buy *kava*. Also, as I moved between the three villages, a gift of *kava* was presented to each hosting family upon my arrival and departure. I bought *kava* for the final meetings in the villages. As well, every evening there is at least one gathering of people in a home where *kava* is being served. Over the course of the last year, I bought \$354 (Canadian dollars) worth of *kava*. This recognition of their custom was an important part of my acceptance in the community and after presenting *kava* at one celebration, I was also included in the sharing of the feast, carrying back to my host family a basket of cooked food.

More difficult was responding to the custom of asking for gifts: Fijians are expected to share. For example, when one of the villagers received his retirement pension pay-out, people came to him and asked for help to pay for family ceremonies, boat payments, and building a new house. He gave away \$12 000 of the \$27 000 pension. For most villagers, sharing involved giving away extra fish from a large catch or allowing others to pick mangoes from their large tree. Because I did not have a garden and obviously had money, I was often asked to buy things for people. After each trip to the mainland, I would return with newspapers and bread to share, especially with the extended family with whom I was staying and the leaders of the village in which I was living. While not expensive, these gifts were much appreciated.

My trips to New Zealand and Australia were more difficult as many people asked me to bring things back for them: clothes, rugby shoes, wool. To a degree, Fijians are limited to sharing with their cousins, but, in a way, I was everyone's cousin and so everyone felt free to ask me for gifts. During my trip to Australia, I was fortunate to be given two large suitcases of used clothing that I divided among the 30 families in the village where I was living at the time. Nobody received a great deal, but everyone seemed happy and the village head came to formally thank me for the gifts to the village. Unfortunately, there were times when I was told or I suspected that I had offended someone by not giving them a gift.

As much as possible, I tried to give services rather than purchased gifts. I would mail letters, deliver food to family on the mainland, or get information from government departments and agencies. In particular, I tried to find ways to help the school as a way to give back to everyone on the island. I helped the Head Teacher produce a newsletter that

was given to tourists as part of a fund-raising campaign. I worked with a number of mothers to make a large reading book. I also sometimes taught classes, especially when a teacher was sick, although I did not do this on a regular basis.

I still wanted to give something substantial to the island upon my departure, as planned in my initial research proposal. A gift to the school seemed the most appropriate, as it would benefit the most families. The projects planned by the school committee (a generator, a dormitory, a fence) were beyond my budget. Because the school funds were not well accounted for, I was hesitant to give a donation of cash towards one of these projects. In the end, I purchased a set of encyclopedias, other student reference books, and some teacher resource books.

While I was always questioning whether I was giving enough or not enough and to the right people, I feel that over the course of the time at the research site, I found the right balance. While I did not give as many material goods as some of the foreigners who came for a short holiday or to set up a business, I gave what I felt was appropriate to my position as a member of the community.

Postfieldwork Phase

Some ethical considerations of the postfieldwork phase concern power over voice and representation or misrepresentation that occur as part of the analysis and the writing of the research report and publications. There are also issues of possible exploitation in the dissemination of results and the overall benefits accrued from the research.

Research in and about other cultures is filled with the misrepresentation of 'the Other' (Said, 1989), since less powerful research subjects have no access to what is being

said about them or have no voice to protest. This misrepresentation could be a misunderstanding because another culture was being viewed through a particular perspective. Sharing and discussing my preliminary analysis with research participants, both individually and in the group meetings, and requesting their input into my interpretation provided them with some control over my representation of the research topic and the community (Fine & Weis, 1996; Inuit Tapirisat guidelines in Grenier, 1998, p.88). The analysis, however, is ultimately mine.

My goal of "speaking with instead of speaking for" has implications as well for the writing of my research results. Battiste sees a role for outside researchers in "helping Indigenous people articulate their concerns, but to speak for them is to deny them the self-determining so essential to human progress" (1998, p.15). People in non-Western countries have experienced centuries of being written about and spoken for by European explorers, anthropologists, and researchers representing 'the Other' to a European audience. However, this does not mean that I should not accept my responsibilities as a researcher or that I should not speak at all.

One of the difficulties around telling people's stories concerns anonymity. I have followed ethical guidelines regarding offers of anonymity (Inuit Tapirisat guidelines in Grenier, 1998, p.87) with a recognition that this anonymity is very difficult to ensure within a small community within a small country. In setting the context of the study, as I describe the community, many people in Fiji will be able to identify the specific community. In any case, many local researchers, educators, and staff at the Ministry of Education knew where I was conducting this study. It is a short path then to identifying the one Head Teacher or the one *Turaga ni Koro*. Rather than relying on anonymity, I

have sought approval from the community for what I have written about them. At the group meetings, I told the participants that what we had talked about would be in my written reports, asking and receiving their permission to present their community in this way.

The final dissertation will be sent to the community. Historically, Indigenous communities and individuals have been exploited as they have provided time and commitment to outside research projects that have taken the resulting knowledge out of the community. Although my research does not involve collecting disappearing historical data or indigenous scientific knowledge, it is still incumbent upon me to share the results with the community. Copies of this dissertation will also be given to the University of the South Pacific as well as the National Ministry of Education.

While I write this, distance prevents an ongoing discussion with the community members about what is being written about them. Nevertheless, the time I spent getting to know individuals in the community and knowing that I will be returning to the island guarantees that I am always conscious of how they may respond to what I have written. Even if they do not read the dissertation themselves, they will likely know what has been written as the results of this research are distributed in Fiji.

I have no delusions that my research will change the nature of community-school relations in developing countries, but I do believe that a greater understanding of these relations is important for educators, government ministries, non-governmental organizations, and international funding agencies. The people who have given their support by participating in my study have trusted that there is some importance to it. I have a responsibility then to write articles and make presentations to organizations in

Fiji, Canada and elsewhere, sharing with those who decide educational policy, based on what the people of Totoka have so freely shared with me.

With these ethical considerations in mind, I move to a description of the country of Fiji and the community of Totoka.

•

4. THE COUNTRY OF FIJI AND THE COMMUNITY OF TOTOKA

Because this study was conducted within a particular community it is important to understand some of the context within which this community existed. Fiji was a country with a strong traditional culture as well as generations of British influence as a British colony. While not a full discussion of each of these topics, the following section gives a further description of Fiji, its history, current economic and social situation, culture, and its education system.

Political History

The Republic of the Fiji Islands is a group of over 300 tropical islands in the South Pacific. There are two large islands where the majority of the population lives and several groupings of smaller islands spread throughout 1.3 million sq km of ocean.

In the 18th and 19th centuries, the Melanesian peoples of the islands had formed "small, kin-structured chiefdoms" (Routledge, 1985, p.66) engaged in on-going battles for political power. Among the European traders, the Fijians developed a reputation as being ferocious cannibals, effectively limiting the amount of contact with European colonial powers.

It was European and Tongan Christian Methodist missionaries who effected a great change in Fiji in the 35 years after they landed in 1835. Ravuvu proposes that

Today hardly any Fijian would deny the efficacy of Christian religion in influencing and changing the life of the indigenous people from one in which barbaric practices were the order of the day to that in which peace, neighbourly love and tolerance are emphasised. (1988, p.24) While Ravuvu's statement seems to denigrate pre-Christian Fijian life, it is representative of many Fijians' feelings towards Christianity. The influence of the churches, especially the Methodist church, in everyday life as well as educational, political and economic spheres, continues into the 21st century.

With European imperial powers carving out colonies throughout the Pacific in the 19th century, Eastern Fijian high chiefs preemptively ceded the Fijian Islands to British rule (Lal, 1983, p.7). Weighing the options, the Fijian chiefs decided that British rule would be most advantageous to themselves. Without consent of Western or Interior Fijian chiefs, Fiji became a British colony in 1874. The early Colonial government had as its over-arching goal the policy of protecting the indigenous Fijians, to "shelter the native inhabitants from the competitive pressures of the modern world, and allow them to proceed at their own pace under the paternalistic hand of the government" (Lal, 1983, p.8). As a result of this policy of preserving Fijian culture, workers were brought in from India to work the sugar plantations. There is some speculation that immigrant labour was necessary because Fijians were poor workers. However, others believe that the Governor's policy of indentured labour was an attempt to preserve Fijian connections to their land and thereby protect their culture (Lal, 1983, p.9). Another factor favouring indentured labour from India would have been the declining Fijian population, which was being decimated by European diseases.

In addition, the chiefs, by whose invitation the British were in Fiji, opposed recruiting men to work in the coastal plantations. In their letter to the governor they stated their preference for Fijian men to stay to work in their villages:

If they remain at or near their homes and worked there, the benefits they would receive would be comparatively greater than those they receive by hiring themselves out to distant places as labourers. (in Lal, 1983, p.8)

This period of colonial law, known as Native Affairs Regulations, was in effect until World War II (Ravuvu, 1988) and allowed the British colonial government to attempt to preserve a traditional culture and allowed the Fijian chiefs to maintain their traditional powers over Fijians. Contrary to the belief that the Fijians were lazy, it was these restrictive Fijian laws that limited Fijian economic activity to subsistence fishing and farming, keeping them out of the wage labour force.

In theory, the indentured labourer system provided labour for British plantations while providing poor Indian families a chance to make some money. An indenture fee was deducted by the employer to pay for the return passage to India. Between the years of 1879 to 1911, 60 965 immigrants were taken to Fiji, representing the range of Hindu castes and also Muslim and Christian groups (Lal, 1983, p.13). Very few labourers were ever repatriated and generations later, Fiji had become their home.

In Fiji, the term "Indian" is used to refer to the Indo-Fijians, while "Fijian" refers specifically to indigenous Fijians. I have adopted this common usage throughout this dissertation.

Governor Gordon's stance toward the Fijians included other policies meant to ensure continuation of their society as it existed in the late 1800's. They were guaranteed to have the land that they needed for their villages and farms and as a result, in 1998 over 90 percent of the land in Fiji was owned communally by the traditional clans, the *mataqali* (Osman, 1998, p.9). This land could not be sold but only leased to farmers, businesses, government ministries, and schools. Another 1800's regulation limited the free

movement of Fijians, requiring permission to leave their village and allowing only those working for the church or the government to live for extended periods away from their village (Ravuvu, 1988, p.48). While these policies were restrictive, Fijian culture at the end of the 20th century was strong and had not suffered the degradation seen in many indigenous cultures.

This is a short summary of some of the aspects of Fijian history that have been strong influences on the Fijian school system: British colonial powers and their church, land ownership, the mass immigration of Indians. The traditional Fijian society and culture are described in more detail in a section of their own, as is the actual history of the Fijian school system.

The Republic of the Fiji Islands peacefully achieved its independence from Britain in 1970. However, its history of competing chieftainships, ethnic divisions, and land ownership contributed to three coups, two in 1987 and one in 2000. The unstable political situation following these coups resulted in the emigration of professionals, including teachers, and an overall downturn in the economy.

Economic and Social Indicators

While Fiji may be categorized as a developing country, the people of Fiji enjoyed a relatively positive economic and social environment, compared to other developing countries. On the Human Development Index, measuring life expectancy, education, and standard of living, Fiji rates fourth in the Pacific and 101 out of just over 200 nations globally (UNDP, 1999, p.13). UNICEF uses a measure of under-5 mortality rate to indicate the satisfaction of basic human needs to a population. Fiji ranks 118th, on par

with Argentina, Jordan and the Ukraine (UNDP, 1999, p.93). Other indices also show that the benefits of Fiji's economy, education, and health services are fairly equally distributed to both genders (UNDP, 1999, p.23).

All of the South Pacific countries face the challenge of providing their citizens with a "secure, sustainable livelihood that meets their aspirations" (UNDP, 1999, p.73). The rich natural resources of Fiji allowed those with access to farmland and fishing rights to secure their basic needs through subsistence farming and fishing. However, the wish to improve their living conditions by the purchase of goods such as imported food stuffs, fuel, outboard motors, and generators moves most families into the cash economy.

In 1986, 20% of Fijians were involved in the formal economy receiving a wage, 34% were involved in the informal economy including self-employment and selling fish and produce, and 46% were categorized as not economically active (UNDP, 1999, p. 74), although many of these would be involved in unreported activities, such as occasional handicraft sales to tourists or reselling store goods out of their homes. By 1998, there were more opportunities for wage employment in the garment and tourism industries, many however, provided low wages and little job security. The 1998 official unemployment rate was reported at 7.5% (UNDP, 1999, p. 109); however, the Bank of Hawaii's *Economic Report* warns that unemployment and underemployment, a result of part-time and seasonal employment, was much higher (Osman, 1998, p. 16). Therefore, a job in the public sector was highly regarded, providing secure, relatively well-paid employment.

While the majority of Fiji's citizens enjoy a good standard of living compared to people in other developing countries, there are a number of factors that could easily

threaten their ability to provide the necessities for their families. As mentioned in the discussion of Fiji's history, the country is susceptible to political instability that weakens the economy and puts pressure on existing social services. Fiji is also highly vulnerable to natural disasters including cyclones, floods, droughts, and earthquakes (UNDP, 1999, p. 30). While death tolls resulting from these disasters may not be large, the subsequent loss of garden produce, potable water, and fishing periodically leaves many families in desperate conditions.

For many Fijian families, the natural resources of their traditional lands and fishing grounds provides them with their basic needs. Cash income by some members of the family helps ensure the security of the family during natural disasters. Cash income also gives families an opportunity to enjoy luxuries such as a generator for electric lights or an outboard motor for their boat.

In summary, Fiji is on the verge of being a stable economy although it is still heavily dependent on the natural resources of the land and ocean. While not economically rich, many people in Fiji are able to support their families off these readily accessible natural resources. A growing economy is allowing many families to secure a better standard of living.

Culture

The following is not meant to be a complete description of the Fijian culture as space and time do not permit a full description, it was not the focus of my research, and it was not possible for me to come to understand the culture in a short two years. What is presented here is an overview of some of the facets of the culture that I came to recognize

as important to an understanding of the interactions between the community that is part of the Fijian culture and the school, which operates under a different culture.

Fijian culture is not homogeneous throughout the islands, nor are its traditions unchanging, but the values from which the traditions spring persist despite the changes in language, dress, or economy (Hau'ofa, 1985, p. 155). While Fijians are drawn to progress and change, "it is noticeable that people who 'make it' in the big world fall back on tradition when they find life in the other world too trying and cumbersome" (Ravuvu, 1988, p. 6). I have relied heavily on the literature written by Pacific Islanders to explain the complexities of these traditional values and how they affect everyday life.

Hau'ofa (1985) lists eight of the most important indigenous values: group interest, sharing of goods and services, sense of place and social continuity, intimacy in interpersonal relationships, oral traditions, self-sufficiency and self-reliance, care for members of society, and arts and entertainment integrated into community life. He was not writing of specifically Fijian values but of values that he believes are common throughout the Pacific; however his list is supported by Fijian authors' descriptions of traditional Fijian life (Nayacakalou, 1978; Ravuvu, 1988) and is a useful introduction to Fijian life.

Group interest is often called communalism in contrast to the individualism of most Western societies. The welfare of the group comes before the rights of the individual. Basic needs are met through the social and cultural framework of the kin group and "individualism is loathed and discouraged for the sake of group solidarity and harmony" (Ravuvu, 1988, p. 14). In Fiji, this is most pronounced in the communal ownership of land, where the *mataqali*, a large extended family grouping, holds land and fishing rights.

Individuals are given land to work but are not able to sell that land (Nayacakalou, 1978, pp. 110-111).

The group interest is often seen in Totoka in the communal sharing of work, where a group of men go together to plant yams, women gather to weave a mat needed by one of them, or students freely copy each other's answers. This group interest is extended to the sharing of goods rather than accumulation by one person. It is usually a large catch of fish or a ripening mango tree that is shared, but includes purchased food, clothes, and books. An important tradition in Fijian society is that of kerekere, which is perhaps inaccurately defined by the Fijian dictionary as begging (Capell, 1991). Ravuvu (1988, p. xiii) defines it as a request, and Fijians use the word as an equivalent to the English word, "please." So, in the village, my hostess might tell me to go to her sister and "kerekere" some lemons. But it is not a request that can easily be denied, especially to siblings and cousins. Nayacakalou (1978) gives examples of *kerekere* which show it as a complex, formalised system of exchange of goods, including money, and services. As well as a system for the distribution of goods, kerekere also cements relationships as there is an expectation of return in kind some day. "In this context, any social action becomes an economic action and vice versa" (Ravuvu, 1988, p. 9); kerekere therefore is an important aspect of the traditional Fijian economic system.

There is a sense of place and social continuity as personal identities are tied to a place and to kinship ties. When asked, urban Fijians will inevitably identify themselves as being from a village or *vanua*, even though they may never have lived there. The *vanua* may be defined as the larger political unit that the *mataqali* members belong to. But it is more than that; "a very strong triad which links living people, the physical areas

upon which they thrive, and the spirit world of dead ancestors and other cosmological entities" (Ravuvu, 1988, p. 6). The *vanua* is more than land or ancestors, "It is the Fijian worldview, ethos, and cosmos, all living and non-living things wrapped in one" (Thaman, 1997, p. 15).

There is intimacy, or close familiarity, in interpersonal relationships, even "business" relationships. Common to many small, subsistence economic communities, personalized relationships are the basis for social, political, and even economic activity. The dependence one has on the relationships with others in order to survive strengthens the relationships, often based on kinship.

Although most Fijian adults are literate⁸, oral traditions continues to be an important part of life, especially through the stories and sharing that happens around the kava bowl. Hau'ofa contends that these oral traditions include the understanding that the teller has control over the facts of the story, shaping the truth for a purpose (1985, pp. 157-158).

The people of Fiji are proud of being self-sufficient and self-reliant. While individuals depend on others for survival, the community as a whole is self-sufficient, with the skills to take advantage of the natural resources. Living a subsistence lifestyle often carries the implication of being impoverished, but in the Pacific islands the necessities for life are readily available in the immediate environment, providing a comfortable life.

The close kinship ties and communal nature of the society provide a secure environment for all members of the community, including the old or disabled. The chief

 $^{^{8}}$ A preliminary report on the 1996 government census shows a literacy rate of 95% for males and 91% for females (UNDP, 1999:105).

functions as provider and protector, demanding services and tribute from the people under his authority, redistributing goods to provide emergency relief, to reward services, and to provide for community feasts.

Villagers did not begrudge such material expenses and services for the chief were merely a channel through which community services were provided, and the villagers identified the chiefs' affluence with community affluence. (Ravuvu, 1988, p. 174)

The chief who makes decisions is usually related to those who implements the decisions, so his authority is based as much on a close personal relationship as on an inherited authority.

Government laws and democratic rights undermine traditional authoritative leadership in Fiji (Ravuvu, 1988, p. 173). The chief no longer holds absolute authority in a community and the people often look to the legal system to settle disputes. The chief is more often a figurehead, serving as a mediator, rather than the ultimate law.

Arts and entertainment are integrated into community life. While Pacific Islanders are often described as fun-loving and easy-going, Hau'ofa explains this attitude as a result of the integration of the arts and entertainment into everyday life. It is not easy to tell the difference between work and leisure as the group activities including gardening, fishing, house-building, and food preparation appear to be as much a source of entertainment as necessary for survival. A sense of ceremony as well as fun are part of most everyday activities. While willing to work hard for their community and family, Fijians are not prepared to accept "a life of joyless toil" (Hau'ofa, 1985, p. 105).

Many of these Fijian values are represented in the *yagona* or *kava* ceremony. *Kava* is a drink made from the dried root of a type of pepper plant. The root is pounded and water

is infused through the powder. The drink is neither alcoholic nor a restricted drug but it does have a calming effect on the nervous system. *Kava* pills can be bought in North American health food stores as a natural relaxant. But the facts about *kava* do not convey the importance of the drink in Fijian society. While some of the details described below may be specific to the community of Totoka, the substance of the ceremony is common throughout the islands.

In the traditional ceremony, the hierarchical nature of Fijian society is immediately evident. The *kava* bowl divides the area, with the chief sitting directly in front of the bowl and any high-ranking people, including women and guests, sitting beside him. Everyone else is crowded in rows behind the *kava* bowl. But both levels of the hierarchy are included, for after the first bowl is presented to the chief, a second bowl is presented to someone sitting behind the bowl. The woven coconut sinnet which extends from the *kava* bowl towards the chief is a strong symbol of the link between the people and their *vanua*, represented by the chief.

The *kava* ceremony is an important element in the economic system, providing a formal opportunity to make requests as well as time to solidify the interpersonal relationships. Almost any important request that is made between Fijians is initiated through a presentation of *kava*. A village member presents *kava* to the chief in order to *kerekere* a garden plot for his son. When requesting assistance from another village, a chief will present *kava* to the neighbouring chief. The parents of a new school teacher from a different community will present *kava* to a *mataqali* in the community to request that they 'adopt' the teacher while he or she teaches there. Tourists present *kava* to a village to ask permission to visit the village or anchor their yacht in their area. After the

formal ceremonial opening, the *kava* drinking becomes a relaxed time for discussion and story-telling, further cementing relationships.

In Fijian culture, group interest and the relationships within that group are highly valued. These relationships are strengthened through the sharing of resources and a common sense of place and identity. While individuals are dependent on the group and responsible for each other, the group is self-sufficient. Ceremonies, such as the *kava* ceremony, reinforce the relationships within and amongst groups.

Education

Fiji's relatively high ranking on the Human Development Index is partially due to a high adult literacy rate (UNDP, 1999, p. 12), the result of a well-established education system. This section looks at the history of the education system in Fiji as well as the current organization of schools, including school structure, school committees, and teacher training. Finally, education statistics for Fiji are compared to other Pacific Island and developing countries.

History

The Fijian system of education reflects a history common to most colonized countries, a drastic change from traditional education to a formalized system based on a European colonial power, in this case Great Britain. Of particular interest, is the history that led to most of the schools in Fiji being managed by local school committees.

Prior to formal schooling being introduced by Europeans, Fijian society had a system of informal and non-formal education, imparting pragmatic knowledge necessary for individual survival and continuation of the society. Through observation and imitation of

adults and older siblings, children learned survival skills such as food gathering and preparation as well as the behaviour necessary to be accepted as a member of the community. The community's history, values, and view of the universe were also passed on by the sharing of stories and legends by elders in the community. In the late 20th century, formal schooling had not replaced these traditional modes of education, but instead the two forms existed side by side, especially in rural areas where extended families still depended on subsistence activities (Baba, 1986, p. 122). Children continued to learn the traditional skills and values necessary for survival through observation and imitation.

Some aspects of traditional education are particularly relevant to this study. First of all, parents are not necessarily the focus of educational activities. Elder members of society, both male and female, play important roles as did older siblings and members of the extended family such as aunts, uncles, and cousins (Baba, 1986, p. 121-122).

Secondly, education takes place within an oral tradition. Hau'ofa explains that rather than being tied to their cultural traditions, members of an oral society, particularly the story tellers, are able to adapt and change the story, with the result that

The recording and communication of ideas, of customary laws, genealogies, historical events, and rights and obligations of all kinds were very flexible, creative, and highly politicised. Truth was, and still is to a large extent, negotiable. (1985, p. 157)

This view of truth as a flexible entity has repercussions for the researcher, as I explained previously in the discussion on research methods.

Hau'ofa discusses how entertainment is a part of all group activities even serious ones such as funerals or education. Many *kava* sessions include a group of men singing

traditional and popular Fijian songs. Singing of hymns is a regular part of school activities and the students learn traditional dances and songs which they perform for the community as well as for tourists. Hau'ofa describes life in a Fijian village as full of "the enjoyment of life and sense of fun"(1985, p. 159). This sense of fun extends to school activities outside of the classroom, such as yard clean-up or school performances.

While there is a great sense of fun in Fijian life and in aspects of school life, there is also an emphasis on obedience and respect. Mara, Foliaki, and Coxon explain that hierarchical societies require the reinforcement of obedience and respect through their education system (1994, p. 182). These aspects can be seen in education in Fiji today, where the traditional hierarchy is replicated in the classroom and where total obedience and respect are expected towards the teacher, who imparts knowledge without question or criticism.

The British Colonial government of Fiji did not set out to create a colonial education system; Governor Gordon purposely chose not to provide education for his Fijian subjects in an attempt to avoid the destruction of culture and society that he had witnessed in Africa and attributed to education (Tavola, 1991, p. 12). From the arrival of the first missionaries in 1836, through cession to Britain in 1874, until the 1916 Education Ordinance, formal schooling in Fiji was provided by the Christian missions. Largely through the conversion of chiefs and through their subsequent decrees, many Fijian children attended these mission schools. The Methodist schools were small, located in the villages, and used Fijian teachers who taught in the vernacular. The aim was to teach a level of literacy, usually four years, to enable the children to read the Bible. The strong influence of the church and this interlinked history of church and

school had a profound effect on education in Fiji. The fear of being labelled "heathen" or "uncivilised" became equated with being "stupid" or "uneducated." Ravuvu saw the school and the church being viewed as "sacred institutions" with the result that

The fear and shame of being categorised as being *tamata lialia* (stupid) or *tawa vuli* (uneducated) has put great pressure on people to send their children to school (1988, p. 36).

The Catholics, on the other hand, set up centralized, academic schools which taught in English. The sons of the Fijian chiefs were also offered the opportunity to attend the schools provided for the British families living in Fiji and many of Fiji's elder statesmen went on to further education in England. For example, Ratu Sir Lala Sukuna, a Fijian senior administrator in the Colonial government, received a degree from Oxford as did Ratu Sir Kamisese Mara who was Fiji's first Prime Minister (Firth & Tarte, 2001). The small mission schools and centralized elite schools became the basis of Fiji's formal education system, with Fijians accustomed to basic education being readily available to all of their children, with special opportunities for a select few (Tavola, 1991, pp.7-12).

The government also saw no need to educate the indentured Indians that they had brought to Fiji as unskilled labourers. But it was pressure from the Indo-Fijian communities, as they started to establish their own schools outside of the mission churches, that initiated the move to a national education system, based on communitymanaged schools (Tavola, 1991, pp. 10-11). This was the impetus for the development of an education system where local communities have a great deal of responsibility and control over their schools. Responding to the public demand for education, in 1916 the colonial government agreed to provide teachers and oversee curricula and testing for communities that built and managed their own schools. In 1927, 80 % of indigenous

Fijian children were attending school, although rarely beyond four years. By 1931, most of the Methodist mission schools were handed over to local committees (Tavola, 1991, pp. 15-17) and these local school committees, formed by religious or cultural organizations, or out of traditional leadership groups, became an important part of the Fijian education system.

This history has resulted in a school system that is segregated in many ways. School committees with members recruited from community, church, and cultural organizations tend to be either exclusively Indian or exclusively Fijian. For example, a Muslim school will have committee members from the Muslim community and will therefore be predominantly Indian. Students can attend any school and therefore both Indian and Fijian students may attend the same school; however, schools are referred to by parents and students as an "Indian school" or a "Fijian school," based on the constituency of the school committee.

Despite the considerable involvement of local communities, up until 1968 the Fijian school system was still based on the British school system, both in structure and curriculum. Many of the teachers provided by the government came from overseas, mainly from England or New Zealand. There was little local input into what was taught in the schools as the curriculum was provided by the national government and imported, almost in its entirety, from England and New Zealand, teaching the Fijian students about a geography, history, biology, and society of which they had no experience (Whitehead, 1987). Ram, a Deputy Secretary of the Fiji Ministry of Education described how what was learned in school was removed from the real life of the students.

Studying a banana or a rice plantation or the way of life of the people of the South Pacific was not education then; it was too much a part of our life to be education. We learnt that Sheffield was famous for cutlery but we were not taught that there was a goldmine in Vatukoula. We read about the exploits of Perseus and King Arthur but there were no books available about the beautiful legends of the South Pacific. (1975, p. 24)

Besides the foreign facts that were part of the curriculum, the schools had a different

culture with a different set of acceptable behaviours than those of the village.

Formal education ... has undermined established values and beliefs and created new ones which are often not in harmony with existing traditional systems. In schools, individuals are taught to stand up when an honoured visitor enters, while the traditional mode is for them to sit down. They are encouraged to be vocal and to question the authority of the senior members of the community, which is anathema in custom. (Ravuvu, 1988, p. 36)

In 1968, a curriculum reform was started and ten years of localised curriculum were completed by 1984 (Tavola, 1991, p. 43); however, the current Fijian education system continued to reflect a British influence, especially in the classroom culture.

Organization

The formal school system is organized on a British model of twelve years of schooling, with examinations for promotion to the next level. Boarding schools are common especially in the rural communities. While there is a great deal of local control, the national government controls education through the Fiji Ministry of Education.

One of the obvious signs of British influence is the use of the term "class" for primary grades and "form" for secondary grades. However, in Fiji, there is not a simple progression from Class 1 through Class 6 and then on to Form 1 through 6.

In the 1960's, primary schools provided eight years of education (Class 1 to 8) and secondary schools provided four years of secondary education (Form 3 to 6) (Tavola,

2000d, p.29). The 1969 Royal Commission recommended a change to six years of primary (Class 1 to 6) and four years of secondary (Form 1 to 4) provided at Junior Secondary Schools. Qualifying students could then advance to two further years at a senior college. The Junior Secondary Schools were to be built throughout the rural areas and provide a practical curriculum for rural students (Tavola, 1991;36).

These reforms have not been successful. Responding to community pressure, many junior secondary school committees have gradually added Forms 5 and 6, focussing on an academic curriculum rather than vocational or agricultural curricula (Hindson, 1985, pp. 140-143). Consequently, there is an overlapping of the terms "class" and "form," so that Class 7 and 8 corresponds to Form 1 and 2. Primary schools can teach up to Class 6 or Class 8. Students can go from Class 6 in a primary school to Form 1 in a secondary school. Or they can stay in a primary school up to Class 8 and then go on to Form 3 in a secondary school. Table 2 shows this school structure as well as the five external examinations set by the Ministry of Education (Tavola, 2000d, p. 30). The failure of this 1970's reform is a further indication of the ability of local communities to change the Fijian education system to suit their own goals.

Most isolated schools provide schooling up to Class 8. Because Totoka is on an outlying island and has a school for Class 1 to 8, I will refer to Class 1 to 8 as primary education and Form 3 to 7 as secondary education.

Age	Year of schooling	Class	Form	Examination
6	1	1		
7	2	2		
8	3	3		
9	4	4		
10	5	5		
11	6	6		Fiji Intermediate Examination
12	7	7	1	
13	8	8	2	Fiji Eighth Year Examination
14	9		3	
15	10		4	Fiji Junior Certificate Examination
16	11		5	
17	12		6	Fiji School Leaving Certificate
18	13		7	Fiji Seventh Form Examination

Table 2 Progression of School Classes

For many Fijian adults, their experience was to leave their families when they were 6 years old, going with their older siblings and cousins to a school on a neighbouring island. Where transportation was slow or unreliable, these children would not return to their village or see their parents until the end of the term.

Although communities are encouraged to build their own schools, it is not feasible for every village to have a school within daily commuting distance. In many rural areas, both on small islands and in isolated valleys, children attend a boarding school starting from Class 1, although with modern buses and outboard motors, they are often able to return home on the weekends. On an island in the same region as Totoka, a boarding school serves the four villages spread around the island. There are no roads, so while the children from the closest village can walk to school everyday, the other children go by boat. On Sunday afternoon, a boat will pick the children up and by the time it leaves the third village, it is crowded with children whose singing can be heard across the water (Journal entry).

Throughout Fiji, in order to reduce the costs of running the boarding schools, parents usually take turns doing the cooking for the children. Food is very basic; rice or cassava and lentil soup is common in many schools, although this would be similar to their basic diet at home. Students usually bring a bag of rice, cassava, or coconuts with them each Monday to be used through the week. Even fish is rare, as schools have no refrigeration and no one to catch fish during the week.

Some after-school supervision is provided by the teachers who lived in teachers' housing on the school grounds. But often it is the Head Boy and Head Girl, a senior student, who is in charge of the other students.

Fiji's education system is remarkable for its partnership between community and state. The community has a great deal of responsibility for education through school committees, but the state also contributes through the Ministry of Education in fairly substantial ways. The 1978 Education Act defines the following roles as responsibilities of the Ministry of Education (Tavola, 2000d, p.24):

- Administration and policy making,
- Registering and monitoring schools,

- Providing advisory services,
- Setting curriculum and designing materials,
- External examinations,
- Training, licensing, and employing teachers,
- Grants for tuition, buildings, and other purposes.

There is criticism about how well the ministry fulfills these duties (Bacchus, 2000a, p.369-388); however, of most interest to this study about the interactions between the school and the community are the problems with this partnership concerning the governance of schools. Whitehead is critical of this "voluntary control of schools" (1987, p. 90), particularly as it hinders the government's abilities to determine education priorities. Tavola also finds that the partnership between community and government "is the root cause of the government's inability to effectively control the education system" (1991, p. 153). Both Whitehead and Tavola agree that because it appears to be the most economical means of providing education in Fiji, the partnership between the Ministry of Education and school committees will continue.

School Committees

As explained earlier in the history of education in Fiji, local school committees are an important feature of the Fijian education system. Of 715 primary schools in the country, only two schools are owned and managed by the government, 74% by local committees and the remainder by religious and cultural organizations or special education societies (Tavola, 2000d, p. 27). These committees vary in their structure, but their responsibilities are set out in the Education Act.

The composition of the school committee varies depending on the original purpose for the school. If the school was established and is funded by a religious or a cultural

organization, then the school committee members will be drawn from that organization. It is possible that there can be no parents on the school committee or that the community served by the school has no representation on the school committee at all. However, if the school was established by a village or several villages, then it is more likely that the entire school committee comes from the community, although not necessarily comprised of parents of children attending the school.

Reflecting the patriarchal nature of current Fijian society, very few women are represented on school committees. Helen Tavola, a Fijian researcher, recommends setting a minimum level of 30% representation by women on school committees (2000b, p. 261).

The role of the school committee is set out in the 1978 Education Act (Tavola, 2000d, p. 28). In general, a committee's responsibility is to manage the financial and physical resources of the school, which more specifically has come to mean the construction and maintenance of school buildings, including hostels and teachers' houses. The school committee is also responsible for the management of the grants received from the Ministry of Education for the purchase of textbooks, teachers' resources, and school supplies; however, most school committees find these funds insufficient for the running of a school. Many of their efforts therefore are directed towards fund-raising.

There are frequent stories in the Fiji newspapers about school fund-raisers, particularly the fairs in which students participate. These are often organized around school or community groups competing to raise the most money. Many of the fundraising events involve the school alumnae, called Old Boys and Old Girls Clubs. A more simplified method of raising funds involves asking each student's family to donate a specified amount to the school.

Financing of Education

Financing education in Fiji is the joint responsibility of the government and the school committees; however, community organizations, parents, and international aid agencies all contribute. There are no statistics on the breakdown of this joint financing, Whitehead estimates that in 1987 non-governmental contributions might have been 20% for primary education and up to 40% for secondary education (1987, p. 91).

Education in Fiji is officially free for the first 10 years of education. The government pays most teachers' salaries directly. Tuition grants are provided to primary schools based on size and to secondary schools based on a per student basis for Form 1 to 4 and to Form 5 for designated disadvantaged schools (Bacchus, 2000c, p.442). School committees can apply for government grants for building construction, libraries, textbooks, and transportation. Individual families can apply for government assistance for tuition fees for Form 5, 6, and 7 and for boarding fees.

As explained previously, the school committees are responsible for the school's financial management. Because they receive government tuition grants, school committees can not levy tuition fees but are allowed to collect textbook, building, activity, and other fees (Bacchus, 2000c, p. 444). While some school committees are able to finance the school through income from commercial properties, church donations (Tavola, 1991, p.89), or cultural organization funds, many committees, particularly in rural areas, depend on community fund-raising events to top-up the government grants. Despite the official policy of ten years of free education, Fijian families are still expected to contribute financially to their children's education.

In 1996, the Coordinating Committee for Children estimated that the cost to parents was \$150 to \$200 for each primary student and \$300 to \$450 for each secondary student (Save the Children Fund, 1998, p. 12-13). A newspaper story reported that the cost of sending a child to secondary school was more than \$200 per term (Fiji Post, June 29, 2000). This included buying school uniforms and paying school fees but did not include transportation costs or additional fund-raising expectations. The 1998 Fiji Bureau of Statistics reported that most rural Fijian families made less than \$4000 per year. With a cost of more than \$600 for three terms of a school year, a family could spend over 15% of its entire income on sending one child to secondary school. However in 1999, a single mother in Totoka who worked at the resort for \$50 a week and made about \$2500 a year, could spend almost one-quarter of her income to send her one daughter to secondary school.

The government, school committees, and individual families rely on aid from international agencies to cover the cost of education. The Ministry of Education receives development assistance from a number of countries as well as multilateral organizations such as UNICEF and UNESCO. Some of this money goes to fund ministry initiatives such as curriculum development and some is re-directed to specific schools through grant programs (Bacchus, 2000c, p. 446-47).

School committees can apply to the Ministry of Education for these grants, but many school committees apply directly to government embassies located in Fiji or to international organizations such as the Rotary or Lions. Organizations such as Fiji Save the Children Fund and Fiji Council of Social Services help cover the costs of education

for students. Individual families can apply for assistance in paying school fees and transportation costs.

, Curriculum

This study does not include an intensive analysis of the curriculum, but there are topics that are important to explain briefly for background information. Issues of curriculum in Fiji are similar to those of other former colonies: academic versus vocational schooling, language of instruction, inclusion of local material including culture, and standardized testing.

Many developing countries face controversy about whether to provide an academic curriculum or a vocational education, often including agricultural subject matter. In 2000, Fiji was still in the midst of this debate as academics and planners lobbied for more relevant education for the subsistence, agricultural lifestyle that many rural students would return to after their education, while students and their families preferred an academic curriculum. This is an important debate that is discussed in more detail in a later chapter; a quick overview is presented here.

Fiji's official policy is ten years of education for everyone. This expectation that all students will go on to two years of secondary education means that primary schools focus on literacy and numeracy, preparing students to write the Intermediate and Eighth Year exams. Primary schools focus on the core subjects including English, Mathematics, Basic Science, Social Science and Health. While many schools have gardens that the students tend, there is not the focus on vocational education at the primary level that has been seen in some developing countries.

When students go on to secondary school, they have the choice of taking an academic or a vocational program. Some schools offer both, while other schools focus on one or the other. Although some choice is available, the majority of submissions to the Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel comment that secondary schooling is too academic, with a focus on preparing students to enter university (Tavola, 2000c, p. 106). Recommendations for reform varies, but two themes are for a more liberal education preparing an all-round citizen with the "skills for life" (p.107) and preparing students to enter the workforce after school, learning a specific skill or a trade. Williams finds that "the skills recognised as being relevant and appropriate include those that are linked to tourism, fishing, motor mechanics, IT technology, agriculture, art, music, and sport" (2000, p. 213).

The official policy of the Ministry of Education is that the mother tongue (Hindi or Fijian) is the language of instruction for the first three years of education, with English being taught as a second language. Starting in Class 4, English officially becomes the language of instruction, with all standardized examinations, starting in Class 6, being written in English (Subramani, 2000a, p. 290).

In practice, few schools follow this policy. Most urban schools with a multi-lingual student population start in Class 1 teaching full-time in English, the common language for all students. Rural schools, where all the students speak a common language, tend to use that language as the main language of instruction throughout Class 1 to 8.

A further complication to the language policy is that it assumed a common Fijian language; however, there are 27 dialects across the country with considerable differences among them (Geraghty, 1984, p. 378). Mugler (1996, p. 279) notes that the differences

between a western dialect and *Bauan*, the official dialect from the east, is great enough for them to be considered two different languages. Unless teachers are from the local area, they speak a dialect different from that of their students, so their instruction is in *Bauan*, rather than the students' local dialect. All curriculum materials and the Fijian language test are in *Bauan*, so many Fijian students actually start learning *Bauan* in Grade 1 along with learning English.

At Totoka Village School, the students came to school speaking the local dialect, started learning *Bauan* and English in Class 1, and wrote tests in *Bauan* and English in Class 6. Like many rural Fijian schools, there was more Fijian spoken in the classrooms than English, even in Class 8. The situation in Totoka was somewhat unique in that three of the teachers spoke the local dialect. The teachers would say something in English, but then explain it in *Bauan* or the local dialect.

Fiji no longer uses the New Zealand curriculum in its schools and in 1989, a Fijian exam replaced the New Zealand School Leaving Certificate (Tavola, 2000d, p. 23). However, the curriculum still shows the influence of a colonial past.

The Institute of Education at the University of the South Pacific in Suva produces Fijian and English reading material written by local authors. But two of the books in use as core reading texts are, for secondary school children, *I Heard the Owl Call my Name*, the story of a new teacher in an isolated Canadian First Nations community, and *Swiss Family Robinson*, for Class 8. *Swiss Family Robinson* tells the story of an English family shipwrecked on an island. Perhaps this book was chosen because of the tropical island setting, but the island's inhabitants are referred to as savages and there are bears and

ostriches on the island, two animals foreign to Fijian children. Providing culturally appropriate materials is still a challenge in Fiji.

National standardized testing is a prevalent feature of Fijian education. The place of the five tests in the education system is shown in Table 2. All of the tests are written in English, except for the subjects of Fijian or Hindu. Fijian secondary schools use both the Fiji Intermediate and Fiji Eighth Year Examinations to screen prospective students. The Intermediate Exam written in the sixth year allows students to apply for places in secondary schools in Form 1. The Eighth Year Exam is used by most rural students to apply for Form 3. There is no official pass score for the exams, but secondary schools use the scores to select students. In Fiji, students are free to apply for any school in the country they wish to attend, regardless of geographic location, religious, or cultural designation. More importantly, they apply for schools according to their exam scores, with the most elite schools being able to set very high entrance requirements.

Testing was a major discussion issue with educators and a major concern for parents, students, and teachers. When I first met other researchers at the University of the South Pacific, one of them pointedly suggested that I should be researching the standardized exams and how to abolish them. The tests were attributed to limiting the type of teaching in the classroom, becoming the focus for the school year and being a false evaluation of schools, teachers, and students (Sadler, 2000, pp. 344-368).

Teachers

Unlike many other developing countries, Fiji has a large corps of trained and relatively well-paid professional teachers. The majority of teachers in Fiji are trained

locally at one of the two Teachers' Colleges in Fiji or at the University of the South Pacific. They are paid by the government and so are considered civil servants, a position that provides both respect and security. There are opportunities through the Ministry of Education for professional development, many programs are sponsored by aid agencies such as UNICEF's Basic Education and Literacy Program and the Fiji Australia Basic Education Management and Teacher Upgrading Project.

Especially in the rural areas, teachers are regarded with respect: they are often the only persons in the community with post-secondary education, they are employed by the government, receive a regular wage in a subsistence community, and they fit easily into the hierarchical structure of traditional Fiji society. This standing in the community often puts them in positions of community leadership as illustrated in Community Education: Project Reports (Kedrayate, 1997), where many of the project leaders were either teachers or enlisted a teacher as a main supporter of the project.

Teachers are placed by the Ministry of Education and usually have no say in where they are sent. This means, that in the rural areas, the teachers are often not from the community or even the region. They are unfamiliar with the local dialect, local culture, and living conditions.

At one school that I visited, the Class 7 teacher was from the island of Rotuma, 465 kilometres from the main island of Fiji, part of Fiji politically, but very distinct linguistically and culturally. This teacher could only speak English to his students since he did not speak Fijian. The same would be true for most Indo-Fijian teachers placed in a Fijian school or vice versa. Another young teacher, placed in a school on an outer island,

grew up in an urban area and was afraid of travelling by boat, severely limiting her visits back to her family and attendance at training workshops.

Rural schools provide teachers' housing, but the conditions are considered so primitive that most teachers apply for urban postings as soon as they have served a requisite number of years at a rural school. The turnover of staff in rural schools is often high (Coxon, 2000a, pp. 389-424).

The Head Teacher is responsible for the school and the school staff, working with the school committee and the Ministry of Education (Bacchus, 2000a, pp.386-388). In larger schools, the Head Teacher might be assisted by a school manager who looks after the administrative duties and an executive teacher who is responsible for educational leadership. However, in small primary schools the Head Teacher will take on those duties as well as teaching full time.

Fiji has a good education system as indicated by high enrolment rates and high levels of literacy, in comparison to other developing countries and other Pacific Island Countries (UNDP, 1999; UNICEF, 1999). Despite the fact that compulsory attendance for ages six to fifteen was only gradually introduced starting in 1997, and that this policy is not enforced (Tavola, 2000d, p. 30), school enrolment in Fiji is very high. In 1999, the Ministry of Education reported that 98% of primary-aged children were enrolled in school (Coxon, 2000b, p.74).

This overview of the country of Fiji presents a country with many natural resources and a well-educated population with strong ties to its traditional culture. The education system has been influenced by the British colonial power and continues to be organized

in a similar manner. I turn now to describe the community of Totoka, where this study was located.

Totoka

A case study must include a description of the research site, to set the context for the research, providing support for the validity as well as the limitations of the findings. The larger context of the culture and society of Fiji has been described in the previous section. Following is a description of the specific island and villages where this research was conducted, based on what I learned about the community while I lived there. Some information is purposefully vague so that the specific community can not be easily identified. I have attempted to present the details needed by the reader to understand the study while protecting the anonymity of the study participants.

The Island

Totoka Island was a small island, an hour and a half by motor boat from the "mainland," the main island of Fiji. On the side of the island facing the mainland were a village and a backpackers resort. A three-hour hike over the hills or a 20 minute boat-ride was needed to get to the other side of the island where there were two villages and the school. About 400 people in all resided on the island, although many relatives lived on other islands, the mainland, and even overseas.

Due to a natural disaster the government moved the original village and the school across the island. The villagers gradually returned to their original houses and plantations in the "old village," but the two new villages on the other side of the island grew as the population increased. During the time of the study, many families moved during the school year between their house in the old village and another house closer to the school.

The three villages were built along beaches that provided good boat access and anchorage. Each village had a large, concrete church and several open spaces for gatherings. The houses were scattered two or three deep along the beach and were either traditional thatched *bures* or newer style homes with tin roofs over concrete block or wooden walls. They all had a similar, traditional layout: one large room with an outside door on each of three walls and one or two bedrooms on the fourth wall, separated by a wall or sometimes by a curtain. There were usually separate smaller buildings for the cooking shelter, shower, and toilet. Through a system of holding tanks and pipes, water from the high hills was piped to the villages, the resort, and the school to be used for cooking and washing. There were flush toilets at the resort and at the school. Some villagers had also built flush toilets along side their houses.

Cooking was often done on a wood fire, although kerosene cookers were common and there were some gas stoves that made baking easier. The wood was gathered in the hills; kerosene and gas was bought on the mainland. Kerosene lanterns were usually lit in the evenings, although some families had generators that provided light for several houses if there was money to buy diesel or benzine. There was no refrigeration.

Fijians ate, worked, and visited sitting on the floor, which was covered by a number of large mats woven by the women of the family. If a family could afford it, there may have been a sofa and chairs, but these were seldom used except to be offered to guests. On the walls, there were often photographs of family members that tourists had taken and mailed back to Fiji.

As important as the land where they lived and farmed were the waters and reefs around the island. The men went out by boat to the off-shore reefs to hunt larger fish by spear or catch small fish by net closer to shore. Women and children used hand-lines to catch small reef fish close to shore. At low tide, the reef that surrounded the island was exposed and women and children would gather octopus, shell-fish, and crabs.

Since Totoka was a small island, transportation was by foot or by boat; there were no roads. Villagers were often seen walking to their gardens or around the island to another village. Boats were an important commodity, providing transportation but also used for fishing. There were some canoes made of roofing tin used for fishing close to shore, but most were larger boats with outboard motors. The resort had two large boats that provided transportation to the mainland once a day. Tourists, who were charged \$60 per trip, got first priority, but if there was room, locals could pay \$5. Women would take the trip in to go shopping. Orders for food and fuel could also be given to the boat captain to be filled.

While not totally isolated, there were limited communications to and from the mainland. There was one radio telephone at the resort that was available to the villagers for a small fee when the office was open and if a tourist was not using it. Mail had to be posted and picked up on the mainland. People had battery-operated radios and could receive several Fijian stations, listening mostly to news and religious programs. There were some TV sets, but only the village on the mainland side of the island could receive the local TV station. Otherwise TV's were used for watching videos.

Fiji has five national newspapers - three in English, one in Fijian, and one in Hindi all available on the mainland. When someone splurged and spent the 60 cents for the

paper, it was passed on to many people to read. Once, I returned from the mainland with a paper in hand. When I stopped at the store at the resort, the clerk pointed out that a young man had been following me throughout the resort, too shy to ask if he could read my paper. When I gave it to him, both he and the clerk immediately spread it out on the floor to read, starting with the rugby news.

A Traditional Community

The people of Totoka, who were all Indigenous Fijian, were not totally isolated from the wider Fijian society or even from the larger world. With the numbers of tourists that visited the island, they perhaps had more global connections than many other Fijians. Nevertheless, they still maintained many of the Fijian traditions. A visiting teacher who lived on the mainland and was from a very isolated group of islands made the comment that the people of Totoka were more traditional than her village, keeping with the formalities of even everyday rituals. This is not to imply that the island was not changing and adopting modern conveniences and possessions, but that the people of Totoka had managed to maintain many of their traditions through a period of change.

The indigenous values of Pacific cultures identified by Hau'ofa (1985) and discussed in the previous section were identifiable in the everyday life on Totoka: group interest, sharing of goods and services, sense of place and social continuity, intimacy in interpersonal relationships, oral traditions, self-sufficiency and self-reliance, caring for members of the society, arts and entertainment integrated into community life. The stories below illustrate each of these values as acted out in the community of Totoka.

Group interest came before the rights of the individual. The resort was owned communally by the *mataqalis* on the island. Individual workers were paid a wage, but the profits were shared amongst the villages. After the coup in 2000, the number of tourists dropped, reducing the resort's income. The workers were asked to work for free to keep the resort open until the situation improved. Everyone continued working and did not receive wages for several weeks. The interest of the group-owned resort took precedence over the interests of individual workers.

An accumulation of goods was shared, as were services. Every day, dishes of extra food would be sent from house to house. One day, I was with a group of women, playfully teasing a group of men butchering a goat. As I announced my intention to leave, a leg of the goat was handed me to take back to my *bure*, which my host cooked and proceeded to share with other families. After her 21st birthday, which was an important event, a young woman proceeded to give away almost all of her presents, the dresses, pots and pans, and perfume, keeping only a couple of items for herself. Money was also shared; as the story of the man who gave away almost half of his pension pay-out shows.

There was a strong sense of place and the social continuity of that place, which included ancestors as well as future generations. One of the old men told the story of building a school on the island when he was younger. The place he had chosen was *tabu* because it was the cemetery, so he told all of the children to meet him on the beach below the cemetery. He arrived with a whale's tooth to formally ask the ancestors to allow the school to be built on their resting ground. The old man laughed as he recounted the story and how the ancestors could not refuse a traditional request; the school was built on the cemetery land.

Many gravesites were placed right beside family homes. When enough money was saved, a raised cement pad would be poured over the grave. This was a common place for people to sit as they visited or rested. One man would say that he was going to talk to his mother and would go to sit quietly on her grave, resting one hand lovingly on the cement.

Intimacy in interpersonal relationships was common for the people of Totoka, whether the relationship was social or economic. The relationships were often based on kinship and many marriages on the island were between the different *mataqali* on the island or those on neighbouring islands. One day, there were a number of young men whom I did not recognize mowing the schoolyard. The grass had not been mowed for a long time and the young men who came over from the village every evening to play rugby had been running through knee-high grass. The head teacher told me that she had asked for help from a village on the next island and they could not refuse because they were related to her. I did not understand why she could not ask the young men on the island who were her cousins and nephews. The interrelationships, as well as the restrictions and consequences of asking favours, were too complicated for me to understand fully - even in the almost two years that I lived in the community.

Oral traditions were important on Totoka and were reinforced by many evening sessions telling stories around the *kava* bowl. The oral history included a story of how the different *mataqali* came to settle on the island and another of how they avoided a measles epidemic through the leadership and prayer of their elders. As Hau'ofa explains (1985, pp. 157-158), an oral tradition does not place an emphasis on the facts of the story which can be changed over time. This became evident to me as I tried to learn how the school generator was paid for, a seemingly straightforward fact. I was told various stories

involving different school chairmen, different committees, different amounts of money, and different donations from tourists.

The people of Totoka pride themselves on their self-sufficiency and self-reliance. For many years profits from the resort had provided them with housing, employment, and money for special school functions. When tourism dropped dramatically after the coup and the resort was losing money, I asked them what they would do. While they appreciated that they would not have cash for luxuries, many people told me that they would go back to fishing and farming which would provide them with the necessities.

All members of the community were cared for by the community. Children wandered freely, being watched over by everyone and often fed in whatever home they found themselves at mealtime. Old men and women were cared for by their children and grand-children. A man who had been badly injured falling out of a coconut tree as a young boy held one of the most stable positions at the resort. Single mothers would often move back to the village with their children to live with their parents.

There was not a clear division between work and leisure on Totoka, or in Hau'ofa's words "arts and entertainments were integrated into community life" (1985, p. 105). One of the *mataqali* heads was having his traditional *bure* rebuilt. The task took place over a week. One day, I would walk by and see the older men sitting in a group, weaving the coconut fronds for the roof or the bamboo walls, the young men up on the roof preparing the thatch, with lots of banter and joking going on back and forth. The next day I would find them sitting together having tea with groups of people that had brought tribute for the new *bure*. Every evening was filled with story-telling around the *kava* bowl. The task

was completed, but a great deal of visiting, eating, and story-telling occupied as central a role as the actual building.

In some ways, gender roles were strictly defined in the society: men worked the plantations and women did the housework, men drank *kava* together while the women drank tea. But I found that the Fijians' practical nature often bent the rules as they had been told to me. I saw men wash clothes and women serve *kava*. The holders of formal power on the island, however, were all male: the school committee, the resort board of directors, the heads of the *mataqalis*, the mayors of the villages. There were a number of strong, influential women on the island, but their participation in the male dominated committees and structures was limited. For example, the Head Teacher was a strong female leader; however, she sent the male teacher to the school committee meetings.

The Methodist church was very important to Fijians on the island of Totoka. Each village was proud to have its own concrete church building. Their religion was more than an hour on Sunday; if possible, people would attend two or three services on Sunday and a bible study during the week. Sunday was reserved for church and so there were no other activities: no fishing, no swimming, no volleyball, no rugby, no boat travel. Again, the practical nature of Fijians allowed for some work such as cooking for the tourists and a boat would be hired to transport a visiting minister to the next village. But the resort boat did not run to the mainland and there were no diving or tourist trips on Sunday. While the school on Totoka was not a church-run school, as many in Fiji were, the students still opened their days with hymns and prayers. Often the only reading material found in a home was the bible and a hymnbook.

Traditional Political Organization

The people on the island each belonged to one of three *mataqalis*, land-owning clans recognized and defined by the government. People's allegiance, however, tended to be to their extended family, the *tokatoka*, rather than the *mataqali*. As a result there was some confusion over how many *mataqalis* there were on the island, as the name of one *tokatoka* was also given by several community members as a *mataqali*.

There was a head of each *mataqali* and *tokatoka*, as well as a chief for the entire island, all men in this case, providing leadership and making decisions for their extended family. For example, one head decided that no one in his *mataqali* should be drinking alcoholic beverages, and for the most part, this decree was followed. Leadership was not questioned outright, although individuals had a fair bit of freedom to make their own decisions. One evening, a group of male leaders decided that a planned school field trip to the mainland should not take place, but the mothers who had organized the event went ahead and held the field trip as planned.

Each village had members from all three *mataqalis*, although based on the numbers of members in the village, each village had a dominant *mataqali*. Each village also had one head of either a *mataqali* or a *tokatoka* who acted as leader of that village. With intermarriage between families and movement between family houses in different villages, there was a mixture of the *mataqali* and *tokatoka* in each village.

While the chief was accorded respect and deference appropriate to his position, the T*uraga ni Koro* was the spokesman for the chief and looked after the administration of the island. This position was chosen by the island leaders but was actually a government appointment with a small stipend.

Formal leadership continued to be held by the oldest members of the community. One day, a couple was getting ready to attend the Methodist Youth meeting. I was surprised since they were both almost 40 years old! Some people talked to me about the need for more of the educated men to take on leadership roles, but most of these more educated men were still considered youth by the community.

Economic Activities

As in most of the outlying Fijian islands, the major economic activity was subsistence farming and fishing, supplemented by income from selling crafts or performing for tourist groups. A major difference in Totoka's economic situation was the income from the community-owned backpackers resort.

The backpackers resort on the island was unique at the time in that it was owned and managed by the villagers. There were other resorts in Fiji that were owned by individual Fijians and operated as private businesses. There were other resorts that were owned by villages but had a manager from overseas. At Totoka there was no foreign investment, affiliation with a foreign-owned resort, or ex-patriats working at the resort. The board of directors was made up of men from the island, many of whom were retired from working on the mainland in positions that gave them experiences in Western-style business management.

The resort was a major source of cash economy for the island as almost all of the staff were from the villages or were relatives from the mainland. As well as the regular staff, many village men were hired on a casual basis for building projects, guiding, or for boat transportation. The resort bought produce and fish from the villagers. The members

of the *meke* (dance) group were paid for their entertainment during a resort-sponsored trip to the village and women earned money by selling handicrafts to the tourists.

The profits from the resort were used for village projects. In one year, 3 new houses were built in each village, paid for by the resort. The resort gave money to the school as it was requested for special projects such as \$2000 for a fund-raising event and \$500 for a bus for the school trip. The board gave a scholarship to a young man who had been working in the resort office to study hotel management at the Fiji Institute of Technology.

The resort was also a major source of contact between the villagers and people from around the world. Since it was a backpackers resort, most of the tourists were under 30, dressing and acting in ways that were uncommon in a traditional, Fijian village. They exhibited body-piercing, no family responsibilities, blatant flirting, and wore bikinis.

Although the resort provided a cash wage for some, the livelihood for most villagers was subsistence farming and fishing. Root crops, fruit, and vegetables were grown in gardens around their homes and up in the hills. Fish were caught right from shore as well as on the reefs further off the island. Shellfish were found on the beaches around the island. Some pigs, chickens, goats, and cows were raised, although these meats were usually reserved for special feasts. Store goods were bought on the mainland supplemented by family-run, small canteens where powdered milk, sugar, tea, canned meat, instant noodles, cigarettes, and candies could be purchased.

Every family had access to some cash income from working at the resort, selling handicrafts to the tourists, performing traditional dances for the tourists, or selling produce and fish to the resort or in the market on the mainland. Besides cash for store goods, benzine for the boats and kerosene for light and cooking, families needed cash for

school fees, church donations, and expenses for funerals, weddings, and other celebrations.

Totoka Village School

The primary school provided education from Class 1 to 8 for 80 island children. There were four teachers who each taught about 20 children in multi-grade classes. Children from the village on the other side of the island lived with relatives near the school during the week. Students went on to secondary school on the mainland where they lived at a boarding school or with relatives.

There was a high enrolment rate in Totoka. Compulsory education up to age 15 had only recently been implemented in Fiji and there was no system of enforcement in place; nevertheless, there were only three boys of primary school age on the island who did not attend school. Two were about 12 years of age, did not do well in school, did not want to go to school and their parents had stopped forcing them to go. The third was severely disabled. Of the 10 children who sat the Class 8 exam in my first year there, eight passed and went on to secondary school on the mainland. The other two repeated Class 8.

A kindergarten had been set up in a vacant teacher's house. The Head Teacher's twenty year-old daughter taught it on a volunteer basis, although sometimes she received a stipend from the resort or the cruise ship line. There was a mother's club that raised some funds for the kindergarten, maintained the building and organized special events. The government would not accredit the kindergarten until there was an appropriate building with an enclosed playground. The Head Teacher and I speculated that the policy of an enclosed playground was important on the mainland where schools were beside

roads and the fence would protect the children from the traffic. The policy seemed to make little sense on the island, where there was only a footpath beside the kindergarten.

This primary school was a Grant-in-Aid school, managed by a local committee with funding from the government. The government paid for the teachers' salaries as well as giving a grant of \$30 per pupil per term for school supplies. Students at this school paid \$5 per term in school fees. The local school committee was responsible for school maintenance as well as raising further funds for the school through fundraising activities, tourist donations, and international aid projects. These funds helped pay for the school verandah, water tanks, a photocopier, a diesel generator, and a lawn mower. The chair of the school committee rotated among the three villages yearly and the chair then chose his committee members. In the past, the chairman and all of the school committee members have always been men. There was also a Parent-Teacher's Association (PTA) that was responsible for raising funds for school materials other than the facilities. The PTA appeared to be inactive during the research period.

This section has given a description of the villages and school on the island of Totoka, where this study was conducted. While maintaining a very traditional lifestyle, the people in the village were also adapting to many changes. Most families relied on traditional economic practices of subsistence farming and fishing, but the villages owned and operated a successful tourist resort. The people of Totoka were exposed to Western culture through TV, magazines, and contact with tourists and yet maintained their traditional cultural practices. Education and the Totoka Village School were a part of both the traditions of the island as well as the change. The next chapters will examine the relations between the community of Totoka and the school.

5. EDUCATION'S ROLE IN ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

In this chapter, I examine how well the theory that education is important for economic and social development (Gannicott, 1990; Hallak, 1990; Lynch, 1997) fits the lives of the people of Totoka. In Chapter 2, the importance of this theory in international development literature was presented. It carries the assumption that if parents do not support the education of their children they must not understand the role of education in the economic and social development of their children and their community. Initially in this chapter, I establish that the people of Totoka did indeed value education and wanted their children to attend and succeed at school. However, my observations show that a large number of community children did not attend secondary school. I argue that the people of Totoka had a pragmatic understanding of the role of education in economic and social development and this understanding influenced how they interacted with the

Looking first at the role of education in the economic development of individuals, families and the community of Totoka, my analysis shows that the people of Totoka valued education for its potential benefits but that educational decisions were made within a broader context than the individual's life. In the predominantly subsistence farming and fishing economy of Totoka, relationships were the basis for economic security. Status and traditions were what upheld and strengthened the relationships. I show most people preferred academic curricula, not only for the job benefits, but because it increased status while maintaining relationships and traditions.

Similarly, education's role in social development in the community of Totoka was limited to how it supported relationships, status, and traditions. As presented in the

literature review, education is expected to result in two contradictory purposes, initiating change while at the same time maintaining culture and language. The interviews that I present in this chapter reveal the dilemmas faced by the people of Totoka as they struggled to maintain their traditions while accepting the changes that education could bring to improve their lives.

Positive Attitudes Towards Education

The literature review in Chapter 2 presented a common assumption that educational problems are rooted in the home environment and particularly in parents' poor attitudes towards education. This assumption was accepted by many Fijian educators and policy makers. Seven months after the attempted coup, *The Blueprint for Affirmative Action on Fijian Education* was produced by the Minister of Education (2000), who had been appointed by the Interim government. This government was generally perceived as preserving Fiji for indigenous Fijians and strongly supported policies of maintaining indigenous Fijian culture. A part of the mission statement in this blueprint is "To inculcate into Fijian parents the understanding that education is the key to success in life and to therefore place the education of their children highest on their list of priorities" (p. 4). Even Fijians who were politically committed to the strength and validity of the Fijian culture believed that Fijian parents did not hold proper attitudes towards the education of their children.

Teachers at Totoka School also accepted that poor parental attitudes were responsible for educational problems. A young teacher who was from the mainland attributed the parents' attitudes to life in the village, where education may not be

necessary for economic survival. I asked her what made a difference in student

achievement.

Vini: Parents' attitude towards education. They are brought up in a village. They don't think education is important. They have everything they need. So if their children don't do well in school they can farm and fish.

The Head Teacher also felt that the people of Totoka did not have a proper attitude

towards education. She compared the people of Totoka to another group of islands in Fiji,

Lau, the home of many national political figures.

Esiteri: Especially for the people from Lau, education is a priority. They are struggling [i.e.,working hard to improve their education], but for us [Totoka] people, they just relax. They are not concerned. They just accept what they get.

Both of these teachers felt that parents and other community members had a poor attitude

and did not understand the value of education. They both ascribed this attitude to the

ability to live off the land, fishing and farming, and to accepting "what they get."

Mareta, who had taught for a number of years in Totoka, also felt adults lacked

positive attitudes towards education, particularly community members who were older

and had less education.

Mareta: They neglect [education]. They don't see it as important. Young couples do better. Older people are careless. Their level of education is different.

She went on to say that as a result of these poor attitudes, the people of Totoka were not

taking on their duties and responsibilities as parents.

Mareta: The problem still lies in each person's attitude and the way they see education. If only someone could educate them to see education as a source of - - I don't know what. Mareta felt that parents were shirking their responsibilities because they did not see the benefits of education. Her frustration comes through in this quote as she tries to search for something that would make the villagers value education. It is interesting that even Mareta, a well-educated Fijian teacher who was familiar with the community, had difficulty explaining why education should be valued. She agreed with the assumption that people should value education but was not clear why they should.

Certainly, teachers at the school, especially those from the community and those who had been in the community for a long period, should have had a good understanding of some of the causes of the problems with education in the community. However, discussions with community members raised questions as to whether a poor attitude towards education was a major factor in community-school relations.

During interviews, parents and other community members voiced their support for education, recognizing how education could benefit their children, their family, and even their entire community. They valued education for a variety of reasons: increased financial resources, increased status, better decision-making in the community. Even some elders who criticized the school system still supported education.

Every parent that I interviewed expressed the wish that all of their children would do well in school, continuing on to secondary school, even though that meant leaving the village. They had dreams of their children becoming teachers, doctors, nurses, lawyers, and pilots. Young adults talked about how their parents had encouraged them to continue in school. Liviana was a young woman from the village who worked in a factory on the mainland. I talked to her one day when she was visiting her parents. She had gone to the mainland for Form 3 but did not continue on in her education.

Marilyn:	What did your parents say when you said you didn't want to go to
	Form 4?
Liviana:	They wanted to push me up to secondary to get a good job. But they
	told me "It's up to you." So now, I end up in the garment factory.
Marilyn:	What should parents do to support their children's education?
Liviana:	Tell them to go to school. I will tell them to go until Form 6 or 7.
Marilyn:	What if they say no?
Liviana:	No. I have to push them because of how I end up. Have to think of
	their future.

Although she didn't finish secondary school, it is clear that her parents supported her education and she herself believes that her own children should stay in school. With nine years of education, Liviana had a wage job on the mainland and was contributing money to her family, but she wanted her children to finish secondary school. Even though her job provided her with a cash income, it did not hold the status of a job that required

Form 6 and a Fiji School Leaving Certificate.

A high level of education provided more than a better paying job, it also provided a

certain amount of status, not just for the individual but for their family. One of the men

on the island, Kaliopate, proudly told me that his brother had been to University⁹.

Marilyn: Why did your brother go on to get a university degree? Kaliopate: We promised that one son or daughter would raise up our grandfather's name.

It is important that Kaliopate did not mention the job that his brother was able to get because of his education or a resulting salary, but only mentioned the fact that his brother has a University degree, an education that "raised up" or brought status to his grandfather's name. While Kaliopate only had eight years of schooling, his brother's higher education raised the status of the entire family.

⁹ This was the only person from the island that I heard of who had been to University. While a University program was available in Fiji, the teachers on the island had all gone to teachers' college, which was also highly regarded.

Kaliopate also talked about the importance of education for the entire community.

Kaliopate had recently been appointed to a leadership position in the community and we

were talking about what he hoped to achieve while he was in the position.

Marilyn: Are there things you know already that you want to do?
Kaliopate: The big difference when you just stay here.... You can learn more. When you go to Suva you can see a new thing.
Marilyn: You would like to see some changes?
Kaliopate: Yes. Some just up to Class 4 - just like a lantern; some Class 8 - like a Coleman, Form 4 is electricity.
Marilyn: So you think education is good for the village?
Kaliopate: Yes. Good for everything. The brain is mature.

Most people in the village burned kerosene lanterns; the fuel was inexpensive but they smelled and did not give off much light, especially for some activities like reading. Those families that could afford it bought Coleman lanterns which gave off a bright light. But every family's dream was to buy a generator so that they could have electricity in their homes for TV's and radios as well as lights. Kaliopate likens ten years of education (Form 4) to electricity, whereas four years of school (Class 4) would be as poor quality as a kerosene lantern. Kaliopate did not talk about the specific skills that education provided such as speaking English or vocational skills, but how education developed the whole person, opening them up to a world beyond the village. He also valued the "maturity" that education brought to the entire community. Education was valued in and of itself, separate from the economic benefit of a job secured through further education.

In some interviews, people in the village told me some people, particularly the older men, did not support education and this negative attitude affected the village support of education. But they also assured me that they themselves saw the benefits of education and wanted their children to go to school. It was possible that they were telling me that they supported education because they thought that was the answer for which I was looking. It was important to look for other expressions of a positive attitude towards education to support their verbal statements.

School enrollment corroborated the verbal expressions of support for education. In my two years of data collection, there were only three children of primary school age who were not going to school and one of those was severely disabled. Using a school-age population¹⁰ on the island of 83, this showed an enrolment rate of 96%. During my two years on the island, only one of the 20 students graduating from Class 8 did not go on to secondary school. Parents felt that education was important, sending their children to the school in the village and on to secondary school on the mainland. It was not true that children were absent from school because the community did not believe in formal education.

Interviews with some male elders on the island confirmed, however, that there were people in the community that were not totally supportive of the education system as it was. These men, who were influential heads of extended families, talked about how education brought change to the village. One of them, Iliesa, was the *Turaga ni Kororo* and responsible for organizing village communal work. He was 63 and had six years of formal education.

Marilyn: Iliesa:	What changes do you see in the young people? In the olden days, young people, whatever they were told, they had to do it. Now it's very difficult. Don't listen.
Marilyn: Iliesa:	Is the school part of that change? Yes. Education means boys and girls get a good education and don't want to follow what the headman says. Education brings bad ideas and good ideas. Education changes village life. The school educates the child who can then go to further education. But, one boy goes to

¹⁰ There were 80 children going to Totoka Village School, but there were some village children who went to school on the mainland after Class 6.

learn and doesn't want to teach others, but keeps it for himself. Tries to trick us with new ideas. They get a good job. When they come back, they do some things not good for the village; help only themselves.

These elders saw the benefits of education, but they also saw the negative changes that education brought to the villages. They were concerned about the loss of language, the loss of traditional culture, and the loss of respect for elders, especially the respect for the traditional leadership in the village. They attributed some of these changes to formal education.

A statement by Sefanaia, who was 65, had eight years of schooling, and was on the resort board of directors, suggests the tension between seeing the benefits of education as well as the negative aspects.

Sefanaia: Everything is changing in the mind of the young people, especially the culture. The school and the church come and try their best to swing the people.... Change is very strong indeed and the school is a part of that. Yes, school is good. But on the other side [it's not good]. I'm talking about culture.

Perhaps more than any other segment of the population, the older men in the village who were in traditional leadership roles were concerned about the negative changes that education brought. In a society where relationships and hierarchical traditions are important, these elders would be most aware of how education must fit into those traditions. But even as they questioned some of the results of education, especially the erosion of traditions, these male leaders still admitted, "school is good."

Another indication of the support of education was parents' willingness to pay school fees and expenses. While primary school was inexpensive, as explained in Chapter 4, sending a child to secondary school could require 15-25% of a family's cash income. Nevertheless, parents expressed their willingness to find ways to pay school fees, often asking family members who had wage employment to contribute. In every interview, parents identified paying fees as one of their main roles in supporting their children's education. Many of them explained the difficulties in raising the money, but not one said that their child would have to drop out of school because they could not pay the fees. Instead they indicated that they would find a way to pay the fees because they wanted their children to finish secondary school.

The general attitude of the people of Totoka towards education was very positive. They spoke about their hopes for their children's education. Enrollment in the primary grades was high, as was enrollment in the first year of secondary school on the mainland. If a positive attitude by parents towards education was enough to ensure the success of education in a community, Totoka would not have had any problems.

The story of Seona and her family illustrates how attitude alone does not determine school enrollment. Seona was in her early thirties with twelve years of education, very active at Totoka Village School, and with a strong belief in how education could benefit her children. She had worked in tourism and her English was very good. She was the volunteer health worker for the village, dispensing pain tablets and bandages. Her husband, a carpenter, often worked off the island, raising money to support their family of eight children. Seona's house was one of the few houses in the village where I saw reading material. There were health information posters up on the walls and Seona had a small library of books that tourists had given her to read. One evening I stopped by the house to find the floor covered with children ready for sleep, listening intently to the book that Seona was reading to them. All of Seona's school-age children had a good command of the English language and were often the first children to approach tourists to

talk to them. Her children often collected the prizes at the end of the year for the best marks.

The twins, Mitieli and Susana, did well in school, although Mitieli struggled with his homework; he preferred to be out fishing. After Class 8 they were excited, although nervous, about going to the mainland for Form 3 at the Catholic Boarding School. Seona proudly related the following story to me. One day during school break when the children were home from school, Mitieli, the oldest boy, had caught a large fish for the family's dinner. She teased him that next year he would have to stay home and fish for the family. He said no; he was going to school. "Yes, good for you!" Seona had told him. Seona was very proud of Mitieli for his fishing abilities, but even prouder that he wanted to continue his education.

Seona had a very positive attitude towards education, having had a good experience in school herself and believing in the opportunities it would give to her children. This attitude was passed on to her children, most of whom succeeded in school. Her oldest girl, however, returned to the village after one year in secondary school and stayed at home looking after the children, sometimes getting work at the resort. After leaving Fiji, I received a letter from Seona, informing me that Mitieli was at home, farming and fishing. And this was a common problem in Totoka. Encouraged and supported by their parents, almost every student went on to secondary school, but many left during the first or second year. Enrollment rates dropped dramatically once the children left the local school and went on to secondary school on the mainland or another island. Of the 36 families interviewed, nine of the twenty-four children of secondary-school age were not attending

school. That is, there was only 62% attendance from the island in secondary school, lower than the national statistics for rural or Fijian children.

There was no question that there were problems with relations between the school and the community of Totoka. I will describe these problems in detail in the next sections on economic and social development. However, the analysis of the community presented in this chapter indicates that failure to believe in the value of education does not appear to be the reason for these problems. The teachers' willingness to place the blame on a poor attitude by community members appears to be based on acceptance of the theory presented by many educators that if community members do not support education as it is given to them then those community members do not have a proper understanding of the benefits of education. Many programs that are designed to strengthen the interactions between school and community have a component with a purpose to improve the community's attitude towards education.

This study of the community of Totoka shows that attempts to improve community attitudes would be misplaced since community attitudes are already very positive. Instead the question to be asked is why would Seona, herself well educated and with a positive attitude towards education, allow her eldest daughter and her son to leave school after Class 8? The theory that poor parental attitudes are the cause of students dropping out of school does not explain why Seona, who valued education and encouraged her children, would have children like Mitieli and Kuini leaving school after Class 8. It appeared that a poor attitude by parents towards education was not why students dropped out of school. I propose another reason why the people of Totoka let their children leave school before finishing; their understanding of the role of education in their economic livelihood.

Economic Development and Education

In this section, I present a way to understand this behaviour by looking at the kind of education that parents in Totoka want for their children. This analysis provides some insight into the role that the people of Totoka believed education had in their lives, particularly the economics of their family and their community. The preference that Totoka parents had for academic credentials over vocational training indicates that the status gained from academic education was of greater importance than the jobs that would be available after vocational training. The role they believed education had in their economic development was different than the role for which educators planned. This is due to an economic system that is based on status, relationships and traditions rather than the impersonal exchange of goods, services and money.

The literature reviewed in Chapter 2 presented the theory that education plays a role in economic development. This theory is used by international agencies and national ministries of education to determine education policies, particularly curriculum policies that attempt to prepare students for wage employment after finishing secondary school. A common trend is the promotion of vocational programs based on the theory that education can directly improve the economic situation of individuals and therefore the economic development of communities and even of entire countries.

The assumption is often made that vocational or agricultural education is more appropriate than an academic education for communities that are based on a subsistence lifestyle. These assumptions are present in the literature and in Fijian educational policies (for a thorough discussion of these policies in the South Pacific see Gannicott, 1990). But these assumptions did not match the expectations that the people of Totoka had of

education. People who lived in Totoka and even those community members who lived on the mainland believed that living in the village constituted a good life. Parents, however, wanted their children to have the opportunity to continue on in school and gain the status and increased resources that came with an academic education. Rather than preparing individuals for the workforce, an academic education would provide some members of the family with a higher status and a resulting wider access to resources that benefitted the entire family.

People's Expectations of Education

The people of Totoka did appreciate vocational skills, especially traditional skills such as gardening and weaving but also skills related to wage employment¹¹. They thought that young people should learn these skills, in school if necessary. But when specifically asked about the kind of education they wanted for their own children, without question or qualification parents specified academic programs. Trying to understand this contradiction provides answers to how education benefitted Fijian families.

Seriana was a single mother, who completed Form 6 at the island secondary school in an agricultural program and went on to work at the resort. Her interview reflects the importance placed on traditional skills such as weaving and building the *lovo*, the earth oven used for feasts. Her view was common: that these skills should be taught in the home, but if they are not, the school should fill that role.

Marilyn: What subjects were important in secondary school? Seriana: English, Maths, Science.

¹¹ The wage jobs that people from Totoka had were in tourism, teaching, government, the Fiji Pine Company, and some garment work.

Marilyn:	I read that there should be more Arts and Crafts to preserve Fijian culture.
Seriana:	Painting was a waste. Weaving was good; it's not learned at home. Boys should learn the <i>lovo</i> in school. Boys should learn to weave baskets; they don't know how.
Marilyn:	There are vocational and academic subjects. Which is best?
Seriana:	They should have more vocational.
Marilyn: Seriana:	Which would you send your boys to? Academic.

Although Seriana felt that vocational skills were important, she still wanted her own two boys to receive an academic education. Although the boys were only starting school, she told me they wanted to be a pilot and an engineer, careers that required post-secondary education. She planned on sending them to an Indian secondary school on the mainland because "they have good exam results." The exams are written only in academic subject areas.

This understanding of the need for vocational training juxtaposed with the wish for an academic education for their child was also evident in the interview with Makareta and Maikali who had a daughter going to school on the mainland. Maikali had left school after failing his Class 8 exam. He worked with a carpenter, learning the trade on the job and now did carpentry work in the village and at the resort.

Marilyn:	If a boy came to you and asked if he could learn to be a carpenter
	from you what would you tell him?
Maikali:	Go to school on the mainland.
Marilyn:	Why?
Maikali:	The measuring tape, measuring the house and the square. [i.e., learn to use the tools, learn to measure.]

As a tradesperson, Maikali believed that vocational skills should be taught in the school. Interestingly, while traditional building skills such as roof-thatching were taught in the village, Maikali felt that non-traditional carpentry skills should be taught at school. While Maikali may have passed some of his carpentry skills on informally to boys during village work, he would not have presumed to take on more of a Western-style teaching role of Western subject matter. The status of teachers and the role of parents in the schools are discussed to a greater extent in Chapter 6 with regards to parental involvement in student achievement.

Maikali and his wife, Makareta, also suggested that other vocational subjects such as cooking, housecleaning, hotel management, and mechanics should be taught at school, because they were skills needed at the community-run resort. But despite the need they saw for vocational skills even in their own community, when asked specifically about their daughter, their reply, without hesitation, was that they wanted her in an academic program. They hoped she would become a teacher.

These and other interviews supported Sharma's assertion discussed above that Fijians viewed vocational subjects as second-rate (2000, pp. 132-148). The people of Totoka who were interviewed recognized community needs and job opportunities for vocationally trained workers. Even though vocational skills were seen as important, when it came to their own children's education, parents wanted their children to receive an academic education. Many mentioned the professional jobs that they hoped that their children would get after completing their education.

But completing secondary school and going on to post-secondary education was not just a means to a job, education carried value in the status that it provided to the individual and to the entire family. In his book about his village on the mainland, Ravuvu (1988) describes how the community was considered backwards because it did not have a member who had gone to university. After his graduation, many people expressed to him their appreciation for the status and prestige that he brought to the community (p. 69). In

Totoka, there seemed to be a similar ascription of status to education. In the last section, Kaliopate talked about his brother going on to University so as to "raise up" his grandfather's name. In contrast, a young woman was embarrassed to tell me that no-one in her *mataqali* had gone on to post-secondary education, indicating that education was an important element of a family's status.

While education itself brought status to individuals and their families, a resulting professional job brought status and resources not only to the individual or the immediate family but to the entire community. The Head Teacher told me how the chief of a related village on the mainland set as her goal to finally get one member of the village into a government job. It was a matter of status for the entire community to have even one person in a managerial-level position, which required an academic education.

Kaliopate explained how a government job held more than just the status of membership in an elite club. Other professions such as teaching were also respected and carried status, but a community member in a government job also brought resources to the community.

Marilyn: What does Totoka need?
Kaliopate: More education. If the village has more educated persons, so they have a bright [future]. If someone from the village is in the Ministry of Finance, like my brother, when we want something it goes through the [government office]. Like in [the next island], no educated person in the Ministry. They can't go and knock on the door.

With a community member in a government office, when the community needs something they can go to that person and "knock on the door." Whether it was a correct perception or not, Kaliopate felt that without someone in the Ministry, the community would have little access to the resources of that Ministry.

There were two exceptions to the view of vocational programs as second-rate: mechanics and hotel management. There was a mechanic from another village who was hired to work at the resort, keeping the generator and the outboard motors running. He was much in demand and had a great deal of status, especially amongst the younger men. Two young men mentioned that they would like to train to become a mechanic. The other exception was Etika, the young man who had attended the elite government school in Suva. Etika was a member of a chiefly family and was studying hotel management. While hotel management would be classed as a vocational certificate, it was a postsecondary program and the people of Totoka spoke of him proudly as the young person on the island who was doing the most with his education. With the opportunities in tourism in Fiji and his connections with influential families he would probably do very well.

Jobs like mechanic or hotel manager may seem to Westerners to be of lower status, a vocation rather than a profession. But the status of these jobs also came from their usefulness to the family, as much as their education level. In a location where boats were necessary for livelihood as well as transportation, a mechanic who could keep the motor running was invaluable. Hotel management required a post-secondary diploma from the Fiji Institute of Technology, but it was also the ability of a hotel manager to hire family members that brought status to the position.

Both of these vocations provided a status similar to that which an academic education would provide. The literature describes how an academic education works as a strict initiation into an elite club, providing status by becoming accepted as part of a higher class (Gould, 1993). Becoming a mechanic or a hotel manager would not appear to

carry the same status. In Totoka, however, status appeared to also be attached to positions that were able to provide resources and jobs to family. One way for individuals to increase their status to increase their ability to contribute to economic relationships.

On the other hand, the benefits of farming and fishing were available to everyone. The land and the sea were usually bountiful and were there for all to share. Becoming a better farmer or fisher did not benefit the entire family the way a government job or a hotel management position could. Higher status was given those jobs that provided the family with resources not available to everyone.

How educational policy-makers understand education's role in the economic development of a country often directs educational policy. For decades, the predominant theory that more relevant, vocational education will have a positive effect on economic development has prevailed. The people of Totoka, however, preferred an academic focus to education because of the potential benefit to their families. As described in the previous section, parents wanted their children to have the opportunity to move on to a high-status, well-paid job on the mainland, after school. An academic program gave their children that opportunity.

The people of Totoka were also aware that not all of their children would succeed in an academic program. In that case, they believed that their children could return to the island and have a good life there. Moreover, it was not actually to the family's benefit to have all of the children leave for secondary school and stay on the mainland to work. For the people on the island, formal, advanced education was for the benefit of the family and the community, but not necessary for each individual.

With the large numbers of young people who did not finish secondary school, it might appear that the academic programs that they were entering were not of value to them or to the community. However, the people of Totoka still wanted their children to have the opportunity to access the prestigious jobs available only through an academic education.

Writing about education throughout the Pacific Island Countries, Boutilier asks:

Should educational systems be designed to produce better horticulturists and outboard motor repairmen? Clearly such vocational education would seem most appropriate for preserving traditional ways of life and national self-sufficiency. And yet there is a brute resistance to such concepts on the part of islanders who, although lamenting the erosion of the old ways, are not prepared to see their sons or daughters consigned to second-class status. What the parents want is equality of opportunity for their children, equality of access to educational opportunities, which, in practice, translates into access to "professional" education of the sort suitable for employment in the towns, for high status bureaucratic or business appointments, or for posts overseas. (1992, p. 81)

While the people of Totoka recognized that farming and fishing was an important part of their traditional way of life, they also acknowledged the reality that agricultural work was of lesser status. As explained earlier in the description of life in Fiji and in the relatively traditional life in Totoka, status was important in the cultural as well as the economic life of a family and village. Clearly from the interviews in the previous section, the people of Totoka did not want a school system to produce better farmers and fishers, but a school system that would offer their children the possibility, however slim, of high-status, high-paid employment.

The economic circumstances in Fiji dictated that the best way to get paid employment was to get the highest academic qualifications possible. In Gannicott's words: "It is the 'academic' education which is vocational in Fiji's circumstances" (1990, p. 18). Curriculum reform cannot counteract the existing economic situation in a country.
Encouraging parents to enroll their children in vocational programs, telling them that the programs are of equal status, does not change the reality that there is a job hierarchy.
Parents wanted their children to have the best opportunities available to them. The school system that provided Fijian children with the "equality of opportunity" to which Boutilier refers was one which put them on the path to graduating with an academic certificate, not a vocational diploma.

The parents of Totoka supported the academic school system because they believed that it would offer their children the best opportunity for improving their status as well as their economic situation. So, with a high level of support for the existing school programs, why were there so many young people on the island who had not completed their education?

While some children did leave school because it was hard to pay the fees, because their grades were not good enough or they missed school due to illness these did not appear to be insurmountable problems for the Totoka families. What did appear to happen is that parents were willing to let their child leave school because they believed that they could have a good life in the village without further education. Education was not a necessity for life on the island.

Komai was one of the three children who left school before completing Class 8. His father Anare had previously been chair of the school committee and he continued to serve on the committee. Both Anare and his wife, Jieni, were at all of the school events. Anare talked to me about why he let his son leave school:

His mother would have to drag him; he hated it. So I don't pressure him. Education is important and people will blame me, the parent. I have a plan: when he is 21 I will buy him a boat. That will be his future.

Owning a boat on the island was prestigious and could be very lucrative. Anare and his brother jointly owned a boat and Anare used it to collect fish twice a week from neighbouring islands to sell on the mainland. They also had a contract to provide staff transport to an upscale resort in the area. Anare's household was relatively well-off; he bought Jieni a gas stove, built a flush toilet and purchased a TV and VCR. He knew that even without secondary education Komai could earn a good living on the island.

Others agreed with Anare that they and their children could have a good life on the island without having secondary education. Mitieli Senior commented "We are told to [go to] school for your future. I'm not good in school but I am living happily." When I specifically asked how much education a person needed to live in the village, I rarely received an answer, with the interviewee often confused as to what the question meant. It was as if formal education was so irrelevant to their day-to-day life in the village that the question did not even make sense to them.

Completing an academic, secondary program would provide the greatest opportunities for paid employment, which was desirable. But it was not necessary for the individual young person to have a high level of education in order to have a comfortable life, economically. What was important was that at least one person in the family completed their education and found employment.

Education for the Family Not the Individual

The welfare of the entire family was more important to the people of Totoka than the education of any individual member. Therefore it was not necessary that all family members finish secondary school, only that someone did. Having some family members with an education provided a number of benefits to the family. Besides the prestige of having a secondary school certificate, a family member with a wage job brought valuable resources to the family. Even though they might be living on the mainland, workers were still considered part of a village family and expected to make their contribution.

The extended family relationships and the tradition of *kerekere*, of asking relatives for contributions, was strong in Totoka. There were many instances of sisters, brothers, aunts, uncles, and cousins who had jobs on the mainland being asked to contribute financially to family or community projects. In preparation for the rugby tournament described in the introduction, employed people from Totoka were each asked to contribute \$50 towards expenses. Some students were being "sponsored" by a relative in a wage job, who was paying their school expenses.

Some family members were also needed to stay on the island, working in the garden, with household chores, and working in the community. Even children contributed a significant amount of labour to a family: fishing, gathering firewood, cleaning the compound, cooking, looking after smaller siblings. The absence of a teenager who could work as well as an adult was a major loss to the family. As well, there was the loss of a family member to contribute to village obligations: building *bures*, yam planting, weaving.

Whether young people went on to jobs on the mainland or returned to work in the village, they were still contributing members of their family and community. Different members of a family would be expected to make different contributions to the welfare of the family. Those who had the greatest potential to contribute through wage employment were given the education they needed to do so.

Family educational decisions about supporting education and supporting individual children attending school were made within the larger context of decisions made regarding the family. In a similar situation in India, Subrahmanian found that

While education was valued on the whole by parents, the management of children's education was based on short- to medium term material considerations, as well as broader views about what and how it was that education could contribute to household security in the long-term. (1997, p. 109)

Totoka parents, too, took a broad view of the benefits of education to their family. But their decisions were based on more than immediate material considerations that could be met through wage employment.

In a society with an economic system that depended on relationships (Tukai 1988, p. 15), maintaining those relationships and a family's status was as important to the family's livelihood as a wage. Education was seen as one way to increase status and bring economic benefit to the family, but it was not the only way. As a result, the people of Totoka supported an education system that provided some member of their family the wage as well as the status that would benefit the entire family. Other family members could take on important roles in the family that did not require formal education.

In Totoka, education was seen as being important to the economic development of the family and the community. But other things also played important roles. Status,

relationships and traditions were as important to a family's security as employment that was available through education.

Social Development and Education

In the previous section, I have shown how the education system must recognize the economic importance of the individual's connections to the family and community; connections established through status, relationships and traditions. In this section I turn the focus to education's role in the social development of the larger community. Once again, the importance of status, relationships and traditions becomes apparent.

The education system is often used as the vehicle to improve the social development of a community, as evidenced in health (World Health Organization, 1998), citizenship (Kochhar and Gopal, 1997), and environmental (World Wildlife Fund, 2004) education programs in schools around the world. What became apparent through my interviews with the community members in this study was that the theory that education could improve the social development of a community conflicted with the community's own view of the education system and social development. The analysis that is presented in this section identifies two key areas of concern:

1. The use of the school system to maintain culture and language, and

2. The school system's role in instigating changes in the community.

These two goals are evident in the literature, where educators are called upon to teach in the local language and include local culture in the curriculum (Kirkness & Bowman, 1997; Thaman, 1993); at the same time international organizations are using the school systems to bring about changes in attitudes and behaviours, especially around health, the

environment, and democracy (for example, the World Health Organization in *Helping schools to become health promoting schools*, 1998; and the World Wildlife Fund, 2004).

Education's tenuous role in social development, as shown in these two apparently contradictory statements, is a consequence of the contradiction facing Fijian society described by Nayacakalou in 1972:

It seems to me that one of the greatest obstacles facing the Fijians today is the failure to recognise that there is a contradiction; they must now make the momentous choice between preserving and changing their way of life. The belief that they can do both simultaneously is a monstrous nonsense with which they have been saddled for so many years now that its eradication may be very difficult to achieve. (In Firth & Tarte, 2001, p. 132)

Over thirty years after Nayacakalou's observation, the schools in Fiji were still trying to accommodate this contradiction. Talking with the people of Totoka, I learned that they were grappling with this dilemma of maintaining traditions while accepting change.

Culture and language were very important to them. They wanted their culture and language to be supported by the school system, but they felt it was their own responsibility to teach their children their culture and language. They depended on the school system to teach their children the skills necessary to succeed in the outside world (Hoar, 2002). These skills, especially learning to speak English, brought status, and therefore resources, to the entire family. While the school system was expected to bring the knowledge of the outside world to their children, the community of Totoka did not want this knowledge to change the fundamentals of their own society. They supported school curricula that supported these fundamentals of status, relationships and traditions.

These two contradictions are presented separately. First the national context is presented regarding national policy and public opinion on maintaining culture and

language through the school system. Then an analysis of interviews reveals how the community members of Totoka believe the school should be involved in maintaining culture and language. The issue of instigating change through education is then examined by looking at the success of international initiatives on changing behaviour in the community of Totoka.

How the People of Totoka View Culture and Language

When parents and the community have lost or are losing their language and cultural traditions, hope is placed in the next generation, the young people, to sustain the culture (The Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples, 1996). Teachers and parents are encouraged to use the local language, there are classes to teach the language, and where possible, academic subjects are taught in the language. Cultural traditions are incorporated into school life and cultural courses are offered (Charters-Voght, 1991; Thaman, 1993).

For the people of Totoka, traditional culture and language were very important. They looked to the traditions of Fijian culture to maintain the relationships that held their community together, socially and economically. However, the people of Totoka knew that they could not rely on the school system to maintain and strengthen their language and culture, especially when they did not expect all children to continue through twelve years of school. With most children remaining in the village they felt it was their own responsibility to instruct their children in their language and culture.

There was some concern about loss of language and culture; nevertheless, learning English at school was a priority. Everyone in the community wanted the school to give

their children an opportunity for wage employment off the island. Besides needing English for employment, the ability to speak English well was a status symbol. For the community members in Totoka, the maintenance of language and culture was the responsibility of the family and community.

The majority of people in Totoka felt strongly that they wanted their children to learn English at school. In the formal interviews, almost every person whom I asked about English in the schools responded that it was an important subject and most thought that more English should be taught. Only three male elders in the community expressed concern that English was replacing Fijian, as well as concern over loss of culture.

Alena, a young mother who was well-educated and had worked on the mainland, felt that the school should focus on teaching English:

It should be compulsory to speak English as much as they can. There is no excuse with the resort here that the kids can't speak English well. It should be all in English from Class One and then explain in Fijian if necessary. On the mainland they have to speak English. Leave Fijian for Fijian class. Teach as much English as they can learn.

Alena also thought that she should teach her children English at home, even before they went to Kindergarten. Most parents were content to leave teaching English to the teachers, but thought that it should be a priority in the school.

Loraini was a middle-aged woman who left school after Form 3. I talked to her about her education as well as that of her sons:

Marilyn: What would you have liked to have learned in school? Loraini: English. More English.

We talked about her son going on to school on the mainland. Some young people had problems coming back to the village after living on the mainland.

Marilyn:	Is it the school that changes the children?
Loraini:	Yes. Many of them come back and talk English, not Fijian. They mix
	up English and Fijian.
Marilyn:	Should they study more Fijian?
Loraini:	No, more English. Every work job they need English. Improve their
	English. In our school they speak Fijian.

Loraini acknowledged that students who go to school on the mainland lose some of their traditions, even their language. Nevertheless, she felt that they had to learn English in school because every "work" job required English. She was not happy that they spoke so much Fijian at Totoka School.

Loraini mentions the main reason others also gave for wanting children to learn English: to give them the opportunity for a wage job. But the ability to speak English also provided individuals, and their families, with increased status. The disdain given to a non-English speaking Fijian was made obvious on the day of the attempted coup. After stating on TV that the coup was made on behalf of Indigenous Fijian rights, the coup leader introduced his choice for Prime Minister, who addressed Fijians in the national dialect¹². The matriarch of the island looked disapprovingly at the TV screen and commented, "He doesn't even speak English!" She was voicing the high regard in which speaking English was held on the island. Anyone could speak Fijian, but leaders had to be able to speak English.

Through conversations with community members and observing their interactions, it became apparent that speaking English was a status symbol for a variety of reasons. A person who spoke English had an opportunity for a high-status job such as teaching or government work. The community members of Totoka respected education, and speaking

¹² Background to the attempted coup can be found in Chapter 3.

English was an obvious sign of education. Even if someone did not work in tourism,

being able to speak English gave him or her the opportunity to make connections with tourists coming to the island. Being able to connect with high-status visitors increased someone's status, as these visitors were also a source of resources, gifts and money for the family.

Sefanaia, one of the older men, expressed concern over losing the language because of the concentration of English in the schools. Sefanaia was the head of one of the *mataqali* and one of his grandchildren, Peceli, was in kindergarten on Totoka.

Now they start English in Kindy¹³ and not how to speak in their own language. If they taught in their own language, every Fijian would be good in school. They can read the book in English but they don't know what it means. They would if it was in Fijian. The Kindy kids learn English colours and don't know Fijian. Peceli saw a colour on TV and he said "red." I asked him what colour it was in Fijian and he didn't know.

Questions could be raised about why Peceli was not learning Fijian at home and if Fijian is not taught at home how using Fijian at school would help Peceli. But what is obvious in this quote is Sefanaia's concern not only about the loss of language, but also his belief that children would do better at school in their mother tongue. This proposition about language of instruction is discussed further in the next chapter.

These male leaders of the community were also concerned about the loss of traditional culture, and the loss of respect for elders, especially respect for the traditional leadership in the village. They attributed some of these changes to education. I spoke with Tai Uraia, the head of a large extended family, in his traditional *bure* where many official ceremonies took place. While we talked, Mona sat on a pile of mats in the place

¹³ Kindergarten was often referred to as "Kindy".

of honour in the *bure*, listening to us talk. Mona had started menstruating and spent the length of her first period in the *bure*. Rather than seclusion, it was a tradition of celebration, with the men coming every night to have a *kava* ceremony in the *bure*. Many traditions such as this were still observed in Totoka.

Marilyn:	What changes have you seen in the young people?
Uraia:	A lot of change. Before they used to learn only Fijian, their own
	dialect, and now they learn Bauan and English.
Marilyn:	Is that change good?
Uraia:	What they used to do before is now changed. At 14, you finished school and worked with the village. Now they go on to school on the mainland. When they come back they don't follow the system. The <i>Turaga Ni Koro</i> tells the boys to do something but now the young boys have no respect.

Uraia was concerned about the loss of language, especially the local dialect. But he was also concerned that children who went away to school also lost the cultural values such as respect for the traditional village leaders.

I interviewed Inoke in his new, concrete block house. He had worked on the mainland, but had recently returned to live in the village fulltime. He was well respected and quite influential on the island.

Marilyn:	Are you worried about the loss of your culture?
Inoke:	In the village it's better. On the mainland, Fiji is [moving too quickly
	ahead]: never use their language, talk in English.
Marilyn:	Many parents and teachers think they need to learn more English?
Inoke:	Yes, I know that. That's why the government built a new school to
	teach culture.

Inoke referred to the two elite government schools (RKS and QVS) where besides academics, culture was also taught. Both of these schools were close to Suva and had high admittance standards. Most of the students from Totoka went to Indian administered schools that were closer, less expensive and accepted lower exam results.

Marilyn:	What kind of things do they teach?
Inoke:	At RKS and QVS: taught about culture. But in Indian schools they
	never learn. In Fijian schools, they teach serving kava, the ceremony.
Marilyn:	Should they teach gardening?
Inoke:	Yes.
Marilyn:	Not as much English?
Inoke:	No, they should speak in English in Class Two. What I mean, they
	learn [respect].

While traditional Fijian skills, such as gardening, were important to Inoke, he thought the ceremonies, such as the *kava* ceremony, were vital to preserving the culture. More than how to pound and serve the *kava*, the ceremony taught important Fijian values such as respect. The ceremony was important in Fijian society for establishing and solidifying social relations.

Inoke appears to be contradicting himself, wanting more Fijian culture to be taught in the schools, and yet recommending that students speak English in the school as early as Class Two. Inoke expected the schools to perform a delicate balancing act, teaching their children English, but also maintaining the Fijian culture.

Other than the concerns of these three men, support for the emphasis on English in the schools was high. While these men definitely saw the school as a major factor in the maintenance of culture, other community members were less certain about teaching culture in the schools. Like the men, others commented on the changes they saw in students returning from school on the mainland; they did not behave in a proper manner in the village. But these changes were attributed to life on the mainland, rather than school curricula. People thought that culture should be taught in the schools, but also felt that ultimately it was the parents' responsibility to instill Fijian values in their children. They felt that if Fijian culture was instilled in the home, their children would retain their

culture even if they went to school on the mainland. For them, the families played the main role in maintaining culture.

The young people themselves were the locus of the tension between doing well in school and learning English while not losing their culture. Etika was a young man from Totoka who had attended one of the elite government schools. He had gone on to postsecondary education, studying hotel management at the Fiji Institute of Technology (FIT).

Marilyn: Should the schools teach culture? Etika: Yes, most of the time at QVS^{14} , we practiced how to perform the ceremony. It should be taught in school. In FIT, in cultural study, they asked who knew how to serve the *kava*, I was the only one. Maybe it's not taught in homes. I also learned it at home, watching *Tai*.

While Etika thought the ceremonies should be taught in school, he recognized that the families also had a role in maintaining the culture. Etika told me that one night in the village, Maikali and Sefanaia were talking. Sefanaia was blaming the school for bringing

change.

Marilyn:	What do you think?
Etika:	Maybe. Sefanaia said it's not a good thing. Education can really
	devastate our culture, to think negatively. They pointed at me and said
	'you go to school and forget your culture'. One part is true. One part
	is not true. We live in a modern world; it is changing a lot. There is
	modern technology. What if education didn't come?
Marilyn:	Is there a way to balance the two?
Etika:	A person should know how to live in his culture. Education is the
	main reason we can go out in the world. The best way is to learn lots
	about our culture, [know] our culture, how we live in a modern
	society.

As a future leader of his community, Etika had thought a lot about the changes that were happening to his community and to all of Fiji. He wanted to learn about his culture and

¹⁴ Queen Victoria School was the elite government school for Fijians.

felt that it should be kept strong. However, he expected education to provide him with the tools to survive in the larger world.

People's Reactions to Change

The issue of how the school system is involved in community change is paradoxical. On one hand, as discussed earlier, the school is blamed for change, especially the loss of culture and language. On the other hand, the school is used to instigate change; changes in attitudes and practices that are felt will improve the social development of a community and often an entire nation.

Many submissions to *The Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel Report* dealt with the important role they saw for education in changing attitudes and behaviours about a variety of issues. The Report does not discuss to what extent and in what ways these organizations contribute curriculum materials and resources to Fijian schools. However, in Totoka School I saw books, posters and stickers distributed by environment and health organizations. Many of these organizations had educational programs, sending curriculum materials and speakers to schools.

All of the various causes have validity and are endorsed by school systems because educators as well as the larger society see them as being important. This is not to say that education does not have a role in social development and is only useful as a training device for the economic system. Schools have always been an important site for the socialization of young people. What is important to consider is the efficacy and desirability of using the school system to create societal change, particularly in a traditional, hierarchical community like Totoka.

One of the most extensive campaigns in the South Pacific was one by environmental organizations to protect sea turtles. Fiji had signed an international treaty banning the killing of turtles and had laws in place against their killing. Even several of the chiefs were fined after making their traditional presentation of turtles to the Great Council of Chiefs. I was not at Totoka to observe the educational campaign on protecting the sea turtle, but there was evidence that the school had been involved in some program. There were several large full colour posters in the school on protecting the ocean environment and animals such as the sea turtle figured prominently. Stickers on protecting the environment were still visible around the school and in the villages.

One evening when I joined my host family for dinner I was not surprised to see a stew of red meat; I had seen the boys gathering up goats and thought it was goat stew. However, as I finished a piece of meat, I realized that the bone I held was not one from a goat. I asked Naivou what I was eating and she made a motion like a turtle moving its flippers. I explained that although it was very good I could not eat anymore because turtles should not be killed, but did not go into a further "lecture" on the matter in an attempt to change their practice. That was the beginning of turtle season and for the next several weeks we saw many turtles brought in on boats. One of them barely fit into the boat as its shell was over a metre wide.

There was a man on the island that said that he was designated as the Fisheries Officer and would go out after strangers' boats and chase them out of Totoka's fishing area. I asked him about the turtles but he seemed not to know or to care about the ban. I was uncomfortable being too critical of a practice that the people of Totoka had been practicing for generations. Yet, the people of Totoka were aware that foreigners became

upset when they saw the turtles being caught and killed. They consciously made sure that they did not bring the turtles in close enough to the resort that they might be seen. The education program seemed to have created awareness but not changed practice.

I wondered if perhaps the health education programs or the programs on garbage disposal had been more effective. I asked Mareta, the teacher who had been at the school for six years if she had seen the school programs make any difference in the village. She said "No, not at this time. Maybe the next generation. No matter how much we educate, we see the same thing. Maybe when the old generation passes away." It seemed that the education programs at the school had very little effect on current practices in the village.

In a traditional, hierarchical society such as the Fijian society, children are not in a position to bring new knowledge that they have learned at school into the community or even to question existing practice. In Canada, educational programs often encourage children to examine practices in their homes and to question their parents. For example, it is common in Canada for children who have been at a no smoking campaign to question their parents about their smoking and actively teach their parents about the hazards of smoking. In Fiji, the children's relationship with their parents and other adults does not allow them to question or even to voice concern. Even young adults do not have a voice in the community or even in the family. Community and even *mataqali* or extended-family discussions happen in the evenings around the *kava* bowl and are organized in a very formal manner, recognizing the hierarchy of the individuals present. The male elders sit in front of the *kava* bowl and everyone else sits behind it. Traditionally, only these elders speak, with others only offering information when requested to do so.

Maikali, the head of one of the *mataqali*, talked to me about how he was trying to change the format of these meetings. Traditionally, he explained, only the heads of clans could talk, telling people what to do. Instead, he encouraged everyone to talk, even the women. He said that he could not tell people what to do, but could lead them after letting them have a say. He occasionally had meetings of his immediate family and he told his children the meeting was open and they could say what they wanted. This was an unusual practice, even for his eldest son who was 26 and working at the resort. Children, though they may be adults, were not expected to take part in community or family decision-making.

So it would be difficult for children to communicate what they learned in school about protection of sea turtles to their families and community. The only adult that tried to stop the turtle-hunting was the Head Teacher who told me that she told her son to throw the turtle that he had caught back into the sea. He did, but even she did not have the authority or influence to change the practice of the community. The hierarchical nature of the Fijian society along with the importance of traditions did not permit children to bring what they had learned into the community. Therefore, trying to initiate change in the community through the school was not very effective.

Internationally, it is a common and accepted practice for schools to be involved in the social development of communities. Sometimes the schools are expected to resist change, for example in maintaining language and culture. And at the same time the schools would be expected to instigate change, affecting the attitudes and practice of a community.

The people of Totoka felt this tension between change and tradition. They wanted their children to learn skills necessary in the world outside of their community, but they were not willing to accept social development that did not fit into their understanding of the role of education in their lives or the traditions of their society. Community members supported education that upheld the community's established patterns of tradition, status, and relationships. As long as no attempt was made for the school's curricula to fit these patterns, the school had little success in initiating change in the community.

Relationships, Status, and Tradition

Keeping in mind the importance of relationships, status, and tradition in the social and therefore economic fabric of Fijian society, the seemingly contradictory roles that Fijians saw for education in the economic and social development of their community began to make sense. As mentioned in the discussion on attitude, the people of Totoka supported education that provided an opportunity for increased status. Therefore, they placed an emphasis on teaching English and on an academic education - an education that would provide increased status. These were skills that they did not feel capable as a community of passing on to their children. They did feel capable of teaching their children their cultural traditions and their language, thereby maintaining their culture and language.

The community supported changes, such as learning English, that sustained the traditions of their society based on status and relationships. They were less likely to accommodate changes that did not support their society. While they wanted the school system to teach skills such as speaking English, they did not want the school system to teach values that contradicted their own traditions and social structure. They supported a

school system that reinforced the relationships that were vital to their society. Respect for their elders, participation in communal activities, and appropriate behaviour in the village were traditional values that had to be a part of the formal education system. Attempts at social change that circumvented the traditional hierarchical relationships of Totokan society were not successful.

6. PARENT AND COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT IN EDUCATION

Parent and community members' involvement in education is the theme discussed in this chapter. One focus that is apparent in the literature is that parents and community members are encouraged to get involved in educational activities because of the positive effect on student achievement (Epstein, 1997; Jackson & Cooper, 1992). A theory that is also prevalent in international development literature is that community involvement can improve financing and accountability (Colclough, 1993; Uemara, 1999; World Bank, 1995).

In this chapter, first I look at parental involvement in education and argue that because of the high status of teachers relative to most parents, the Western model of teacher-parent partnership does not readily apply in Totoka. Second, I examine the involvement of other community members in education. While the community of Totoka is very involved in managing and financing their local school, I argue that this support is due to traditions, status, and relationships not necessarily because they see the benefits to student achievement. Finally, I discuss the limitations of local control over accountability in the traditional, hierarchical community of Totoka.

Parental Involvement

A variety of educational literature supports the theory that parental involvement in the education of their children increases student achievement. Epstein's Six Types of Parent Involvement are used by educators throughout North America¹⁵ based on her

¹⁵ For example, her model is included on websites for the Colorado Department of Education, the Los Angeles Annenberg Metropolitan Project, the Saskatchewan School Trustees Association, and Westwood Elementary School, Minnesota.

research that partnerships between school, family and community will help students succeed in school. Two of the types of involvement are "volunteering" and "learning at home." Volunteering suggestions include surveying parents to identify talents that could be used in the school and the classroom. Learning at home is described as the school providing information on how families can help students with homework.

Case studies from development literature show that projects use parental and community involvement as an indirect means of increasing student achievement (For example, Chad Basic Education Project and Tanzania Human Resources Development Pilot Project, Uemura, 1999). Common to many of these projects in developing countries is a belief that increased community involvement will improve attitudes towards education, thereby increasing enrollment and attendance, and resulting in improved student achievement. The tenuous links between community attitudes in Totoka towards education and student enrollment have been discussed in Chapter 5.

Another aspect of the theory of how community involvement in education enhances student achievement focuses on the congruence between community and school (Thaman, 1993). Some programs in First Nations schools in Canada are based on this theory that students perform better in school environments that are similar to and support their home culture (McKay & McKay, 1987). Parents and community members are encouraged to be actively involved in the classrooms and in developing curriculum materials. In the previous chapter, I presented the view of the people of Totoka that, rather than reflecting Fijian society, the school should offer their children an opportunity to succeed outside of the village, by teaching them English and skills appropriate for

Western culture. This view of education influenced how they saw their involvement in their children's education.

This study found that the theory that parental involvement positively affects student achievement may not be directly applicable to education in developing countries where the school reflects a Western culture very different from the community. I present the argument that, in Fiji, the status of teachers does not permit the "partnership" model of parent involvement prevalent in parent involvement programs in North America. Parent and teacher roles were highly differentiated with the teacher taking the predominant role in student achievement.

The discussion in this section is limited to parent and community involvement in educational activities other than fundraising and maintenance. As will be shown in the next section, the community was very involved in raising money for the school as well as being responsible for the maintenance of the school building and grounds.

Fijian Values, Western Behaviours Reflected in the School

Educational theory in many First Nations schools in Canada as well as in developing countries states that a school environment that reflects the community will enhance student academic success. Schools in Canada have had success bringing community elders into the schools to ensure that the local culture and language are present in the education system. Community members are often directly involved in developing curriculum, bringing local knowledge into history, science, language, and social studies classes. As mentioned previously these programs are important for preserving the culture and language. There is also evidence in North America that congruence between school and community improves student achievement (McKay & McKay, 1987, pp.64-85).

Educators in developing countries have also adopted the theory that schools should reflect the students' home culture. A program in Mexico with a goal of improving rural primary based education had the "basic assumption...that academic failure is rooted in the gap between the education system and the ways disadvantaged children communicate, learn, and interact" (Lopez, 1998). The program's goals included involving parents, school authorities and community members in the "educational process." The program was very popular and materials were distributed throughout rural, indigenous schools in Mexico, although the report did not indicate whether or not there were improved student achievements.

In contrast, the people of Totoka did not want their school to focus on the culture and language of their community. The previous chapter's discussion regarding the role of education in economic development showed how the community wanted the school to educate their children in the language and culture of the outside world. The community did have a great deal of input into the Totoka Village School, even though it was based on the British colonial system, not a traditional Fijian education model. The school committee was comprised completely of members from the community. The teachers were all Fijian; at the time of this study some teachers were even from Totoka. In a fine balancing act, the school was expected to uphold the underlying values of Fijian society while at the same time it was expected to be a reflection of the Western world, not the Fijian village.

The teachers understood the goal of teaching the students the ways of the Western world, rather than focussing on Fijian language and culture. Ravuvu provides a vivid example in the simple act of asking students to stand to show respect in the classroom (1988, p. 36). Traditionally, Fijians would show respect by sitting down, staying lower than someone with higher status. In the village, children were expected to sit immediately when entering a room where older people were seated. But in Totoka Village School, when greeting the teacher or a guest, the entire class would stand, adopting the Western rather than Fijian mode of respect. Classroom behaviour was expected to be different from behaviour in the village: Western instead of Fijian.

Parental Involvement in Totoka

This view of the role of education as training for the outside world directed the type of involvement parents and community members saw for themselves in supporting their children's educational achievement. They willingly accepted the task of preparing their children for school, looking after their basic needs, teaching them to work hard and to listen to the teacher. But they did not see a role for themselves in the classrooms or in involvement with curriculum.

Almost every parent interviewed described his or her role as primarily one of paying fees. As described previously, while fees for primary school were small (\$2-5 per term), the costs for sending children to secondary school were much higher and could be difficult for subsistence farmers and fishers. Finding the money to pay school expenses would be the primary concern for many parents. Also, with children living with relatives closer to school during the week, or on the mainland for the entire school term, the parents' role became much more limited. Paying for their children's education became

important because it was the only thing parents could do if they were unable to monitor their child's performance and behaviour on a daily or even weekly basis.

Rather than being directly involved in classroom activities, parents often felt that their role was one of instilling a proper attitude in their children. This interview with Loraini was typical of how parents saw this role.

Marilyn: What do you do as a parent to help your son?
Kara: Always talk to him every time, to be learning hard. Because his father has no job. To help him, talk to him, about manners. Don't follow other boys or do something bad. Tell him to go to church and pray every day. School is hard for him. He is sitting Class 8 again. Last year he got 333¹⁶. I ask him to sit again and work hard. To be a teacher if he works hard.

Parents were clear about their role of teaching their children to be good people. Good parents were those who sent well-behaved children to school to be taught by the teacher.

Parents did not consider direct involvement in schoolwork as part of their role. Some parents did say that they felt it was important to ensure their children did their homework, but few instances were observed of parents helping their children with homework. One of the major complaints by the teachers was that children did not do their assignments at home and they attributed that situation to parental indifference.

Even attendance at school functions was not seen as a time to discuss the academic progress of their children with the teacher. Instead parents stressed how their attendance at these events showed their children how important school was to them. One of these events was the exam-day feast. The day started with a special breakfast for the Class 6 or 8 exam class. After prayers and speeches, parents and community members shook the

¹⁶ The test was out of 500. A score of 333 was not good enough for acceptance into one of the more prestigious secondary schools.

students' hands exhorting them to do their best on the exam. While the students wrote, the fathers gathered around the kava bowl and the mothers started preparing the food. At noon, the students joined the community for the feast, returning to the exams in the afternoon. Many schools on the mainland had stopped having the exam-day feast because of the distraction to the students writing the exam.

I asked Totoka parents what they thought about cancelling the feast. None of them thought that was a good idea.

- Seona: From my point of view, I think that's a very foolish idea because the feast is not what the kids are going after, it's the support from the parents. The kids really feel happy to see their parents around while they're doing their exam.
- Akuila: If everyone is here, the children are happy. When they aren't here, they are sad. They don't concentrate on the exam.
- Nacanieli: [The feast is a way] of supporting for kids. So they can help them study. Give him strength to cope for his exam. If you are not there, the children lose hope. If there, they think: Oh, my father supports me. So I go.

Most parents had experienced the feast when they had gone to school. One mother said that she would hate to have to go to school by herself on exam day, carrying her lunch in a bag. They believed that their presence on exam day was an important means of supporting their children. Rather than being a distraction, they believed that the bustle of preparing food and the sounds of the *kava* being served were reassuring to the students and an incentive for them to do well.

These parents were not involved in their children's education in ways advocated by research in North America (Valdez, 1996, pp. 166-67). They did not read to their children or go over homework and tests with them. While they were often at the school and viewed it as "their" school, few of them discussed their children's academic progress

with the teachers. If marks were not high, the children were not given extra tutoring or remedial work at home, but were admonished to work harder at school. It was clear to these parents that teaching their children the academic subjects was the responsibility of the teacher.

When a teacher asked me about getting big books for reading to her students, I took on a project of having mothers create a big book. While many women voiced their enthusiasm and their intention to help, only a few actually took the time to come and help, gathering on the floor of my *bure* to enlarge and colour the pictures from a book. They were very proud of their results, showing the pages to their children and some signing their names on their pages. One evening, I took the finished book to the teacher with hopes that she would encourage mothers to make more of them. As she looked through the pages, rather than praising the mothers' efforts she immediately found a spelling mistake. It took a long time to get the book finished, as the women often did not show up to work on the book. Older women in the village did much of the work. One of the older women told me that the mothers were too busy to work on the book. However, their reluctance to work on the book as well as the reaction of the teacher raised questions for me about the relationship between teacher and parent. It led me to consider how status affected the relationship.

The Status of the Teacher

For the people of Totoka, there was a clear distinction between the roles of the parents and the teachers. Parents were responsible for the moral fibre of the student; the teacher was responsible for making sure that the students passed the exams. In regards to their children's schooling, parents often deferred to the teacher because of the teacher's

expertise but also because of the teacher's status. As a result, the teacher's role often took precedence over the parent's role. These roles may have been determined, partially by the hierarchical structure of Fijian society, but also because, in this context, teachers were seen to have the greatest impact on student academic achievement.

Teachers were given a position of status in the community and in the hierarchy of Fijian society they ranked relatively high because of their profession. This status was due to a variety of factors including history and education. Historically, many teachers were British and carried the status of the colonial government. Totoka's teachers still carried the status of working for the government. The status held by the government was indicated by one teacher's statement that the community respected school property because it was considered government property. Besides the status held over from the colonial period, the status of government positions is also an indication of the traditional Fijian respect for hierarchical leadership positions.

As well, teachers were some of the few people in the community who had been to college and the status of education discussed previously was accorded to the teachers as a result. All teachers were shown a certain amount of respect because of their education and profession. Some teachers in Totoka also were conferred status due to their traditional status in the community. Totoka was somewhat unique in that two of the teachers at Totoka School were also from a high-status family on the island, thus increasing their position in the community. One of these teachers, a young man in his second year of teaching, was telling me about the first time he spoke at a village meeting.

Marilyn: Was it easier because you are from the community?Fereti: Yes, but I have to tell you something. Because of my social status, I am expected to talk to the people.

Normally, in Fijian society, only the older men were able to speak at meetings. His position of being expected to talk at meetings gave an indication of the status that Fereti held in the community.

Head Teachers, with more status than other teachers, were in positions of leadership and power. Referring to secondary school principals, Tavola writes "In Fiji, the role of principal is perceived as one of high authority; therefore, such position holders have much power invested in them" (1991, p. 82). Head Teachers of primary schools were also accorded high status, especially in small, rural communities.

During the time of this study, the Head Teacher was a woman, making the status of that position more complex. While there were Fijian chiefs who were women and prominent women politicians, in Totoka there were still restrictions on a woman's involvement in the village affairs. Women were often not even present at meetings where decisions were made. The Head Teacher talked to me about the difficulties of being a woman in a leadership position.

Head Teacher: It's difficult. I am a woman and it is the first time they have heard a woman making decisions. I am double minded because as a woman I can't make a decision but as part of [a chiefly family] I have the right to make a decision.
Marilyn: And as Head Teacher?
Head Teacher: Yes, Yes.

As a Head Teacher, she was expected to make decisions that would be followed by the villagers. As a woman, she felt her acceptance in a leadership role was limited and told me that she sent the male teacher to attend meetings of the school committee, which was made up entirely of men. And yet I saw her address the community at school functions and make reports to the school committee. None of the villagers commented on having a woman as a Head Teacher, suggesting that it may not have been an issue for them. It may

have been that her position as Head Teacher was similar to her status in the village due to her family's traditional status. In any case, teachers, men and women, held positions of status in the community.

This status made it difficult for some people in the community to assist the teachers in educational activities. In the example of making the big book, the difference in status may explain why young mothers were reluctant to take part in an activity that was similar to a teacher's activity. Young women seemed to be more comfortable helping the teachers with activities such as cooking that were not similar to teacher activities. The older women who did quite a bit of the work on the book may have been more comfortable doing the activity because their age meant they were closer in status to the teachers. This is speculation, since I did not feel free to ask them about their participation or lack of participation.

An Increased Role for Teachers

In Fijian society, the hierarchies of status were carefully observed. People with status, such as teachers, were expected to make decisions that others followed. Head Teachers in particular were given leadership roles in the community and were given a great deal of authority in matters of education. As a result, the idea of parents and teachers being "partners" in education did not fit well with Fijian society where the difference in status was so acute. In Totoka, parents accepted the authority of the Head Teacher and other teachers in regards to their children's education. Taina told me that when she came back to the island to work at the resort she had wanted her daughter to come to school at Totoka, but her daughter's teacher would not release her from her school on the mainland. Taina missed her daughter very much but rationalized that the

teachers had known what was best for her daughter's education. She was willing to acquiesce to the teacher's decision.

Parents were willing to cede a great deal of their parental role to teachers in order to support their children's academic success. Boarding schools, situations where parents did not have daily contact with their children, were common in Fiji. The people of Totoka were familiar with boarding schools, as many of them had attended them before Totoka Village School was built. Boarding schools were necessary because of the distances between villages and schools in Fiji, but some parents also preferred to send their secondary school age children to a boarding school rather than have them stay with relatives on the mainland. In the rural boarding schools, parents took turns cooking for the students, but the teachers controlled the students' time and activities with the Head Teacher being the ultimate authority in the school compound.

It seemed to me that it was unnecessary for primary school age children not to live with their families while attending Totoka Village School since most children were able to walk to the school from their home or an aunt's home. And yet, a boarding school situation was set up at the school as students prepared for exams. The exam class, either Class Six or Eight, would move to the school for a week before the exam. They slept in the teachers' houses or the library and parents took turns bringing food for the entire class, which they ate together under a *vakatunaloa*, a temporary shelter constructed beside one of the teacher's houses. At 6 am the students were wakened to study before school started. After the evening meal, the generator was started to provide light so that the students could study for several hours before bedtime. On Wednesdays, normally the teachers' Bible Study evening, the teachers led the students in worship. One of the rules

during this week of study was that students were not to go into the village, even though the village was right beside the school grounds.

The teachers liked this arrangement because it gave the students more time to prepare for the exam. Students were freed from family obligations and the generator at the school gave them light by which to study. One teacher mentioned, however, that it was stressful having the class sleep in her home. Consequently, the Head Teacher suggested that the community build a hostel at the school for the students. It was unclear which students would stay in the hostel; some parents thought that it would just be for the exam classes to replace living in the teachers' homes. But the Head Teacher felt that the hostel was necessary to reduce truancy in the larger student population, especially of the students from the far side of the island. Some parents supported the hostel because they did not want to burden their extended family members who lived close to the school by having their children stay with them. During the time of my research, this project became a major one for the Head Teacher as she started to raise money for the construction of the building.

It seemed strange that a hostel would be seen as an important project for a school that was situated so close to the villages. All but one of the parents that I asked about the hostel thought it was a good idea. Some focussed on students learning how to look after themselves, skills they would need when they went on to school on the mainland. Other parents focussed on the closer control that the teachers would have of students in the hostel. Maciu, a young father with secondary education, expressed what he thought about the hostel:

The very best idea. Especially those who are sitting for their exam. If they come back after 4 o'clock, they just play in the village. In the hostel, the teachers can look after them. They can do a lot of schoolwork and improve. If [they have] morning and evening study, [the teachers] don't have to come and get them from the village.

Maciu talked about parents, especially fathers, not taking on their responsibilities to make sure that their children did their homework. But rather than changing parents' behaviour, Maciu thought that the hostel was the best hope "because the teachers are in charge of the hostel." While parents would still be involved in bringing food for the children, the teachers would have the greater authority at the hostel regarding the students' activities after school. People seemed willing to give up their own role as parents if they thought it was important for their children's success at school.

Teachers appeared to accept the status of their position that allowed them to take over the role of the parent. The Head Teacher told me that she was concerned about one girl because there were nine children in her house and the carpenters were also living there while they were building a new house. She asked the girl to come and live with her so that she could give her more help with her schoolwork. I was surprised that that Head Teacher would think that having a student live with her was a solution, rather than suggesting to the parents that the student needed more help at home with her studies. However, at several different times, individual students who were not in exam classes but were falling behind in their schoolwork came to live with their teacher for a while.

Aunts have a similar position of status that allows them to take their nieces and nephews to live with them for a period of time; a decision that parents are not always able to question. In a position of status similar to that of "aunt," teachers' decisions would not usually be questioned. Perhaps not surprisingly then, the Head Teacher asked the student,

not the parent, if she wanted to come and live in the teachers' compound. In this case, the student did not come to live with the Head Teacher. However, the resistance came from the head of the extended family, not the mother or father. This also gives an indication of the status of the Head Teacher, that a high status male leader questioned her decision, not the students' parents.

In a society organized around specified roles and hierarchy, it was understandable that parents would see teachers as having the primary responsibility for education and their own role would be more limited. The status of the teachers put them in the position of making educational decisions regarding their students even when parents were present.

It may also be that parents recognized the efficacy of giving teachers the responsibility for formal education. From research in Guyana, Saha (1983) proposes that where a discontinuity exists between the indigenous culture and the school culture, the determinants of school achievement will differ from those in developed countries. Whereas research in developed countries indicates the importance of parental involvement in student achievement, this may not be true in developing countries where traditional knowledge is not represented in the academic curricula.

Thus, family members, religious leaders, village elders, and age peers cannot provide the cultural enrichment and reinforcement needed for school achievement even though they might provide encouragement. On the other hand, the teachers who are in effect "outsiders" to the traditional cultures, and who impart nontraditional perspectives and knowledge, are virtually the only sources of school knowledge and thus control access to it. The teachers' unique role in the mastery of this knowledge cannot be overestimated, and the more competent the teacher, the greater impact on student achievement. (p.86)

While not verbalizing this logic, it appeared that Totokan parents had accepted that teachers had a greater role in promoting and supporting their child's academic success

than they as parents could have. As discussed earlier in this chapter the parents separated the Western skills taught in the school from the Fijian skills that they felt they could teach at home. Their role as a parent, then, became one of giving the teacher even greater latitude to direct their children's formal education and make educational decisions on their behalf.

Differentiated Roles Due to Tradition and Status

This analysis shows that parent involvement in educational activities is very different in a traditional society where hierarchical status is recognized. In a developed country such as Canada, parent involvement is expected to include volunteer activities in the classroom as well as parent involvement with students' studies in the home. It appeared that because the cultural traditions of the school were so different from the traditions that were still prevalent in village life, this community left the instruction of Western culture and formal academic skills to teachers in the school system. Parents in Totoka separated their role from that of the teachers as well as separating the skills they were prepared to teach their children from the skills that they expected the teachers to teach in the school.

Another aspect of the limited role that parents had in this school was the importance of status in their society. Rather than being a partnership between parent and teacher, which is a common model in North America, parent involvement was constrained by the difference in status between parents and teachers. For some, their own experience of boarding schools when they were students reinforced the centrality of the teachers' role over the parental role in educational activities. The difference in status allowed teachers to take on a greater role in decision making in a student's educational life, in effect taking on the role of the parent in many cases.

Community Involvement

The previous section presented information on the limited role that parents in Totoka had regarding their children's achievement in school. The status of teachers, differentiated hierarchical roles in the society, and a tradition of boarding schools were all factors that determined the educational activities in which parents were involved in Totoka. It appeared that in this context, teachers were seen as having much more impact on student achievement than parents or community.

Nevertheless, Totoka Village School was a community school and community members were actually very involved in various school activities. These were not activities that were directly related to curriculum and instruction; they were not creating local resources for use in the classroom or involved in assisting the teacher with instruction. Instead, community members were active on various committees, involved in the maintenance of the school, as well as many fundraising activities. In contrast to North America where community involvement in schools is often explained by its potential for a positive effect on student achievement, this study found that the community members of Totoka were more likely to participate in school activities because of relationships, traditions, and status.

The Rugby Tournament

The rugby tournament created discussion within the community about people's involvement in school events because it was such a large event organized as a school fundraiser. Not only did the grounds need to be prepared and the tournament organized, but 400 players also had to be housed and fed in the villages. With the number of people

in the villages doubling in size as well as hosting 300 - 500 people attending to watch the games, every villager's help was needed. Most of the reasons that people were involved or were not involved in school activities became apparent during this tournament.

My research notes at the beginning of the introductory chapter give an idea of how the tournament took over the entire island for four days and the kinds of activities in which villagers were involved. Boys gathered firewood and dug cassava. Men transported supplies by boat, built the *vakatunaloa* shelters, and organized the games. Women and girls cooked, fed the teams, and washed dishes. The older men conducted welcoming ceremonies and entertained dignitaries. Anyone who lived in Totoka or was from Totoka and had a wage income was asked for a cash donation to buy supplies, but all families contributed produce or labour.

Well - most families. Although I thought that the tournament was well supported by the community, some of the men organizing the event talked to me afterwards about difficulties. Anare said that originally the elders didn't support the tournament. Some villagers didn't help on the first day but once they saw the tournament happening they went over to the school to join in. Kali said that the villagers didn't do their part so there wasn't enough firewood and cassava. Akuila, the chairman of the school committee, had to send some boys to dig cassava on the morning of the tournament.

It's difficult to understand why there would not be overwhelming support for a fundraiser for the local school. As Seriana, who helped with the cooking said when asked why she helped "Because it's our school and our children go." The people of Totoka supported education, they were proud that they had a school on their island, and even young people without children were expected and were willing to contribute to the

education of their younger siblings, nieces, and nephews. The reasons that community members did or did not participate in school events lay deep within Fijian culture and the importance of relationships that were strengthened through traditions and status.

The Importance of Relationships

In his study of Fijian villages in 1954, Nayacakalou discussed how the Fijian economic system was based on social organization (1978, pp. 115-121). "Labour is given not as an economic service, but as a social one" (p. 115). Relationships directed how labour was mobilized and how work-groups were organized. Thus incentives for work were based on one's role within a group and the obligation of one's group to another. These incentives appeared to continue to operate within the community of Totoka almost 50 years later.

While some people, like Seriana, helped with the tournament because they wanted to support the school, much of the effort was as a result of obligations of relationship. When Akuila asked some boys to go to their gardens and harvest cassava for the meals, those boys would have been his nephews, who would be obligated to follow his instructions. Esiteri used a similar strategy to get the playing field mowed, when she asked young men from the next village to mow the grass. She explained that her grandmother was from the village and so she could tell them to come and work for her. She used her relationship as an "aunt" with these men to compel them to do the work. In a society with an economic system based on relationships rather than monetary reward,¹⁷ what would be considered volunteer labour in North America was organized along social or kinship lines. This explains why the school committee in Totoka was not composed of representatives from each of the villages, but rotated among the villages with membership all from one village. When this research was conducted, Akuila, the school committee chairman, was from the old village and his committee was made up of young men from the same *mataqali* or kinship group in that village. These were young men who were related to Akuila and thus bound by relationship to help Akuila in the work for the school. The people from other *mataqali* were not equally obligated to help Akuila in this work.

By contrast, the resort had a board of directors made up all of the male leaders in the community. Every person on the island and almost all of the people who worked at the resort were related to at least one of the men on the board. While the people who worked at the resort were normally paid a wage, shortly after the coup, when tourism dropped drastically, the resort was not able to pay its workers. The board cut the workers' hours and eventually asked them to continue to work for free. Because of their personal obligations to the board members, the workers continued to work for weeks without a wage and the resort stayed open. I believe it unlikely that they would have continued working for the resort itself, but the board of directors was able to keep the resort open because of their personal relationships to the workers.

¹⁷ This is not to say that Fijians never expect to be paid money for work. Even in 1954, Nayacakalou recognized that Fijians were operating under two economic systems: a Western monetary system and the Fijian social system. But even paid work was influenced by the social structure of the society.

While people in the villages might be obligated to work due to their personal relationship to members of the resort board, the Head Teacher or the chair of the school committee, they were not similarly obligated to work for the school itself. The school was outside of the social structure of the society. No-one was obligated traditionally through relationship to commit labour to the school and school events, only to individuals who may have positions within the education system.

Following Tradition

Beyond the immediate family, it was the elders who organized work within and between groups. Nayacakalou refers to a common saying that translates as "it is the will of the elders" (1978, p. 119). Much work was done by young men and women upon the direction of their elders. So Kali's comment that originally the elders did not support the tournament takes on greater significance. Without the elders coming together, issuing their support of the tournament, and their directive to work for the tournament, there was less incentive for the young workers to comply with the school committee's requests for help.

One reason why the elders did not support the tournament became apparent as I talked to more people about helping at the tournament. Selina, a young mother with sisters at the school, thought that the tournament fund-raiser was Totoka's job. That year the school committee was from Totoka. Selina went on to explain that there is competition between villages, making it difficult for the villages to work together. She said "Before the chief would talk to the men and Tai Ana would talk to the women." Years ago, when there was only one village on the island, all of the elders would gather, make a decision, and then the male and female leaders of the village (the chief and Tai

Ana) would tell the villagers what was to be done. Now that the villagers are separated into three villages, these traditional lines of communication have broken down. Seldom did the elders from all three villages, all three *mataqalis*, meet together. In the case of the rugby tournament, the meeting of the elders and the ensuing directive from the leaders did not happen.

Kali supported Selina explanation saying that there was a conflict between Akuila, who is from Totoka, and the *Turaga Ni Koro*, who lives in another village. Traditionally, announcements regarding village activities would be made for the chief or the elders by the *Turaga ni Koro*. It appeared that information about the rugby tournament came from Akuila and the school committee but did not go through the *Turaga ni Koro*. In an interview, the *Turaga ni Koro* explained that often people did not help at the school because the announcement did not go through him.

Because the school belongs to the village, if they want something they should ask the *Turaga ni Koro* and he will ask the village. The main thing, the school committee did not ask the *Turaga ni Koro*.

There was only one *Turaga ni Koro* who resided in one village but was responsible for making announcements in all three villages. It was difficult for communication to take place between the three villages while at the same time maintaining traditional protocols.

A discussion with the Head Teacher about communication further illustrates the difficulties of satisfying traditions and respecting the hierarchy while getting information to the community members.

Marilyn: What is the traditional way of communicating?Esiteri: Call a village meeting once a month and everyone was there. They decide whatever issues come up. They collectively agreed like building thatched *bures*. So and so: you go and get this. They have

different things to do. And work collectively. Now, divided into 3 [villages].
Marilyn: How do they communicate now?
Esiteri: The *Turaga ni Koro* sends a message to the other villages to have a meeting. But only about 6 people will be there. We couldn't put this to a village meeting because no quorum. [The village elder] is supposed to call the *Vanua* meetings. He sends word to [the school chairman]. Or [the school chairman] tells [the village elder] to have a meeting. Then the *Turaga ni Koro* informs the villages of the date.

Once again, the issue of communication to the three villages comes up. The traditional line of communication through the *Turaga ni Koro* had never changed to accommodate the physical change from one village to three. The hierarchies of the society required a number of levels of leadership, from school chairman through the village elder on to the *Turaga ni Koro*, who then passed the information on to the people in the village. The physical situation on the island of three separated villages with no telephone or easy communication made it very difficult for all of these people to be contacted and the information passed on.

The traditional lines of communication had not changed to accommodate the relatively new institution of the village school. The Head Teacher said that she tried to work within the traditional structure, getting word to each of the three village elders and their spokesmen. However, she felt that "the circulars are more effective because it's all in detail and [the parents] know what is required." Given that the population was literate, all parents could read the circulars which were written in Fijian. The difficulty was that people in the village, especially the elders, could be affronted when the traditional ways were not followed, resulting in lack of support for school functions. Despite the fact that the traditional manner of making announcements was not working, working outside of the traditions was not widely accepted either.

Maintaining Status

Nayacakalou also mentions the force of public opinion, which determined status, as an incentive to work (1978, p. 119). As Nayacakalou explains, if Fijians did not fulfill their obligations and maintain their status, they would find themselves without assistance when they required it. In Fijian society, beyond the status of individuals, there was the status of the family and the status of the larger group, in this case the island of Totoka to consider. Competition was a large part of Fijian social activities, as each group tried to outdo each other. "It may be housebuilding, or it may be contributions into the church funds. Each group is anxious to see that it does not come last and, if possible, to be best" (Ibid, p. 120).

This competition between *mataqali* helps explain the attitude towards the school committee. Whereas it may be expected that everyone would want to help the school committee because it served the school where all of their children attended, instead people often sat back to watch if the committee would fail in their endeavors. The school committee was organized by *mataqali*, with a different *mataqali* taking on the job at the beginning of this research. Comparisons were carefully made to determine which *mataqali* had done the best job.

The *mataqali* in the newer village had been responsible for the school committee for several years and the old village had recently taken on the job. Tai Uraia, a male elder from the new village told about problems knowing what the school committee was doing, comparing the current school committee with the committee from his own village.

Tai Uraia: All the committee is from [the old village]. They don't tell the other villages.Marilyn: Was last year better, when the committee was from [the new village]?

Tai Uraia: Yes. There was a meeting. They got the water tank, the teachers' houses. This year the committee has only done the fence.

Besides comparing the operation of the school committee, the achievements of different school committees were often compared, as Tai Uraia had done. The status of the *mataqali* was increased by the achievements of their school committee.

This competition between *mataqali* was not always good for the school as people held to the status of their *mataqali* over their responsibility to the school. They thought of themselves as members of their *mataqali* not members of the school community supporting the school committee and hence they worked for their *mataqali* not for the school committee. Many people understood the rotating school committee to mean that working for the school also shifted from *mataqali* to *mataqali*. Seriana, who was from the new village, explained how she thought it worked:

This year [the old village], it's their time to support the school. Last year [the new village] supported it very well.

This was a common understanding: that those people who belonged to the *mataqali* of the school committee would contribute their labour to school maintenance and projects. Therefore, many people from the other two *mataqali* stood by and watched the school committee from the third *mataqali* to see if their projects, such as the rugby tournament, would be successful.

The funds raised by the rugby tournament were compared by some to the *soli* that had been held as a fundraiser in a previous year. A *soli* was a traditional form of raising funds that capitalized on this competition between *mataqali*. Every family donated money and a careful record was kept as to who donated how much. Family members on the mainland or working overseas were contacted and told to send money. At the end, a tally was done to see which *mataqali* contributed the most to the *soli*. While contributing the most money to the school, the winning *mataqali* also contributed substantially to its own status.

While there was competition for status between the three *mataqali* on the island, there was also competition between Totoka and the neighbouring islands. It was important to everyone on the island that the reputation of the community be upheld. It was important, therefore, when Larry pointed out that people waited to see what was happening and then they joined in to support the rugby tournament on the second day. Once they saw that it was a big event with lots of people from the other islands, they offered their help to ensure that Totoka's status was maintained.

Using Relationships, Status, and Traditions

The school was an outside institution in Totoka. Based primarily on the British school system, it was not functionally integrated into Fijian society. The school was not part of the system of relationships, status, and traditions that supported Fijian social structure and economy. Fijians served on the local school committee and knew the Fijian social structure, but they were willing to accept the Western structures such as school committees that were based on a foreign societal structure. Unfortunately, leaving cultural traditions behind was more difficult.

The Education Act of 1978 recommends a "Fijian management style" (cited in Williams, 2000, p. 202), but I have found no description of what that might look like. Williams does not expand on that particular point. The Blueprint for Affirmative Action on Fijian Education, which might be expected to support a Fijian management style

because of its pro-Fijian tone, recommends training for school managers, but does not suggest a change to the school committee structure. Anani, while writing about the traditional African chieftaincy as an "indigenous organizational principle of leadership," highlights the need for

well thought out procedures by which the indigenous structures of governance of the community resource bases can be devoted and incorporated into modern day administrative practices. (1999, p. 61)

There are no guidelines for communities such as Totoka that are trying to accommodate the modern school committee structure within the traditional organization of the Fijian village.

The most successful school projects in Totoka were those that drew upon Fijian relationships, raised the status of families and *mataqali*, and followed the Fijian traditions. A number of people in Totoka referred to the *soli* as a very successful school fund-raiser. Traditionally, families would have contributed fish, yams, and mats but the *soli* had been updated to be a collection of money. However, most of the traditions of the *soli* were maintained and a successful *soli* still relied on related groups competing to maintain and increase status.

The *soli* that reportedly raised a considerable sum for the school happened before I arrived in Totoka. While I heard a number of positive accounts of the fundraiser, I did not hear any complaints about it or an explanation as to why the school committee had changed to a rugby tournament as their major fundraiser. The Methodist Church in Fiji, however, was re-thinking the use of the *soli*, because it was too successful. Communities from all over Fiji raised money to be publicly presented at the annual meeting and the amount that was presented was a major indication of the status of the community. Huge

amounts were raised through this method, but the church was aware that communities were raising money from families that could not afford the large cash donations that were being given. Families were undergoing severe hardship so that the status of their *mataqali* was maintained during the *soli*.

Because of the changes happening in Fiji, such as the introduction of a monetary economy, traditions have also had to change. Traditions in Totoka did not change as quickly as other parts of their society. While the original village had grown into three villages, the traditions of communicating from the chief and elders to the villagers had not changed to accommodate the geographical distances. Nevertheless, those in the village who respected the traditional ways, especially the elders who carried a lot of authority, wanted the traditional ways to be followed. The inability for traditions to accommodate the current conditions made it difficult for the school committee and the head teacher to communicate effectively with the villagers.

The school, although managed and staffed by Fijians, operated through a different culture than the traditional Fijian culture. Where the school was able to work through the Fijian system of relationships, status and traditions there was less conflict and the school projects were more successful.

Accountability

Community involvement is recommended by many policy makers with the assumption that community involvement increases accountability. Reforms recommended by aid organizations and national governments include local governance structures with the hope that local control will ensure that educational funds are spent

effectively (for a review of a number of these reforms see Uemura, 1999). Theoretically, the local people will hold accountable those responsible for money management as well as holding teachers accountable for their attendance at the school.

This research in the community of Totoka found a number of factors that limited the ability of local control to ensure this accountability, particularly significant in traditional, hierarchically organized communities. In these societies, relationships, status, and traditions are as important as any Western standards of accountability.

Money Management

Similar to the Fijian accommodation of traditional and Western senses of labour that was discussed earlier, the people of Totoka also combined Western fiscal responsibility with traditional Fijian obligations to relationships and status. The people of Totoka understood that they were accountable for the money raised for the school, but they were also subject to the fulfillment of familial and community obligations.

Many people in the community were involved in the management of money at Totoka Village School. Similar to most schools in Fiji, a school committee comprised of men from the community managed the school. This committee was responsible for the management of the grant money from the government as well as raising other funds necessary for the operation and maintenance of the school. There were a Parent Teacher Association and a Mothers Club that both operated independently of the school committee, raising money and spending it as they wished. The teachers also raised money for a separate fund that they controlled.

The school committee was accountable to the Ministry of Education and a financial report was sent at the end of the school year. The year-end report (Table 3) gives some indication of the monies raised and how they were spent. This financial accounting was also given by the Head Teacher with her report to community members at the school year-end ceremony.

Income		Expenses	
Fee Free Grant	3990.00	Stationery	2050.70
Fund Raising	5471.75	Fencing	2000.00
Donations	771.00	School Maintenance and Painting	2500.00
Captain Cook	800.64	Photocopier	350.00
Building Fund	276.00	Generator Maintenance	1160.00
		Boarding Class 6 & 8	450.00
Total Income	11309.39	Compound Maintenance	450.00
Less Expenses	9810.70	Transport (boat) etc	500.00
Income over Expenses	1498.69	Prize Giving	200.00
		Teachers FTA Meet	150.00
		Total Expanses	0810.70

 Table 3
 School Committee Financial Report 2000

Total Expenses 9810.70

One of the teachers commented that because the villagers were poorly educated they were not concerned about financial reports:

They're in the village and they don't have the care. In urban, they are more educated and want to know where the money goes.

However, the comments from community members during interviews indicated that they were interested in how the school committee was spending the money. Maikali, a father, complained:

They don't put it in the book. At the end of the year, everyone, all the village must be there. The chairman must put it in the book when they use the money.

The rounded numbers indicate he had some valid concerns: it is unlikely that the expense for the maintenance and painting, for example, was exactly \$2500. The villagers knew that the money was not accurately accounted for. The World Bank Participation Sourcebook states that the "misuse of funds" is one of the risks of local participation in many developing countries (Colletta & Perkins, 1995).

Just as important as the paper accounting, the people in the village could look at the school and see whether the money was being spent on improvements. Before year-end when the above report was presented, Maciu expressed his concerns during an interview:

Maciu:	I'm concerned about the fund-raising on now. For example, in the last
	3 months every 2 weeks there is fundraising for the school, but didn't
	see any improvement.
Marilyn:	What fundraising?
Maciu:	Like the tournament and buying food [a cash BBQ at the school].
Marilyn:	You don't know how the money was spent?
Maciu:	Don't see improvement. Maybe keep in the bank.

The community members were interested in seeing how the money was spent, not in reading a year-end report. They could see that a year after the rugby tournament, where money was raised to build a fence, only half of the schoolyard was fenced off, using fencing donated by Captain Cook Cruiselines and posts cut from the forest. They had physical proof that the \$2000 in the annual report had not built a fence.

The problem of misused funds was not restricted to that year's school committee. There were questions regarding how the previous school committee spent money for a generator. I was told that the PTA money as well as the money raised for the kindergarten by the mothers club had also disappeared. Even the money that the teachers had raised for school expenses had been borrowed by the teachers themselves. Nor was the loss of funds limited to Totoka. Tavola writes that the "mismanagement and misappropriation of school funds have been endemic in rural schools" (2000a, p.176). In the case of the funds in Totoka, the money had been requested by other community members for necessary family expenses.

Traditionally, Fijian communities had subsistence economies that relied on sharing within kinship groups to ensure distribution of resources.

Fijian village resource allocation is based on the ideal of sharing and caring for each other, in proportion to closeness of relationship.... A person is encouraged to embark on an enterprise or allowed to use certain natural resources in the hope that others will share the fruits of his labour. (Ravuvu, 1988, p. 176)

Totoka, to a great extent, still operated on this subsistence, sharing economy. So, for example, when someone in the village caught a great number of fish, the catch would be shared among the entire family and even the larger village community if possible. A mango tree and even the coconut trees along the beach belonged to someone, but when there was an abundance of fruit, it was shared with others.

Therefore, in a community where cash was in short supply, a large amount of cash raised through a raffle or the rugby tournament was a valuable community commodity. It was difficult for families with little cash income to amass the amount of cash necessary to pay secondary school bills, buy food for house builders, or hold a family ceremony. Because there was no bank on the island and few villagers had bank accounts, someone in the community would hold the cash from a fundraising event. People, especially family members, would approach that person and *kerekere* the money they required. It would be very difficult for the "treasurer" to refuse the request.

In the Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel Report, Williams (2000, p.201) suggests that the training of school managers and clear expectations laid out in a school management handbook would alleviate the problem. This study of Totoka, however, raises questions as to whether training would solve the problem of missing funds, because the funds were not actually missing, but had been redistributed through the community. Nayacakalou refers to the Western concept of money as the "depersonalization of economic relations" (1978, p. 117), which is at odds with the traditional Fijian economic system based on relationships. The Western concept of accountability is measured by a financial statement that properly accounts for the money. In Fiji, Nayacakalou contends, "the carrying out of social obligations often conflicts with the demands of a monetary economy" (p. 130). The people of Totoka who served on the school committee were also accountable to their relatives and community members.

There is a tension within the community of Totoka, between Western fiscal responsibility and the traditional obligations to relationships. This was evident in an interview with three, well-educated young women; after a bit of discussion they decided that a 50% disappearance rate was acceptable. That is, they would be happy if 50% of the money went to family and community requests leaving 50% of the money to the project for which the money was raised. This is not a standard that would likely be agreeable to aid organizations or the Ministry of Education.

Traditions

Besides the commitment to family and community obligations, there were other Fijian traditions that were seen by some people as inappropriate expenditures of school money or unnecessary loss of school time. While I was at Totoka, the two traditions that

were in conflict with accountability standards were the loss of class time for traditional ceremonies and the purchase of kava with school funds.

An issue often raised regarding education in developing countries is that of cancelling classes, most often due to teacher absence (Uemera, 1999). More community involvement in the education system is hoped to place pressure on the teachers to fulfill their obligations. Community members in Totoka did notice when classes were cancelled and indirectly raised questions about teacher absences. However, it was observed that traditional ceremonies also necessitated removing children from school or even cancelling school. Community involvement did not necessarily ensure that classes were held and community traditions increased the number of instruction days that were cancelled.

Traditional ceremonies were community events to which a great deal of time was devoted. When an elder of Totoka died, the head of that family sent word to the Head Teacher that fundraising planned for that week was to be cancelled. A parents' meeting planned to be held on the day of the death was also cancelled. School was cancelled for the day of the funeral. One of the teachers, in frustration, commented that Fijians would always be "left" behind if they continued to place traditions ahead of their children's schooling.

Another tradition that was an issue throughout Fiji was the use of *kava* at schools. As mentioned before, the *kava* ceremony was an important part of Fijian culture. Almost every school event in Totoka such as parent meetings and school prize-giving included a *kava* ceremony. Since children did not take part in the ceremony, *kava* was not a part of the children's activity. Before and after the prize-giving, the male elders and the school

committee chairman would drink *kava* in one of the teachers' houses or in an empty classroom. During the exams, the men would gather under the trees, around a *kava* bowl.

In some schools in Fiji, teachers would drink *kava* during school time, leaving their classroom unattended (Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, 2000, p.169). In a school that I visited on the mainland, I was invited to speak to one of the classes. Shortly after the beginning of the class, the teacher left the classroom and did not return. As I was leaving the school, I saw the teacher sitting with another man, drinking *kava*. As a result of the prevalence of missed instruction time due to *kava* sessions, the Ministry of Education issued a memo to schools banning the drinking of *kava* in schools. This level of misuse was not apparent at Totoka during the time that I was in the community. It is important to note, however, that all of the teachers except one were women. Since for the most part, women do not spend as much time drinking *kava* as do the men, this may have been a major factor in the absence of the problem during school hours in Totoka.

While school time was not devoted to *kava*, school money certainly was. The school financial report above does not indicate the amount of money that was spent on *kava*. However, it would have been purchased for the prize-giving ceremony. Any group activity, such as building the fence would have concluded with *kava*. After the rugby tournament, the school committee went to each village and held a *kava* ceremony to thank the villagers for their help. The *kava* would have been purchased using the money raised during the tournament. Enough *kava* to ensure a village was appropriately thanked would cost at least \$60, so almost \$200 would be spent from the tournament's profits in ceremonies at the three villages.

Non-Fijians may see the expenditure on *kava* as an improper expenditure of school money. Even within the Fijian community, there was criticism about spending money on *kava* rather than on supplies for students. However, traditions such as the *kava* ceremony were an important part of Fijian culture. In Totoka, any community event was accompanied by the *kava* ceremony, which indicated the importance of the event and the support of the elders of the community. Therefore, what some would view as an inappropriate expenditure of school monies, would be an appropriate expense within the context of the traditions of the community culture.

Hierarchichal Status

The Western notion of accountability presumes that there is some person or body to whom one is accountable, some person or body that evaluates and questions reports made to it. In community-school relations, the schools, the teachers and the management are expected to be accountable to community members, particularly parents. The move to community involvement assumes that members of the community will want to and will be able to ask questions, ensuring that resources are efficiently used towards quality education.

In a review of education projects for the World Bank, Uemara (1999) lists "increasing accountability" as one of the rationales for community participation in education. "Parental involvement in education, particularly in school governance, is seen as a means of making schools more accountable to the society which funds them"(p. 4). Parents' meetings and reporting systems are given as essential methods to ensure this accountability. However, Uemera notes that this model of accountability to the community, developed in OECD countries, relies on a relationship between school

management and community members that is based on a "market-oriented concept." Citing a study in developing countries, Uemera adds that accountability relies on the community holding some power over teachers and school staff (Rugh & Bossert 1998 in Uemera, 1999), either through social ties or consumer satisfaction.

This study found that the hierarchical status structures in the community of Totoka limited the ability of community members to question actions by either teachers or the school committee. The status of both the teachers and the school committee was such that most community members had no power to ensure accountability.

In some interviews the issue of what happened to the money raised for the school was mentioned and gave me an opportunity to ask how the interviewee would voice concerns. Two young women, one a mother of a school-age child, wondered where fund-raising money was spent.

Marilyn:	Who would you ask?
Kuini:	The chairman! [Josifini laughs at this.]
Marilyn:	Would you ask the Head Teacher?
Josifini:	No.
Kuini:	She's afraid to ask the teachers.
Josifini:	No, I would ask Mareta. [A teacher from the mainland who had been
	in the community a long time.] I ask her about Sai's schooling; is it good, bad, too much playing.
Marilyn:	Would you ask Mareta about the money?
Josifini:	No.
Marilyn:	Would [male elders in the village] ask?
Josifini:	No.

Both the Head Teacher and the chairman had high status in Totoka, higher than Josifini. There was also the added distance of gender between Josifini and the chairman. She felt more comfortable talking to a female teacher of lower status, but even then did not feel comfortable asking about matters of money. It was not clear why Josifini thought that the male elders would not ask about the money, but this conversation indicates the difficulty

that community members had in asking teachers how money was being spent.

Maciu, a well-educated young father, described a process which he believed was how concerns should be raised.

Marilyn:	Who would you talk to if you had a concern?
Maciu:	To the chairman [of the school committee] because he's in charge of everything.
Marilyn:	What if you had a concern about the teaching?
Maciu:	Talk to the elders first. And the elders can call for a village meeting
	and invite the chairman to come over and negotiate the problem with
	the chairman. So the chairman can take it over to the teachers. Or
	have any idea of the teachers to negotiate with the elders in a meeting.
Marilyn:	Has this ever happened that you know?
Maciu:	No, but the process is there.

As Maciu mentioned, it did not seem that this process was ever followed. He himself

wondered how the fund-raising money was being spent because he had not seen

improvements at the school. But he had not raised these concerns with the chairman.

I talked to Maikali, a male leader in the community, one of the elders to whom

Maciu thought concerns should be taken. He had expressed a concern to me about the

number of days that the teachers were absent from school.

Marilyn:	So you would take your concerns to the Head Teacher?
Maikali:	Yes and the Education Officer to find out if the Head Teacher is
	telling the truth. They have sick days and leave. Most of the people, I
	hear from them, when [the teachers] go out they come back late. The parents say this.
	1 5
Marilyn:	They express their concerns to you?
Maikali:	Yes. But we don't know the truth. If [the teachers] have extra school
	hours that's good but if they just go and come back late, not [i.e.,not good.]
Marilyn:	Are most parents expressing their concerns to you?
Maikali:	They would just [motion keeping the mouth shut.] It's the problem with Fijian society; they are too shy to ask. Most people won't tell you, but to tell the others.

Maikali refers to Fijians' reluctance to directly confront someone, but instead to tell someone else. In this case, even he, a male elder, was reluctant to question the Head Teacher. Besides her status as Head Teacher, Esiteri was also from a chiefly family, giving her higher status than most people on the island.

It happened that the chairman of the school committee, Esiteri's brother, was also of very high status, from a chiefly family. Tavola found that in Fiji, where often the chief was the chair of the school committee, mismanagement of school funds was tolerated "because it is taboo to question the motives and actions of high chiefs" (1991, p. 99). In Totoka, the status of both the Head Teacher and the chair of the school committee made it very difficult, if not impossible, for parents to raise questions about the management of the school.

This restriction was made even clearer to me during a meeting of the school committee. I had written up a report for the chairman that summarized some of the issues that had arisen during my interviews in the community. I had tried to make sure that the report was not critical of the actions of the current or previous school committees, but discussed the structure, that everyone, including school committee chairmen had found no longer worked with the changing village structure. The introduction of the report included this paragraph on communication:

Improving the communication between the school committee and the three villages will help the community know how they can help the committee and the school. Some people offered ways the system could be improved. I have also made some suggestions. Which ones will work for Totoka?

When I showed the report to the chairman, he indicated that he was interested in the following suggestion in the report:

Tell the community what the plans are for the year. The committee decides which projects are to be completed during the year. The villages are told what the projects for the year are, what they will cost, how the money will be raised, and who is responsible for the work. The committee organizes the project and reports on the work done.

However, when I presented this report to a meeting of the school committee, a committee member, not the chairman, quite vehemently told me that because they were appointed, they did not have to report to the community. Their appointment by the chief and the elders gave them the status of the chief and the elders, status above most of the parents and other community members. While the current chairman had the status of being from a chiefly family, any school committee chairman would have status within the community because he was appointed by the chief and elders.

There are ways in Fijian society for people to make their concerns known indirectly to the people in power. As Maikali said, Fijians won't tell you but they will tell others. In the case of his concern about teachers being absent from school, the Head Teacher became aware of the community's questions when someone on the mainland asked her about the problem. She did not hear of it from anyone from the community, but in a very indirect manner learned that community members were questioning the number of days that teachers were absent.

This example shows how the community could let the Head Teacher and the school committee know that they were unhappy about their decisions and actions. But, in general, the high status of those positions prevented the community from directly questioning them or holding them accountable.

A Different Accountability

With large amounts of aid dollars going towards education in developing countries, aid organizations are holding developing countries accountable for how these funds are spent. National governments, in turn, are holding local officials more accountable. The theory that community involvement in education will ensure accountability is widely accepted. However, this theory is flawed in its application to traditional, hierarchical communities; indeed it might be counterproductive.

The importance of relationships, status, and traditions affected the way in which the community was able to hold someone accountable. Depersonalized measures of accountability were different from traditional Fijian economics that were based on personal relationships. People in Totoka were more accountable to their family and other members of the community than they were to government officials. The community expected traditional ceremonies to be honoured, thus requiring a commitment of time and money. Decisions made by high-status members of the community could not be questioned.

Both the Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, 2000) and the Ministry of Education's *Blueprint for Fijian Education* (2000) recommend training for school committees, teaching Fijians how to meet the requirements of the school system. Training in goal-setting, financial management, and effective communication are recommended, but if the underlying community structures are not openly acknowledged and discussed, the conflict between the two systems will continue.

Relationships, Status, and Traditions

This analysis of interviews and observations in the community of Totoka has shown how parent and community involvement in education was influenced by relationships, status, and traditions. Parents' direct involvement in classroom activities was limited by the high status of teachers, as well as the teachers' greater knowledge and expertise in the formal and informal curriculum in the school. Therefore, teachers took on a greater role than parents in students' academic lives as students often lived in hostels supervised by the teachers or even lived in the teachers' homes.

How and to what extent community members were involved in school activities was also bound by their personal relationships, the involvement of those of higher status, and how well the school personnel followed traditional protocols. School activities were successful in involving community members if they were organized to take advantage of Fijian cultural traditions and societal structure.

Accountability in Totoka was very different from a Western sense of accounting for money as well as work time. Because economic and social interactions were so inextricably linked, money management was influenced by traditional obligations to relationships and status. Money had to be used to conduct traditions such as kava ceremonies that could be criticized as not being directly benefitting students. Status of committee chairmen and teachers made it very difficult for most community members to question their decisions. In any case, the importance of maintaining relationships in this traditional society reduced the efficacy of raising complaints about people in positions of status.

7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

This study, in considering the complex relations between school and community in developing countries, found that an adequate discussion of the community's interests in education is missing. As a result, the theories that exist regarding the connections between school and community do not accurately predict or explain the decisions made by parents and community members or their resulting behaviours (Colclough, 1993; Lynch, 1997; World Bank, 1995). The questions that needed to be answered were (a) what are the factors that motivate or inhibit community members in their support of the local school and (b) how are the various interests of parents, educators, community members and international agencies communicated and negotiated?

I drew upon existing theories of community participation in education (Epstein, 1992; Shaeffer, 1994) to develop a comprehensive model of the possible interactions between school and community. The resulting categories of attitude, communication, involvement, governance, and collaboration guided my data collection and ensured that my study reflected the multi-faceted connections between school and community. As a result, my study provides a more complete understanding of the complexities of the relations between school and community than what is present in the existing literature.

The review of the literature presented in Chapter 2 showed there is little understanding of how or why community members support or do not support education. Instead of recognizing the interests that influence a local community's support of education, the focus in the literature is on how educators view the connections between school and community, reflecting their own interests in education (Colclough, 1993; Haddad & Demsky, 1994; Uemara, 1999). There are two theories that guide educators'

understandings of these connections. The first is that education is an important part of the economic and social development of a community (Carnoy & Samoff, 1990; Gannicott, 1990; Lynch, 1997). The second theory is that increased community involvement in education will improve the effectiveness and the efficiency of the education being delivered (Epstein, 1992; Kochar & Gopal, 1997; Thaman, 1991).

My two-year ethnographic study of a community in Fiji shows that these existing theories do not adequately account for conditions in a traditional hierarchical community with a largely subsistence economy. My analysis of this community shows that relationships, status, and tradition are important factors affecting the interactions between this school and this community. Educators and personnel in national departments of education as well as international agencies need to understand the importance of these factors as they set educational policy on interactions between school and community. It is also necessary that community leaders acknowledge the importance of these factors and recognize how they affect the decisions made in their community.

In the next section I first discuss how relationships, status, and traditions have a significant impact on the interactions between school and community; they can promote or inhibit community members' support of education and educational activities. This study shows that because educators seldom recognize the factors influencing community members or how the educational interests of local stakeholders may be different than the purposes defined by educational theories, varying interests are seldom communicated and negotiated. Following this discussion of important factors, I present the implications of these factors when communicating and negotiating educational interests. Recommendations for international, national, and local educators, as well as for

community leaders follow. Finally, I conclude with recommendations for further study in the area of community-school relations.

The Importance of Relationships, Status, and Traditions

The framework within which the members of this Fijian community made their decisions, educational and otherwise, was based on relationships, status, and traditions. These were the factors that influenced people's lives and therefore influenced their interactions with the school. Educators working under accepted educational theories that did not recognize this framework came into conflict with local realities that emphasized the importance of hierarchical relationships, respected status, and maintained traditions.

The Limited Role of Education in Economic and Social Development

A well-accepted educational theory is that education plays an important part in the economic and social development of individuals and therefore communities (Gannicott, 1990; Lynch, 1997). An assumption of this theory is that education should be designed to prepare individuals for work, either vocational or wage employment, that will enable them to contribute to the economy of the community (Haddad & Demsky, 1994; Schultz, 1971). Formal education is also viewed as a means for the social development of a community, preserving the language and culture of indigenous communities while introducing what are hoped to be positive improvements to the community, for example in the areas of health and the environment. My data showed that this theory does not take into account the local realities that influence how community members communicate, invite involvement in school activities or make educational decisions.

First, the theory incorrectly views economic activities as impersonal transactions. In traditional, hierarchical societies such as Fiji, economic and social activities are inextricably linked. Social relationships are the basis of the economic system and they ensure individual's economic security. Status determines the number and strength of the social relationships and therefore economic relationships for entire family units. An increase in status and strengthening of relationships for one individual strengthens the economic security for the entire family. Traditions such as ceremonies reinforce relative status and relationships. My study shows that education has to take account of this system of economics and the existing social structure.

The theory that education is important to economic development is often interpreted as implying that education is the only means to economic security. Education is seen as an individualistic pursuit and educational policies are based on assumptions about economic benefit to the individual; however this study found that families make educational decisions within the larger context of the family unit. Education is only one way of increasing the economic security of individuals and their families. In the context of a subsistence economy, it is not necessary for all of the individuals in a family to receive a formal education; some can make valuable contributions to the economic security of the entire family in other ways, such as subsistence economic activities and strengthening the social relationships of the family. Educational and economic theories that focus solely on improving an individual's economic prospects, without considering the communal aspects of the economy, are not appropriate in this context.

The theory that education is important for economic development can also be flawed if economic development is defined in the narrow sense of wage employment. The result

is a focus on agricultural or vocational programs because jobs in these sectors are readily available. The literature gives examples of the failure of vocational programs (Haddad & Demsky, 1994), but there is little recognition in the literature as to why these programs failed. This study shows how important status can be in educational decision-making. Rather than only providing economic benefits to an individual, education is valued for the status that it brings to an entire family. More status is attached to academic programs than to vocational and agricultural programs. School reforms that put an emphasis on the economic potential of education by instituting non-academic programs are more likely to fail if they do not recognize that education is about gaining status as well as about getting a job.

When parents do not support education programs that are based on this limited view of how education relates to economic development, educators wrongly assume that parents do not value education. As a result, many programs related to community-school interactions focus on teaching community members the importance of education. Workshops tell parents how important education is for the economic and social wellbeing of their children. Community leaders hear how important education is for the economic and social development of their community. These programs are focussing on an assumed problem of attitude rather than understanding how education is actually perceived by the community.

The theory that education is important for the social development of a community is also fraught with erroneous assumptions about the purposes of education, ignoring the interests of the people to whom education is being provided. Programs that attempt to preserve and strengthen local culture and language fail to recognize the importance in

many communities of the status of learning the English language and western behaviours. In Totoka, the status of speaking English strengthened the relationships that were important for the security of the family.

It is paradoxical that while residents of Totoka want the school system to teach their children the culture and language of a foreign culture they also want the school system to respect and support the traditions of their own culture. This seeming contradiction is explained when the interests of relationships, status, and traditions are taken into consideration. Speaking English increases status, which strengthens relationships. But observing cultural traditions also strengthens relationships. It seems incongruous that the community rejects education in the mother tongue and concomitantly demands that the school incorporate traditional practices; but this makes sense when one considers that the underlying interests are the status and relationships that ensure economic security. Conversely, when the interests of status, relationships and the underlying traditions that support them are ignored, it is impossible to understand and predict how community members will respond to educational programs.

Similarly, educational programs that try to institute social development in the community by changing attitudes and behaviours through the schools are misplaced because they do not recognize the social structure of communities like Totoka. In many cultures, when status is important, children are taught in the village to respect adults and not to question tradition and authority. They are thus unlikely to take what they learn in school, for example in a non-smoking program, into their homes and family and to question the behaviour of their parents and other adults. Social development aimed at changing community behaviours must be instituted through programs which integrate and

support the interests of the community, and work in concert with its established ways of relating.

Influences on Effectiveness and Efficiency

The literature from North America indicates that parent and community member involvement can have a positive impact on the effectiveness of school by improving student achievement (Barman, Hebert, & McCaskill, 1987; Epstein, 1992, Ogbu, 1992). Development literature shows a trend towards community involvement in school management under the theory that this involvement will improve the efficiency of the schools. My study shows that the application of these theories to some communities may be limited because of the influence of relationships, status, and traditions.

Community Involvement and Effectiveness

A major component of many programs aimed at improving the interactions between the school and the community is the promotion of parents' involvement in their children's education. This is based on the theory that parent involvement improves student achievement (Epstein, 1992). North American research supports this theory but this study showed the limited application of this theory to schooling in a traditional, hierarchical society where the school system is based on a culture other than the home culture.

The partnership model advocated in many parent involvement programs (Epstein, 1992; Townsend & Elder, 1998) may be inappropriate in hierarchical societies where high status is accorded to teachers. The roles of teachers and parents in Totoka were highly differentiated; in such situations parents are less involved directly in classroom or

homework activities and more focussed on teaching their children proper values and on paying school fees. Teachers, on the other hand, were expected to have expertise in academics as well as in the Western culture of the school. My study indicates the limited effect of parent involvement and instead supports Saha's research in Guyana (1983) illustrating that teachers may have a greater effect on student achievement than parents.

Likewise, educational theories based on Western models of family decision-making do not apply in developing countries, especially if they focus on parents. I found that parents often do not make the educational decisions for their children. Again, this indicates that parent involvement in education is different in a community such as Totoka than in a North American community where parents are expected to be the family members most involved in a child's education. In Totoka, high-status members of the extended family are likely to make educational decisions for a family. Programs which focus on parent involvement in education, ignoring differences of status within the family and community, miss some of the people most responsible for education.

Teachers may also take on greater significance in educational decision-making for students in hierarchical societies. This may be attributed to their high status as well as to a recognition of their expertise within the school system. In countries where parents may have attended boarding schools, theories of parent and community involvement must consider the increased role taken on by teachers.

Community Involvement and Efficiency

Financing education and the accountability for funds has become a major issue in developing countries. Some agencies are recommending policies based on the theory that

greater involvement by the community in the local school will increase support, both financial and in donations of labour, as well as improve accountability for funds given to the school. This study in Totoka raises questions about how much effect community involvement can have on funding and accountability in a community where involvement is based on relationships, status, and traditions.

My research found that community responsibility for school governance does not by itself ensure participation. Involvement by community members in school fund-raising or by donating their labour is based on a complex interplay of relationships and status. The status of having a school situated in their community can increase the potential for participation. However, the school as an institution does not seem to fit into the hierarchical relationships of a community. Individuals did not have obligations to the school in the same way they are obligated to relatives. Therefore the school depends on the status of the individual who is requesting participation and their personal relationships with people in the community. The status of the head teacher or the school committee chairman can be enough to obligate community members to participate; in the same way, the status of community elders confers the ability to encourage or discourage participation in school activities. The theory that community members will be involved in educational activities simply because they support education ignores the reality of status and relationships in communities. Similarly, fund-raising that assumes participation solely because the community supports education will fail. Examples in this study show that fund-raising events that drew upon the traditions of Fijian culture, traditions which increased status and drew upon existing relationships, were the most successful.

As mentioned previously, theories that are based on Western models do not necessarily transfer to other cultures. Educators who rely on patterns and manners of communication that work in North America may find that they are not effective in other cultures. While modern methods of communication such as newsletters may appear to be effective and efficient, traditions may dictate how these communications are received. When traditional routes of communication through community leaders are not used, community members, especially elders, may not support the event. This in turn may affect community members' willingness to participate in school functions.

Western theories of using community involvement to ensure accountability usually require that revenues and expenses be correctly reported and that the person responsible can be questioned about any discrepancies. The high status held by a head teacher and chairman of the school committee makes it difficult for most community members to question them as their high status is to be respected. Although community members may have questions about how money is spent, they are probably not in a position in the community to raise these questions with the school committee or the head teacher. Even elders in the community may not easily question the decisions or actions of someone else because of the importance of maintaining relationships in the community. This study found that because of the cultural prohibitions of directly challenging one another, Western models of accountability are not effective in communities where status and relationships make it very difficult for a community member to hold other community members accountable for school funds.

In communities in developing countries, the importance of relationships and the strong continuation of traditions may also be in conflict with the Western sense of

2

accountability. Individuals with obligations to other members of the community may be, in effect, accountable to them. These obligations may not be dismissed especially if they are to someone who is related or of high status. The attempt to impose Western models fails to account for the potiential cultural conflict between being accountable for funds and traditional obligations of sharing.

This study has clearly shown that relationships, status, and traditions are important factors influencing the motivation of many communities in their support of education. Theories of economic and social development along with educational theories of effectiveness and efficiency that do not take these factors into consideration are improperly applied to these communities.

Communicating and Negotiating Interests

As my review of the literature has shown, while educators and community developers are beginning to understand the local context and the importance of the community's interests regarding education initiatives (for example, LeBlanc, 1990; Schofield, 2003), there is little written about how interests are communicated and negotiated between the community and educators. All too often, when the interests of educators and the community differ, attempts are made to change the community. Instead of determining what type of education people in the community value, programs are instituted to teach people what kind of education is good for them. In the connection between the school and the community, it is often the community that is expected to accommodate the school.

This study has probed the complex connections between a school and a community to find out how the interests of community members and educators are, or are not, communicated and negotiated. It has shown that the interactions between school and community are negatively affected when local, national, and international educators ignore the community members' interests regarding relationships, status, and traditions. This study also found that when educators operate within the existing community framework the interactions between school and community can be more positive.

There is little in the literature to draw upon to understand how educators may use traditional relationships in their attempts to work with communities. Williams recommends that to improve community-school relations, educators "promote personal contact in the community" (1997, pp. 70-71) because of the importance of personal relationships in many communities. Shaeffer (1994) mentions community relationships, but refers to the negative effect on school governance, due to the power struggles that may happen in communities.

There are certainly examples in this study of the negative consequences to educational interests as a result of the importance of relationships. For example, in Totoka, there was a great deal of money raised for the school that ended up being spent on *kava*, for ceremonies that were important in the recognition and maintenance of relationships. Because of the importance of relationships and the rules governing the obligations of those relationships in Fijian society, some money was also given to community members instead of being deposited in the school bank account.

These are examples of the negative effects of relationships, but this study has also shown how relationships are integral to positive interactions between the school and this

community. Parents use relationships to raise the money to pay tuition and other expenses related to sending their children to school. Often the entire extended family may be involved in funding and encouraging a few members of their family in their educational pursuits. School personnel may draw on those relationships to enlist labour and donations for the school. Local educators are in the best position to know how to negotiate support for the school by drawing on relationships in the community.

Status is often presented in the literature in a negative way, focussing on the differences in power and therefore is perceived as something that educators will have to fight against (Shaeffer, 1994). This study has shown how status is used by educators and community members to negotiate their interests. Teachers can use their status to negotiate study time for students, maintenance of the school buildings, or more funding for the school. Teachers who know their own status in the community and know how to acknowledge high-status individuals in the community can ensure that the interactions between school and community are positive.

Traditions greatly affect the interactions between school and community. This study found that when traditions are woven into the planning and execution of school events, there can be a great deal of community support and involvement. Traditional communication patterns can be used effectively to garner community support for school activities. Local teachers who are acquainted with how formal communication takes place in the village and work within that format may be more likely to secure the community support. Care must be taken to include traditional means of ensuring that someone who understands and uses the traditional forms of communication and negotiation does not effectively promote an idea that is not to the advantage of the school or the community.

Implications and Recommendations

While recognizing the factors which influence the educational decisions made by community members is important, educators at all levels must also find ways to work within this framework, using relationships, status and traditions to communicate and negotiate the various interests of educators and community members. There are also implications for community leaders for how they communicate and negotiate their interests with educators as well as with community members. The use of local factors to advance the interests of educators may be seen as manipulative; however, it must be remembered that this is the framework within which community members are living their lives. Outside educators, especially international specialists, will most likely be the neophytes at working within a framework of relationships, status, and local traditions.

It is imperative that local educators recognize the importance of relationships in their interactions with the community. It is to their advantage to maintain and enhance relationships with the community. This may be a particular challenge to secondary school teachers and boarding school teachers who are geographically separated from the community. Visits to the students' communities, organizing parent trips to the school, and getting to know family members who live closer to the school would all be ways to foster closer relationships.

In this study, the school committee chairmen intuitively used personal relationships to enlist labour and donations for school maintenance and fund-raising activities. However, national and international policies and projects most often reflect the view that community members should be involved in educational activities solely because of the value of education. National and international educators must explicitly recognize the

role of personal relationships at the local level and include the role of personal relationships in the design of projects, for example, in training school committee members. Maintenance of relationships was a source of tension in the community with regards to the accountability of school funds. Educators, national and international funding agencies, as well as community leaders must recognize the pressures put on school committee chairmen by personal relationships in the community. Financial training may help chairmen keep track of the money but may not help them counter these pressures. Community leaders, recognizing how school fund-raising has benefitted the entire community, may be able to suggest ways to negotiate both school and community needs.

Rather than trying to ignore, or change, something as important to a community as status, educators must acknowledge that status influences educational decision-making as well as how educational interests are communicated and negotiated in communities. In many countries, the status that can be gained from education ensures that there is a very positive attitude towards education and that parents will go to great lengths to try to give their children the opportunity to attend school. It is important, however, for educators to realize that status is bestowed on the entire family, and not only on the individual. This results in family support for education because, through resulting employment, their interests of meeting relational obligations are fulfilled (Thaman, 1993). The educational benefits to the individual are subordinate to the benefits to the extended family or community. Educators who fail to see education as a family or a community endeavour rather than as an individual pursuit will fail to understand how educational decisions are made.

The importance of status has serious implications for educational reforms regarding language, agricultural, and vocational curricula. Educators have tried in many countries and through many programs to counteract the second-grade status of vocational programs, with little success. Educational policy makers must be aware that education is supported not necessarily for its intrinsic benefits but because of the status that English and academic education provide. Rather than fighting against the interests of status, national and international educators must recognize how status affects educational decision-making, often to the benefit of education, and how to work within the framework of status when communicating and negotiating educational reforms with communities.

Many local educators already know how to use status when working with parents and community members. The high status of teachers allows them to make decisions on behalf of the family regarding a child's education. Because teachers are often the most knowledgeable persons in the community about the school's overt and hidden curricula, it may be most effective to allow them to take the lead role in a child's education. While parents may acknowledge that they provide important contributions to their children's education, their interactions with teachers are often not in the "partnership" model common in North America. Educators planning parent-teacher workshops and parent activities in the classroom have to find ways to work with the status differences and resulting separate roles of teachers and parents.

Educators also have to recognize that educational decisions are often made by the elder or highest status member of the extended family, not necessarily the parents. This has implications for "parent-teacher" programs mentioned above, as participation must be

expanded to include all relevant decision-makers. Educational programs aimed at explaining educational initiatives or reforms may be best directed to high-status community members rather than solely targetting parents. Appropriately recognizing the status of these individuals would be important when making decisions.

Community leaders and national educators and administrators, responsible for the supervision of teachers, have to recognize that the status of teachers can also make it very difficult for parents and other community members to question teachers' behaviours. School governance structures often provide the framework for local community members to supervise and negotiate with teachers. Depending on the relative status of school committee personnel and teachers, this supervision structure may or may not work. Traditional structures that recognize hierarchical status are probably more effective at the local level for supervision purposes than models that impose a foreign, democratic structure on communities.

International agencies also have to work more directly with the high-status decisionmakers in the community. Environmental, health, and development programs that attempt to initiate changes that are valuable to the country and the community, must be negotiated with community leaders, rather than relying on children's educational programs to change community practice. Again, working with traditional hierarchies and structures, such as chieftaincies, will be more effective.

Besides recognizing traditional leadership structures, educators at the national and local level must also recognize traditions within the community that support the social organization of the community. These are the traditions that show respect to high-status members of the community and solidify the relationship between school and community.

Finding ways to accommodate and incorporate these traditions into educational activities is important for ensuring positive connections between school and community. Community leaders also have to become aware of the concerns, such as the expense, regarding some traditions and be proactive in negotiating ways that preserve traditions while supporting education.

As communities enlarge, community members become more mobile, and advanced technologies are in greater use, traditional structures can become unwieldy and impractical. Community leaders, as well as national ministries (Fijian Affairs in this case) have to find ways to respect traditions while accommodating the realities of cultural and socio-economic changes in the community.

Questions for Further Research

This study provides a greater understanding how the factors of relationship, status, and traditions can be used in a traditional, hierarchical community to better communicate and negotiate various interests. In the previous section, I have discussed the implications for local, national, and international educators as well as community members and offered some recommendations regarding how these factors could be integrated into educational planning and implementation. What has been learned also reveals areas requiring further research.

While individuals such as the teachers and the school committee members have traditional relationships with members of the community, the institution of the school is outside of the social structure of relationships in the community of Totoka. Is it possible

that the school can become more a part of the community structure? Can anything be learned from how other institutions such as the church work with the community?

The school committee concept in Fiji, like the school itself, is based on a foreign model. While it has been adopted by the Fijian government, it appears that the Ministry of Education has made few, if any, adaptations to match the Fijian culture. What does a model of governance that incorporates modern and traditional governance and administrative practices look like? This study looked at only one community's school committee. Have other committees incorporated the Fijian traditions, relationships, and status into their structure? How and with what outcomes?

This study shows why educators must make use of relationships, status, and traditions in order to encourage community members to be involved in the education of their children and in school activities. The lack of involvement of men was of particular concern to teachers and members of the community. How were men's interactions with the school influenced more than women's interactions by relationships, status, and traditions? Because of the gender role differences in Fiji, did the gender of the teachers, particularly the Head Teacher, make a difference? How might a different gender balance on the school committee change what influences are important?

Another area to investigate further would be the theory that when the school represents a culture very different from the community culture, the teacher takes on a greater role in student achievement. Boarding schools are common in many developing countries. To what extent are the teachers at boarding schools responsible for educational decision-making for the students? What then is the role of parents and community members in the education of children who attend boarding schools?

While the effectiveness of the programs aimed at changing attitudes of parents towards education could be further evaluated, I believe it would be more useful to study programs that train teachers in working with the community. This approach would take advantage of the position of status that the teachers already have in the community. More research also needs to be done on the effectiveness of health and environment education delivered to the children compared to programs directed towards the teachers and community members.

Conclusion

The connection between school and community is very complex and must respond to the cultures of both the school and the community. When these two cultures are considerably different, the interactions between school and community can be unpredictable and counter-productive. Educational theories are beginning to include the importance of connections between school and community. Nevertheless, in developing countries, the educational decisions made by parents often appear to educators as being uninformed or illogical, because educators have ignored the factors that influence what motivates and inhibits community members in their support of education. Educators have been unable to communicate and negotiate their interests with local communities because their educational theories do not take these factors into account. This research, by closely studying one traditional, hierarchical community in Fiji and its school, has found that in this context relationships, status, and tradition greatly affect the connections and the interactions between school and community.

Educators and community leaders will have better success at communicating and negotiating the various interests if they recognize these factors and understand how they

influence educational decision-making. Educational reforms aimed at the economic development of communities will more likely meet the needs of national leaders as well as community members if educators take into account the influence of relationships, status, and traditions on education and economic decisions at the local level. Similarly, educators and community leaders will be able to use education to balance the maintenance of culture and language with the social changes that traditional communities are facing if they are able to understand the factors that influence the social development of a community.

National ministries of education and international agencies are requiring education systems to be increasingly more effective and efficient. Local communities can be enlisted to help meet these goals if educators understand how relationships, status, and traditions influence the interactions between school and community. Integrating these factors into new models of how the community and the school work together can lead to enhanced student achievement, increased community involvement, and improved accountability at the local level.

Improving the connections between school and community has great potential for improving education systems and increasing the positive effects of education on community development. Understanding the importance of relationships, status, and traditions is vital in improving relations between school and community.

Appendix I. Questions Presented at Feedback Sessions

Elders

- Some people say that the young people lose their traditions when they go away to school. They say the school should teach Fijian culture. Others say it is the parents who should teach the traditions. What do you say?
- 2. Everyone says they want their children to do well in school and get a paying job. But some children leave school to live in the village, to help their parents. Which is best for the village?
- 3. The church and the school need support from the villagers. How are things different for the school? What can the school learn from the church?
- 4. People say that there was more work done at the school in the past. They gave different reasons: (1) they didn't know it was a work day, (2) it is only for *Koro Makawa*, (3) workers wanted to be paid, (4) some people are lazy. Is it worse now than before? What has caused the change?
- 5. Totoka has changed. These changes are causing problems for the school and the villages. Now that there are three villages there is no communication. There is jealousy and competition. People are going in different directions. I don't see strong leadership pulling everyone together to work on village development. Money is a problem. There is jealousy. People say the money raised is not used correctly. What do you want me to say in the report? What advice do you have for other villages?

Parents

- Parents in Totoka are proud to have a school on their island. They want their children to do well at school. Some children miss school. They don't study. Is it the children or the parents who are responsible?
- 2. Before the exams, the students live with the teachers. There are plans to build a boarding hostel. Then the children go away to the mainland to secondary school. As a parent, are you able to help your children at school?
- 3. If a child decides to leave school is there anything a parent can do?
- 4. Everyone says they want their children to do well in school and get a paying job. But some children leave school to live in the village, to help their parents. Which is best for the village?
- 5. People in the village respect the teachers. I see them listen to the teachers at meetings. Sometimes I hear questions about the teachers. If you had a problem about the school, who would you talk to? Who could help you?
- 6. People say there was more work done at the school in the past. They gave different reasons: (1) they didn't know it was a work day, (2) it is only for *Koro Makawa*, (3) workers wanted to be paid, (4) some people are lazy. Is it worse now than before? What has caused the change?

Youth

- Some people say that the young people lose their traditions when they go away to school. They say the school should teach Fijian culture. Others say it is the parents who should teach the traditions. What do you say?
- Before the exams, the students live with the teachers. There are plans to build a boarding hostel. They the children go away to the mainland to secondary school. Do parents have any influence over how children do at school?
- Parents tell me that if their child decides to leave school, there is nothing they can do.
 Is this true? What can parents do?
- 4. People tell me that the young men don't do enough work in the village or at the school. Do you agree? What do you think is the problem?
- 5. Everyone says they want their children to do well in school and get a paying job. But some children leave school to live in the village, to help their parents. Which is best for the village?
- 6. If you are going to live in the village, how much school do you need?
- 7. Totoka is changing. These changes are causing problems for the school and the villages. One of the problems people talk about is money. They say that money causes jealousy and competition. Is there a problem with money? What advice do you have for other villages?

References

- Anani, Kofi (1999). Sustainable Governance of Livelihoods in Rural Africa: A placebased response to globalism in Africa. *Development 42*(2): 57-63.
- Anderson, M.B. (1992). *Education for all: What are we waiting for?* New York: UNICEF.
- Arnstein, S. (1969). A ladder of citizen participation. *Journal of the American Institute of Planners*. 35:216-224.
- Assembly of First Nations (1988). Tradition and education: Towards a vision of our future. v. 1 A declaration of First Nations jurisdiction over education. Ottawa: Assembly of First Nations.
- Baba, T.L. (1986). Education in small island states of the Pacific: The search for alternatives. In Edwards, W.L. (ed), *Equity and diversity: Challenges for educational administrations, record of proceedings of the sixth international intervisitation programme in educational administration.* Palmerston North, N.Z.: Massey University.
- Bacchus, K. (2000a). The administration and management of education in Fiji. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands*. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- ----- (2000b). Challenges facing Fiji in its efforts to improve its educational services. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands*. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- ----- (2000c). The financing of education in Fiji. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands.* Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- Barman, J., Hebert, Y., & McCaskill D. eds. (1987). *Indian education in Canada, Volume* 2: *The challenge*. Vancouver: UBC Press.
- Battiste, M. (1998). Decolonizing the university: Ethical guidelines for research involving indigenous populations. Unpublished address to CSSE, Ottawa.
- Beykont, Z. (1997). School-language policy decisions for nondominant language groups. In H.D. Nielsen & W.K. Cummings (eds.) *Quality education for all: Community-oriented approaches*. New York: Garland Publishing, Inc.
- Boutilier, J. (1992). Hard choices: Educational dilemmas in the Pacific Islands. Anthropology and education quarterly, 23(1):79-82.

Bowman, G. (1997). Identifying versus identifying with 'the Other': reflections on the siting of the subject in anthropological discourse. In James, A., Hockey, J. & Dawson, A. (eds.). After writing culture: Epistemology and praxis in contemporary anthropology. New York: Routledge.

- Brown, M. (2000, June 10). Relatively speaking, blood ties can confuse a coup. [Electronic version]. *Sydney Morning Herald*.
- Capell, A. (1991). A new Fijian dictionary. Suva: Government Printer.
- Carnoy, M. & Samoff, J. (1990). *Education and social transition in the Third World*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Charters-Voght, O. (1991). Indian control of Indian education: The path of the upper Nicola Band. Unpublished Masters paper. The University of British Columbia, British Columbia.
- Colletta, N.J. & Perkins, G. (1995). *World Bank participation sourcebook*. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- Colorado Department of Education. Retrieved February 27, 2004 from www.cde.state.co.us/cdeprevention/download/pdf/pi epstein.pdf
- Colclough, C. (1993). *Educating all the children: Strategies for primary schooling in the South.* Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Collins, P.H. (1991). Learning from the outsider within: The sociological significance of Black Feminist thought. In Fonow, M & Cook, J. (eds.) *Beyond methodology: Feminist scholarship as lived research*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Condy, A. (1998). Improving the quality of teaching and learning through community participation: Achievements, limitations and risks. [Social Development Working Paper #2] London: Department for International Development.
- Coxon, E. (2000a). The preparation and development of quality teachers. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands*. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- ----- (2000b). Primary education. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning* together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- Cummings, W.K. (1997). Management initiatives for reaching the periphery. In H.D. Nielsen & W.K. Cummings (eds.) *Quality education for all: Community-oriented approaches*. New York: Garland Publishing, Inc.
- Cummins, J. (1989). *Empowering Minority Students*. California Association for Bilingual Education.

- De Becker, G. (2000, July 18). Inside Fiji's peculiar political coup: Less violence than many American sports events. www.apbonline.com/cjprofessionals/behindthebadge/debecker/
- Demerath, P. (1999). The cultural production of educational utility in Pere village, Papua New Guinea. *Comparative Education Review*, (43)2: 162-192.
- Devereux, S. & Hoddinott, J. (eds.) (1992). *Fieldwork in Developing Countries*. Toronto: Harvester Wheatsheaf.
- DeYoung, A. (1989). Economics and American education: A historical and critical overview of the impact of economic theories on schooling in the United States. New York: Longman Inc.
- Epstein, J.L. (1992). School and family partnerships. In Alkin, M. (Ed.) *Encyclopedia of* educational research: Vol. 4 (6th ed.). New York: MacMillan.
- Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel (2000). Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- Fine, M. & Weis, L. (1996). Writing the "wrongs" of fieldwork: Confronting our own research/writing dilemmas in urban ethnographies. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 2(3):251-273.
- Firth, S. and Tarte, D (eds.) (2001). Twentieth century Fiji: People who shaped this nation. Suva: USP.
- Gannicott, K.G. (1990). *Education for economic development in the South Pacific*. Public policy paper No. 6. Canberra, Australia: National Centre for Development Studies.
- Geraghty, P.A. (1984). Language reform: History and future of Fijian. In Fodor, I. and C. Hagege (eds.), *Language reform: History and future. Volume 4.* Hamburg: Helmut Buske.
- Gould, W.T.S (1993). *People and education in the Third World*. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Grenier, L. (1998). Working with indigenous knowledge: A guide for researchers. Ottawa: International Development Research Centre.
- Haddad, W. & Demsky, T. (1994). The dynamics of education policymaking : case studies of Burkina Faso, Jordan, Peru, and Thailand. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- Haig-Brown, C. & Archibald, J. (1996). Transforming First Nations research with respect and power. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*. 9:245-267.

Hallak, J. (1990). *Investing in the future : setting educational priorities in the Developing World*. Paris: UNESCO, International Institute for Educational Planning.

1.111.4

Hau'ofa, E. (1985). The future of our past. In Kiste, R.C. and Herr, R.A. (eds.) *The Pacific Islands in the year 2000.* Honolulu: Centre for Asian and Pacific Studies, University of Hawaii.

 $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{O}}$

- Havelock, R.G. & Huberman, A.M. (1977). Solving educational problems: The theory and reality of innovation in developing countries. Paris: UNESCO, IIEP.
- Hawes, H. & Stephens, D. (1990). Questions of quality: Primary education and development. Essex: Longman.
- Hidalgo, N., Siu, S.F., Bright, J. A., Swap, S. M., & Epstein, J. L. (1995). Research on families, schools, and communities: A multicultural perspective. In J.A. Banks, and C.A.M. Banks (Eds.). *Handbook of research on multicultural education*. New York: Macmillan.
- Hindson, C. (1985). Post-primary school non-academic alternatives: A South Pacific study. *Comparative Education 21*(2):135-156.
- Hoar, M (2002). Keeping traditions and embracing change: The community-school relationship in Fiji. In H. Lansdowne, P. Dearden, and W. Neilson (eds.) Communities in Southeast Asia: Challenges and responses. Victoria, BC: University of Victoria.
- Jackson, B. & Cooper, B. (1992). Involving parents in improving urban schools. *NASSP* Bulletin, 76(543), 30-38.
- Kedrayate, A. (Ed.) (1997). Community education: Project reports. Suva: USP. Kirkness,
 V.J. & Bowman, S.S. (1992) First nations and schools: Triumphs and struggles.
 Toronto: Canadian Education Association.
- Kochhar, C.A. & Gopal, M. (1997). The concept of full participation in promoting sustainable educational development. In J. Lynch, C. Modgil, & S. Modgil (Eds.) *Equity and excellence in education for development*. London: Cassell.
- Lal, B. (1983). Girmitiyas: The origins of the Fijian Indians. Canberra: ANU.
- LeBlanc, G. (1990). Lessons learned: Guidelines for the implementation of "relevance education" in developing countries. *Community Development Journal, 25(2)*:139-146.
- Little, A., Hoppers, W. & Gardner, R. (1994). Beyond Jomtien : implementing primary education for all. London : Macmillan.
- Long, N. (2001). Development sociology: Actor perspectives. New York: Routledge.

Lopez, L.M. (1998, March). *Improving rural primary education - the Mexican Experience*. Retrieved December 5, 2003 from web.idrc.ca/en/ ev-26924-201-1-DO-TOPIC.html

1.14

- Los Angeles Annenberg Metropolitan Project. Retrieved February 27, 2004 from www.laamp.org/parent/epstein_main.htm.
- Lynch, J. (1997). Education and Development: A human rights analysis. London: Cassell.
- Maheshwari, A.N. (1997). Primary education in rural Haryana A glimpse. *Journal of Indian Education, 23(*2): 1-8.
- Mamak, A. & McCall, G. (eds.) (1978). Paradise postponed: Essays on research and development in the South Pacific. Toronto: Pergamon Press.
- Mara, D., Foliaki, L. & Coxon, E. (1994). Pacific Islands education. In E. Coxon et al., (eds.), *The politics of learning and teaching in Aotearoa-New Zealand*. Palmerson North, N.Z.: Dunmore Press Ltd.
- Marshall, C. & Rossman, G. (1995). Designing qualitative research. London: SAGE.
- Martin, J. R. (1996). Aerial distance, esotericism, and other closely related traps. *Signs:* Journal of women in culture and society, 21(3):584-614.
- McGinn, N.F & Borden, A.M. (1995). Framing questions, constructing answers: Linking research with educational policy for developing countries. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- McKay, A. & McKay, B. (1987). Education as a total way of life: The Nisga'a experience. In J. Barman, Y. Hebert, & D. McCaskill (eds.), *Indian education in Canada, Volume 2: The challenge.* Vancouver: UBC Press.
- Ministry of Education. (2000). *Blueprint for affirmative action on Fijian education*. Suva: Fiji Government Printing Department.
- Montero-Sieburth, M. (1992). Models and practice of curriculum change in developing countries. *Comparative Education Review*, *36*(2): 175-193.
- Mugler, F. (1996). 'Vernacular' language teaching in Fiji. In F. Mugler, & J. Lynch, (eds.) *Pacific languages in education*. Suva: University of the South Pacific.
- Mwiria, K. (1991). Education for subordination: African education in colonial Kenya. *History of Education. 20*(3):261-273.
- Native Indian Brotherhood. (1972). *Indian control of Indian education*. Ottawa: National Indian Brotherhood.

Nayacakalou, R.R. (1978). Tradition and change in the Fijian village. Suva: USP.

- Nielsen, H.D. & Cummings, W.K. (1997) *Quality education for all: Community-oriented approaches*. New York: Garland Publishing, Inc.
- Ogbu, J.U. (1992). Understanding cultural diversity and learning. *Educational Researcher*, 21(8), 5-14.
- Only in Fiji. (2000, July 14). The Daily Post.
- Osman, W.M. (1998). *Fiji: Economic report, September 1998.* Honolulu: Bank of Hawaii.
- Oxfam education report: avoiding another decade of failure? Retrieved 2002/02/17 from http://www.id21.org/education/E1kw1g1.html
- Patai, D. (1991). U.S. academics and Third World women: Is ethical research possible?
 In S.B. Gluck & D. Patai, (eds.) In Women's words: The feminist practice of oral history. New York: Routledge.
- Ram, H. (1975). Looking Ahead in Education. In Looking Ahead in Education: Report of the 45th Annual Conference of the Fiji Teachers' Union. Sambula, Fiji: Fiji Teachers' Union.
- Ravuvu, A. (1988). Development or dependence: The pattern of change in a Fijian village. Suva: USP.
- Reimers, F. (1997). The role of the community in expanding educational opportunities: The EDUCO schools in El Salvador. In J. Lynch, C. Modgil, & S. Modgil (Eds.) Equity and excellence in education for development. London: Cassell.
- Robie, D. (2000, July 24). Fiji's ironies and muddled myths. Pasifik Nius.
- Routledge, D (1985). Matinitu: The struggle for power in early Fiji. Suva: USP.
- Rowley, S.D. & Nielsen, H.D. (1997) School and classroom organization in the periphery: The assets of multigrade teaching. In H.D. Nielsen & W.K. Cummings (eds.) *Quality education for all: Community-oriented approaches*. New York: Garland Publishing, Inc.
- Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples (1996). *Report of the royal commission on aboriginal peoples: v.3 Gathering Strength.* Ottawa: Canada Communication Group.
- Sadler, R. (2000). Assessment and examinations. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands.* Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).

Saha, L.J. (1983). Social structure and teacher effects on academic achievement: A comparative analysis. *Comparative Education Review*, 27(1): 69-88.

..

- Said, E. (1989, Winter). Representing the colonized: Anthropology's interlocutors. *Critical Inquiry*, 15, 205-225.
- Save the Children Fund (1998). Keeping children in school: Fiji school enrolments and Save the Children Fund's child sponsorship scheme. Suva: Save the Children Fund Fiji.
- Saskatchewan School Trustees Association. Retrieved February 27, 2004 from www.ssta.sk.ca/partnership/types/types.htm
- Schofield, A. (2003). Integrating School Reform and School-Community Development. Four case studies from South African schools. April 1994-June 2000. Unpublished dissertation. University of British Columbia.
- Schultz, T.W. (1971) *Investment in human capital: The role of education and research*. New York: The Free Press.
- Shaeffer, S. (1994). *Participation for educational change: A synthesis of experience*. Paris: UNESCO: International Institute for Educational Planning.
- Smith, W.J., Thurlow, M. & Foster, W.F. (Eds.). (1997). Supporting educational management in South Africa: International perspectives. Volume 1. Montreal: Canada-South Africa Education Management Program.
- Sharma, A.N. (2000). Technical and vocational education and training. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands.* Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- Smith, L.T. (1999). *Decolonizing methodologies: Research and indigenous peoples*. New York: Zed Books.

Subrahmanian, R (1997). If you build it, will they come? IDS Bulletin, 28(3): 101-111

- Subramani (2000a). Learning languages together. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands*. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- ----- (2000b). Re-inscribing vision. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- Suzuki, I. (2000, September). Parental Participation and Accountability in Primary Schools in Uganda. Paper presented at Annual Conference of the British Association of International and Comparative Education

Tavola, H. (1991). Secondary education in Fiji: A key to the future. Suva: USP.

and the second second

- ----- (1999). Partners in education: Community-state co-operation in education in Fiji. Suva: UNESCO.
- ----- (2000a). Education in rural Fiji. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- ----- (2000b). The education of women and girls. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands*. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- ----- (2000c). Secondary education. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands*. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- ----- (2000d). Status report. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning* together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- Thaman, K.H. (1991). Towards a culture sensitive model of curriculum development for Pacific Island Countries. *Directions 13*(1): 1-12.
- ----- (1993). Culture and curriculum in the South Pacific. *Comparative Education*, 29(3): 249-261.
- ----- (1997). Of daffodils and Heilala: Understanding (cultural) contexts in Pacific literature. Invited address, MELUS conference, Honolulu.
- Tilak, J.B.G. (1994). *Education for development in Asia*. New Delhi: Sage Publications India Pvt. Ltd.
- Townsend, T. & Elder, H. (1998). *Community and parent support for schools*. Suva: University of the South Pacific.
- Tukai, M. (1988). Modernisation theory and a Fijian village. In J. Overton (ed.) *Rural Fiji*. Suva: University of the South Pacific.
- Uemura, M. (1999). Community participation in education: What do we know? [Electronic version] Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- UNDP (1999). Pacific human development report: Creating opportunities. Suva: UNDP.
- UNESCO (1997). Analyses, agendas and priorities for education in Africa. http://unesco.uneb.edu/97_02_18/wgesa_eng.htm.
- UNICEF (1999). The state of the world's children 1999. New York: UNICEF.

- Valdes, G. (1996). Con respeto: Bridging the distances between culturally diverse families and schools. New York: Columbia University.
- Westwood Elementary School, Minnesota. Retrieved February 27, 2004 from www.bloomington.k12.mn.us/indschool/WW/WWParentConnection.html
- White, C. (2001). Between academic theory and folk wisdom: Local discousrse on differential educational attainment in Fiji. *Comparative Education Review*, 45(3), 303-333.
- Whitehead, C. (1987). The colonial legacy lives on: Reflections on government education policy in Fiji since independence. *Pacific Education*, (1)1:83-94.
- Williams, E.B. (2000). Facing the challenges of Fijian education: Planning for the future. In Fiji Islands Education Commission/Panel, *Learning together: Directions for education in the Fiji Islands*. Suva: Government of Fiji (Ministry of Education).
- Williams, J.H. (1997). Improving school-community relations in the periphery. In H.D. Nielsen & W.K. Cummings (eds.) *Quality education for all: Community-oriented approaches*. New York: Garland Publishing, Inc.
- Wilson, K. (1992). Thinking about the ethics of fieldwork. In Devereux, S. & Hoddinott, J. (eds.), *Fieldwork in Developing Countries*. Toronto: Harvester Wheatsheaf.
- Wolf, D. (1996). Situating feminist dilemmas in fieldwork. In Wolf, D. (ed.). Feminist dilemmas in fieldwork. Boulder: Westview Press.
- World Bank (1995). *Priorities and strategies for education: a World Bank review*. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- World Health Organization (June 1998). *Helping schools to become health promoting schools*. [Fact Sheet #92] Geneva: WHO.
- World Wildlife Fund. Retrieved January 24, 2004 from www.wwflearning.co.uk
- Zoller Booth, M. (1996). Parental availability and academic achievement among Swazi rural primary school children. *Comparative Education Review*, 40(3): 250-263.